SOIL BIOGEOCHEMICAL PROCESSES AND FINE ROOT DYNAMICS OF VEGETATION IN LFH MINERAL SOIL MIX AND PEAT MINERAL SOIL MIX ORGANIC CAPPING MATERIALS USED FOR OIL SANDS RECLAMATION

by

Ghulam Murtaza Jamro

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Soil Science

Department of Renewable Resources University of Alberta

© Ghulam Murtaza Jamro, 2016

ABSTRACT

Peat mineral soil mix (PMM) and LFH, identifiable litter (L), fragmented litter (F) and humus (H), mineral soil (MS) mix are organic capping materials commonly used over overburden (OB) and tailings sand (TS) substrate materials in oil sands reclamation. These organic capping materials have different biological properties and nutrient availabilities due to differences in the carbon to nitrogen (C to N) ratio, exogenous organic input and organic to MS ratio. Substrate materials inherently possess high pH, electrical conductivity (EC) and soil compaction. The main goal of this research was to evaluate biogeochemical and fine root processes affected by required reclamation practices for oil sands reclamation.

Soil sampling was conducted from 0 to 10 and 10 to 20 cm soil depth from June to October in 2011 and 2012 and N availability and enzyme activities were analyzed. Organic substrate type and diversity effects on microbial processes including carbon dioxide (CO₂) emission, enzyme activities, available N and community level physiological profiles (CLPPs) were evaluated in a laboratory experiment using three organic substrates (glucose, acetic acid, alanine). The organic substrates were applied singly and in a mixture of two or three in an LFH-MS and a PMM. Effects of organic to MS ratio on biogeochemical processes were evaluated in a laboratory experiment using five ratios of LFH or peat to MS at 0:100, 30:70, 50:50, 70:30 and 100:0. Fine root properties such as root length density, surface area, total root biomass and rates of root production, turnover and decomposition of lodgepole pine and white spruce planted on the PMM placed over TS and OB substrates, respectively and were assessed from May to October in 2011 and 2012.

The N availability and N-acetyl glucosaminidase, arylamidase and protease activities were greater in LFH-MS than in PMM, decreased along the soil depth and were influenced by the time of sampling. These differences were attributed to the lower C to N ratio in LFH-MS than in PMM. The addition of fresh labile C through root exudates and litter fall likely induced the N availability and enzyme activities in fall rather than in summer.

ii

The addition of organic substrates (laboratory study) significantly segregated CLPPs from the control (no substrate) in LFH-MS and PMM. The significant increase in enzyme activities, available N through increasing the organic substrate diversity, was likely associated with changes in CLPPs and a reduction in C to N ratio with a substrate addition in LFH-MS and PMM. The mixing of organic single substrates enhanced the CO₂ emission rate and NO₃⁻-N concentration only in LFH-MS and PMM. The laboratory study results revealed that the β -glucosidase, cellobiohydrolase, phenol oxidase and leucine aminopeptidase activities, CO₂ emission rates and available N were increased along the increasing organic to MS ratio regardless of LFH and peat. The increase in soil processes was due to changes in C to N ratios and pH along with increase in organic to MS ratios.

Fine root length density, fine root production and turnover rates were increased along the low < medium < high productivity level in pine stands, and were positively correlated with tree height and diameter at the breast height. Fine root surface area was the only parameter that was increased along the productivity gradient in spruce. These differences were attributed to negative relationships of EC and soil compaction with root properties in pine and spruce, respectively. The root decomposition did not change along the productivity level of both pine and spruce species but was affected by the time of incubation, due to differences in species and OB and TS properties.

The LFH-MS is a better soil quality organic capping material than PMM due to N availability and enzyme activities; however, the availability of LFH-MS is limited for reclamation. Hence, the ratios of organic to MS for optimization, particularly LFH, help to take advantage of available LFH material. Alternatively, augmenting LFH-MS with PMM can overcome the limitations of both materials, as indicated from organic substrate diversity and organic to MS ratios in this research. An evaluation of the effects of substrate properties on fine root properties can help improve current reclamation practices.

iii

PREFACE

This dissertation is an original work conducted by Ghulam Murtaza Jamro. Versions of Chapter 1 and 4 of this thesis have been published as Jamro, G.M., Chang, S.X., Naeth, M.A. "Organic capping type affected nitrogen availability and associated enzyme activities in reconstructed oil sands soils in Alberta, Canada," Ecological Engineering, 73, 92-101 (2014); and Jamro, G.M., Chang, S.X., Naeth, M.A., Duan, M., House, J. "Fine root dynamics in lodgepole pine and white spruce stands along productivity gradients in reclaimed oil sands sites," Ecology & Evolution, 5, 4655-4670 (2015). Versions of chapters 2 and 3 are being prepared for submission to peer reviewed journals. I was responsible for data collection, data analysis and manuscript writing. Kwak, J.H., Duan, M., House, J. and Pokharel, P. assisted with data collection from the field and laboratory. Chang, S.X. and Naeth, M.A. were the supervisory authors and involved in research concept formation and edited manuscripts.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I express my deepest and sincere gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Scott X. Chang. This research work and dissertation would not have been completed without your scientific guidance, suggestions, comments and constant push. Today, if I recall the time spent under association with you, either back home in Pakistan or here in Canada, it is incredible to mention the time you have allocated me to enlighten my career. Your true support cannot be expressed entirely in words but it was substantial to me. Thank you Dr. M. Anne Naeth for being a co-supervisor; your support, encouragement and guidance during the whole period of my study never allowed me to give up, but motivated me to complete my graduate degree. The working experience with both of you has been the most creative of my professional career, trainings and skills that I have acquired during the past six years under your esteemed supervision and will benefit me for my remaining professional career. I believe you are my true mentors and inspiration for all the time of my professional career and life in general.

I thank my supervisory and candidacy committee members: Drs. Tariq Siddique, Julia Foght, Phil Comeau and Guillermo Hernandez Ramirez for your valuable feedback and advice during committee meetings and the candidacy examination on my research that enabled me to complete my dissertation project. The comments from the examinars Drs. Maja Krzic and Miles Dyck are highly appreciated. I am highly grateful for the PhD scholarship from Sindh Agriculture University (SAU), Tandojam, Pakistan under the project "Strengthening and Development of SAU, Tandojam", bridge finance from the Department of Renewable Resources, and research support from Scott X. Chang under the Helmholtz-Alberta Initiative (HAI) Land Reclamation project. Special thanks are due to HAI, Graduate Students' Association, Shell Enhanced Learning Fund of the University of Alberta, Canadian Society of Soil Science and Alberta Soil Science Workshop for providing travel funding for participation in conferences, seminars, workshops and field tours.

During field and laboratory work, I received extraordinary support and cooperation from the Forest Soils Research Laboratory and met many people over the last six years and it would be difficult to mention all the names but a few of them necessary to mention. Thank you Dr. Jinhyeob Kwak, Dr. Min Duan, Jason House, Dr. Mark Baah- Acheamfour, Dr. Kangho Jung, Prem Pokharel, Shujie Ren, Yingxiu Chen, Dr. Fengping Wu, Dr. Lei Sun, Abdelhafid, Dr. Bin Ma, Dr. Yong Sik OK, Dr. Samiran Banerjee, Dr. XiaoPeng Li, Dr. Mihiri Manimel Wadu, Yalin

v

Hu, Bobby Hu and Stephanie Ibsen. The technical training provided by Pak Chow and help extended by the summer research assistants from Forest Soils Research Laboratory are highly appreciated.

Thank you to Suncor Energy Inc. for research site access and its Suncor Closure Planning and Reclamation office, particularly Dr. Carmela Arevalo, Dr. Francis Salifu, Josh Martin, Kristine Dahl, Christine Daly and Heather Archibald for field training and scrutiny of manuscripts and presentations. Thank you to Western Ag Innovation, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, Canada, for PRSTM probe analysis under a collaborative research agreement. Special thank you to Dr. Phil Comeau for providing access to the Winrhizo software in his siliviculture laboratory.

Thank you SAU administration, particularly the office of Vice Chancellor, Registrar, Directorate of Planning and Development, Finance Division, Dean Faculty of Crop Production and Chairman Department of Soil Science for timely resolving matters of my study leave, scholarship and promotions. During the past six years, I have made many friends here in Canada and back home, not mentioning their names would be injustice to them. Thank you Dr. Zia-ul-Hassan Shah, Pir Ahmed Naqi Shah, Habib Memon, Dr. Niaz Wahoocho, Dr. Saleem Maseeh Bhatti and Imran Memon (Pakistan), Zahid Memon, Dr. Khalil Ahmed, Muhammad Safdar, Muhamad Arshad, Muhammad Zubair, Sharyar Memon, Ahsan Rajper, Babar Javed, Mekonen, Sanatan Das Gupta, Ana Maria and Shirin Zaharae (Canada).

The biggest thanks go to my family members who are waiting for me for the past six years. I believe you are even more glad for the big achievement of my professional career than I am. Thank you my father Dr. Ghulam Hyder Jamro, my mom Jadul Khatoon, my wife Rozina, my daughter Anum, elder brother Ghulam Mustafa and younger brothers, my sisters and my uncle M. Yousuf for your patience, regular phone and skype calls that provided me real strength and support to achieve this milestone in my academic and professional life.

Thank you

vi

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Cl	hapter	1 General introduction	.1		
1. Research background 1					
1.1 Oil sands development and mining					
	1.2 Oil s	sands reclamation process and practices	1		
	1.2.1	Soil biogeochemical processes	. 3		
	1.2.2	Fine root dynamics	4		
	1.3 Lite	rature review	5		
	1.3.1	Effects of capping materials on enzyme activity and N availability	. 5		
	1.3.2	Organic substrate type and diversity effects on microbial processes	7		
	1.3.3	Effect of organic to mineral soil ratio on soil biogeochemical processes	7		
	1.3.4	Reclamation practice effects on fine root dynamics	.9		
2.	Thesis	s structure	9		
Cl	hapter	2 Organic capping type affected nitrogen availability and associated enzyme			
ac	tivities	in reconstructed oil sands soils in Alberta, Canada	, 17		
1.	Introd	uction	17		
2.	Mater	ials and methods	18		
2	.1 Rese	arch site	. 18		
2	.2 Expe	rimental design and plot establishment	. 19		
2	.3 Soil	sample collection and analyses	20		
2	.4 Anal	yses of soil physical and chemical properties	20		
2	.5 Soil	microbial biomass measurement	. 21		
2	.6 Soil	enzyme assays	. 21		
2	.7 In-si	tu N availability measurement using plant root simulator probes	. 22		
2	.8 Soil	temperature and soil water content measurement	22		
2	.9 Stati	stical analyses	23		
3.	Result	ts	23		
3	.1 Basi	c characteristics of capping materials	.23		
3	.2 Micr	obial biomass C and N	. 24		
3	3.3 Available N				

3.4 Soil enzyme activities	25	
3.5 Linkages among soil properties	25	
4. Discussion	25	
5 Conclusions		
Chapter 3 Organic substrate type and diversity altered microbial processes in organic		
capping materials used in oil sands reclamation	38	
1. Introduction.	38	
2. Materials and methods	40	
2.1 Site description.	. 40	
2.2 Experimental design, sampling and processing of soil	40	
2.3 Incubation experiment procedures	41	
2.4 Laboratory measurement	42	
2.4.1 Soil properties	42	
2.4.2 CO ₂ emission rate	42	
2.4.3 Soil enzyme activities	43	
2.4.4 Soil microbial community level physiological profile	. 43	
2.5 Statistical analyses	44	
3. Results	45	
3.1 Characteristics of the organic capping materials	. 45	
3.2 Community-level physiological profiles	46	
3.3 Effects of organic substrate diversity on microbial processes	. 46	
3.4 Linkages among soil properties	48	
4. Discussion	48	
5. Conclusions	53	
Chapter 4 Organic to mineral soil ratio altered the biogeochemical processes of organi	c	
capping materials used for oil sands reclamation	63	
1. Introduction	63	
2. Materials and methods	65	
2.1 Collection and processing of materials		
2.2 Experimental design and incubation experiment set up	66	
2.3 Organic substrate preparation and application	66	

2.4 Soil properties measurement	67		
2.5 Identification of minerals			
2.6 CO ₂ measurement			
2.7 Soil enzymes assay			
2.8 Statistical analyses	69		
3. Results			
3.1 Basic properties of soil materials	70		
3.2 Dissolved organic carbon and nitrogen			
3.3 CO ₂ emission rate	71		
3.4 Soil enzyme activities	71		
3.5 Available N	72		
3.6 Relationships between soil properties and biogeochemical processes			
4. Discussion			
5. Conclusions			
Chapter 5 Fine root dynamics in lodgepole pine and white spruce stands alon	ıg		
productivity gradients in reclaimed oil sands sites			
1. Introduction			
2. Materials and methods	89		
2.1 Site description and research plots	89		
2.2 Field and laboratory methods			
2.3 Fine root sampling and measurements			
2.3.1 Fine root sampling	91		
2.3.2 Washing, sorting, and characterization of fine roots	91		
2.3.3 Fine root production			
2.3.4 Fine root decomposition and turnover rates			
2.4 Statistical analyses			
3. Results			
3.1 Mean root surface area, total fine root length density, and total fine root bion	nass 93		
3.2 Fine root decomposition			
3.3 Total fine root production and turnover rates			
3.4 Soil, fine root, and tree performance parameters			

3.5 Fine root dynamics and their relationship with tree performance	96			
4. Discussion	96			
4.1 Fine root production and turnover rates	96			
4.2 Fine root decomposition				
4.3 Total fine root length density and mean root surface area	99			
4.4 Total fine root biomass				
4.5 Contrasting relationships between lodgepole pine and white spruce	101			
5. Conclusions	102			
Chapter 6 Synthesis, conclusions and future research	110			
1. Research overview	110			
2. Summary	110			
2.1 Organic capping type affected nitrogen availability and associated enzyme activities in	110			
reconstructed oil sands soils				
2.2 Organic substrate type and diversity altered microbial processes in organic capping				
materials used in oil sands reclamation	111			
2.3 Organic to mineral soil ratio altered the biogeochemical processes of organic capping				
materials	111			
2.4 Fine root dynamics in lodgepole pine and white spruce stands along productivity				
gradients in reclaimed oil sands sites	112			
3. Synthesis	112			
4. Conclusions	114			
5. Future Research	115			
5.1 Effects of C to N ratio on soil biogeochemistry	115			
5.2 Role of mycorrhizae in changes in biogeochemistry	116			
5.3 The N fertilizer management in LFH organic capping material	116			
5.4 Effects of LFH and PMM mixture on biogeochemistry	116			
5.5 Measurement of in-situ priming effects	117			
5.6 Establishment of the biogeochemical interface	117			
5.7 Role of C to N ratio and pH regulation in biogeochemical interactions	117			
5.8 Inherent substrate properties and fine root dynamics	117			
Bibliography	119			

Appendix A Repeated measures ANOVA of fine root paramters of lodgepole pine and	
white spruce stands along stand productivity gradients in oil sands reclamation	141

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1-1 Soil amendments and their properties used in oil sands reclamation	14
Table 1-2 Chemical properties of peat mineral soil mix (PMM) and LFH mineral soil mix	
(LFH-MS) in oil sands reclamation	15
Table 1-3 Biogeochemical differences in peat mineral soil mix (PMM) and LFH mineral	
soil mix (LFH-MS) in oil sands reclamation	16
Table 2-1 Selected properties of LFH mineral soil mix and peat mineral soil mix (PMM)	
organic capping materials used for oil sands reclamation	30
Table 2-2 Effects of organic capping types on selected soil properties in organic caps	
used for oil sands reclamation	31
Table 2-3 Effects of organic capping materials, depth, time and their interactions on soil	
properties in oil sands reclamation	32
Table 2-4 Soil N supply rate (µg N per 10 cm ²), evaluated using Plant Root Simulator	
(PRS TM) probes, in LFH-MS and PMM organic capping materials used for oil sands	
reclamation	33
Table 2-5 Pearson correlation coefficient (r -value) and significance+ among soil	
variables in LFH-MS and PMM organic caps used for oil sands reclamation	
(n=120)	34
Table 3-1 Organic matter quality of capping materials used in oil sands reclamation at	
initiation (0 day of incubation) and termination (60 days after incubation) of the	
experiment	54
Table 3-2 Effects of organic substrate type and diversity and their interaction with	
sampling time on soil processes used for oil sands reclamation	55
Table 3-3 Effects of mixture of organic substrates on microbial processes as calculated by	
subtracting expected value from the observed value followed by conducting a paired <i>t</i> test	
in materials used in oil sands reclamation at termination of experiment (60 after	
incubation)	56
Table 3-4 Pearson correlation coefficient (r -value) and significance among soil variables	
in LFH-MS and PMM capping materials used for oil sands reclamation	57
Table 4-1 Description of treatments used in this experiment	78

Table 4-2 Basic properties of materials used in this experiment.	79
Table 4-3 Effects of organic to mineral soils ratio on selected soil properties for oil sands	
reclamation and their interaction with sampling time	80
Table 4-4 Pearson correlation coefficient (r -value) and significance+ among soil	
variables in LFH and peat materials used for oil sands reclamation (n=30)	81
Table 5-1 Characteristics of studied reclaimed oil sands sites in the Athabasca oil sands	
region, Alberta, Canada	103
Table 5-2 Fine root paramters of lodgepole pine and white spruce stands along stand	
productivity gradients in oil sands reclamation at different time of samplings	104
Table 5-3 Percent mass of fine roots of lodgepole pine and white spruce remaining after	
each incubation period along stand productivity gradients in oil sands reclamation	105
Table 5-4 Percent total fine root mass loss, decomposition rate (k-value in years) and	
mean residence time in years in of lodgepole pine and white spruce stands along a stand	
productivity gradient in oil sands reclamation	106
Table 5-5 Pearson correlation coefficient (r -value) and significance+ among soil	
variables in lodgepole pine and white spruce stands in oil sands reclamation (n=24)	107
Table 5-6 Regression equations for the relationships between fine root dynamics (y) and	
tree performance (x) in oil sands reclamation	108

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1 Important processes for oil sands reclamation adopted from Macdonald et al.,	
2012	12
Figure 1-2 Flow chart showing synthesis of research studies	13
Figure 2-1 Monthly precipitation (bars) and mean monthly air temperature (line) during	
sampling periods	35
Figure 2-2 Changes in (a) β -1, 4-N-acetylglucosaminidase, (b) arylamidase, (c) protease and	d
(d) urease activities in LFH-MS and PMM from June to September in both 2011 and 2012 i	n
oil sands reclamation. Error bars indicate standard errors (n=6)	36
Figure 2-3 Relationships between N availability and (a) β -1, 4-N-acetylglucosaminidase (b))
arylamidase, (c) protease, and (d) urease activities in LFH-MS and PMM	. 37
Figure 3-1 Changes in average well color development (AWCD) in (A) LFH-MS and (B)	
PMM and community level physiological profiles (CLPPs) in (C) LFH-MS and (D) PMM	
affected by organic substrate type and diversity in capping materials used in oil sands	
reclamation	58
Figure 3-2 Changes in CO ₂ emission rates in (A) LFH and (B) PMM dissolved organic	
carbon (DOC) in (C) LFH and (D) PMM and dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) in (E) LFH	
and (F) PMM affected by organic substrate type and diversity in capping materials used in	
oil sands reclamation	. 59
Figure 3-3 Changes in soil enzyme activities in (A, C, E, G and I) LFH-MS affected by	
organic substrate type (left columns) and (B,D,F, H and J) time (right columns) of	
measurement in materials used in oil sands reclamation	60
Figure 3-4 Changes in soil enzyme activities in (A, C, E, G and I) PMM affected by organic	c
substrate type (left columns) and (B, D, F, H and J) time (right columns) of measurement in	
materials used in oil sands reclamation	. 61
Figure 3-5 Changes in NH ₄ ⁺ -N in (A) LFH and (C) PMM and NO ₃ ⁻ N in (E) LFH-MS	
and (G) PMM affected by organic substrate type (left columns) and (B, D, F and H) time	
(right columns) of measurement in materials used oil sands reclamation	62
Figure 4-1 X- ray diffraction spectrum showing the mineralogy of the mineral soil used in	
the experiment	82

Figure 4-2 Changes in dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and nitrogen (DON) concentrations	
as affected by the ratios of materials and days after treatment in LFH (A, B, E, F) and in pea	t
(C, D, G, H) materials used in the experiment	. 83
Figure 4-3 Changes in dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and nitrogen (DON) concentrations	
as affected by the ratios of materials and days after treatment in LFH (A, B, E, F) and in pea	t
(C, D, G, H) materials used in the experiment	. 84
Figure 4-4 Changes in soil enzymes activities in LFH (A, C, E, G, I) and peat (B, D, F, H, J)
as affected by organic to mineral soils ratio used in the experiment	85
Figure 4-5 Changes in available N concentration as affected by the ratios of materials and	
days after treatment in LFH (A and B) and peat (C and D) materials used in the experiment	86
Figure 5-1 Fine root production in (A) lodgepole pine and (B) white spruce, and turnover	
rate in (C) lodgepole pine and (D) white spruce stands along a stand productivity gradient in	l
oil sands reclamation measured by sequential and ingrowth core methods. Values are means	
$_$ SE (n = 24). Means across the productivity gradient within each method with the same	
uppercase letter are not significantly different at $p < 0.05$	109
Figure 6-1 Flow chart of key findings	118

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ACRONYMS

AOSR: Athabasca oil sands region AlaAP: alanyl aminopeptidase ARA: arylamidase AWCD: average well color development Bglu: beta glucosidase C: carbon CaCl₂: calcium chloride CEC: cation exchange capacity C to N ratio: carbon to nitrogen ratio CLPPs: community level physiological profile Co: cobalt DBH: diameter at breast height DOC: dissolved organic carbon DON: dissolved organic nitrogen EC: electrical conductivity ECN: enzyme classification number FIA: flow injection analysis FRB: fine root biomass FRLD: fine root length density FRP: fine root production HCl: hydrochloride k: Decomposition rate constant KCl: calcium chloride K₂SO₄: potassium sulphate LAP: leucine aminopeptidase L-DOPA: L-dihydroxyphenylalanine LFH: identifiable litter (L), fragmented and partially decomposed litter (F), and highly decomposed humus (H) material MBC: microbial biomass carbon MBN: microbial biomass nitrogen MRT: mean residence time MS: mineral soil MUB: 4-methylumbelliferyl m:v: mass to volume ratio N: nitrogen NA: not analyzed NaCl: sodium cholride NAGase: β -1, 4-N-acetylglucosaminidase Na₂CO₃: sodium carbonate NaOH: sodium hydroxide ND[.] not detected NH₄⁺: ammonium NO_3 : nitrate OB: overburden OM: organic matter PMM: peat mineral soil mix PRSTM: Plant root simulator probes PRT: protease POX: phenol oxidase RSA: root surface area SAR: sodium adsorption ratio SWC: soil water content TC: total carbon TCA: tricloracetic acid

TN: total nitrogen TOC: total organic carbon TON: total organic nitrogen TOR: Turnover rates TS: tailings sand UR: urease WHC: water holding capacity XRD: X-ray diffraction

CHAPTER 1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1. Research background

1.1 Oil sands development and mining

Canada's boreal forests are home to one of the world's largest oil deposits, the Alberta oil sands located in the Athabasca River, Cold Lake and Peace River regions. The Alberta oil sands underlie an area of 142,200 km² in northeastern Alberta, representing an estimated one trillion barrels of oil reserves (Alberta Environment, 2006). The Athabasca oil sands region (AOSR) near Fort McMurray, Alberta, is known as the single largest oil reserve in the world (Alberta Government, 2015). Surface mining is the predominant technique used in the AOSR (Fung and Macyk, 2000) to recover oil deposits; since approximately 60% of bitumen is extracted by this method. During surface mining all ecological layers including plant cover, topsoil, subsoil and overburden (OB) are removed to expose the oil sands. All the soil layers and OB, a geological material found between the surface soil and oil sands, are usually stored for later reclamation purposes. As a result of the removal of all ecological layers, the ecosystem must be reconstructed when mining is completed (MacKenzie and Naeth, 2007). According to the Alberta Government (2015), about 813 km² of the boreal region had been disturbed by surface mining as of December 2013 and further destruction of forests in this region is expected. Mining companies are required by the Alberta Provincial Government environmental regulations to reclaim the disturbed area to a land capability equivalent to that which existed predisturbance (Cumulative Environmental Management Association, 2006).

1.2 Oil sands reclamation process and practices

After cessation of mining activities, the oil sands reclamation process follows different phases: surveying natural soils and selection of suitable reclamation materials; on-site salvaging, storing and placing reclamation materials; restoration of soil and suppressing of soil erosion by planting grasses/legume; re-vegetation; monitoring; and certification (Fung and Macyk, 2000). The key phase of oil sands reclamation process is the re-establishment of a functioning ecosystem (Figure 1-1; Macdonald et al., 2012) through genesis of a novel soil profile with salvaged mineral soil and organic capping materials. Various organic capping materials such as peat mineral soil mix (hereafter PMM) and LFH-mineral soil (MS) mix (hereafter LFH), which

is identifiable litter (L), fragmented litter (F) and humus (H) (MacKenzie and Naeth, 2007; Naeth et al., 2013), are used as capping materials for land reclamation in the AOSR. These materials are applied in different organic matter (OM) to MS ratios (either peat or LFH) during the reclamation process (Naeth et al., 2013). The peat to MS ratios (vol:vol) vary from 1:3 (Moskal et al., 2001) to 1:1 (Fung and Macyk, 2000; Hemstock et al., 2010) and the LFH to MS ratio (vol:vol) ranged from 1:1 to 1:2 for shallow salvage and from 1:3 to 1:5 for deeper salvage (Alberta Environment and Water, 2012). Oil sands reclamation also uses some inorganic materials, such as OB, tailings sand (TS), lean oil sands, coke, consolidated tailings and subsoil, below the organic capping materials. However, OB and TS are commonly used as substrate materials. Current oil sands reclamation involves several prescriptions of these materials for the genesis of a soil profile. Generally, 20 to 50 cm of organic capping material is applied over 100 cm of poor quality substrate materials of either OB or TS. In some cases subsoil (B and C horizon) is also applied between organic capping and substrate materials. The variations in prescription depend on the type and availability of material (Rowland et al., 2009).

Organic capping materials are applied to provide sufficient nutrients, to establish a community of vegetation until natural nutrient cycling may function (Barbour et al., 2007), and to provide a medium for rooting (Jung et al., 2014). Organic capping materials vary in physical, chemical and biological properties and nutrient availability (Hahn and Quideau, 2013; Jamro et al., 2014; Béasse et al., 2015; Kwak et al., 2015a) as summarized in Tables 1-1 and 1-2. The PMM is commonly used as an OM source due to its availability in mining areas (Mackenzie and Naeth, 2010; Naeth et al., 2013). PMM has been less supportive to native vegetation (Brown and Naeth, 2014; Forsch, 2014). In contrast, LFH-MS is a rich source of native seed bank propagules (Mackenzie and Naeth, 2010) and fosters microbial community (McMillan et al., 2007; Béasse et al., 2015; Kwak et al. 2015a). Relative to PMM, the microbial community in LFH-MS more closely resembled that of a natural forest (Hahn and Quideau, 2013) and had greater nitrogen (N) availability (Jamro et al., 2014). However, the availability of LFH-MS is limited, and its effects on biogeochemical processes are not well documented (Noah et al., 2014; Kwak, 2015).

The substrate materials possess some inherent properties such as high soil pH and electrical conductivity (Jung et al., 2014; Duan et al., 2015) that affect the reclaimed ecosystem (Table 1-2). The OB is a highly compacted natural material with poor drainage (Jamro et al., 2015), and TS has low nutrient and water holding capacity (Duan et al., 2015; House, 2015). These factors

may negatively affect vegetation growth (Fung and Macyk, 2000; Duan et al., 2015) and fine root performance (Jung et al., 2014; Jamro et al., 2015), and raise concerns about sustainability of the reconstructed ecosystem.

To assess the success of reclamation, it is crucial to know the soil mechanisms and processes that are affected by standard reclamation practices (EPEA, 2009). Understanding soil biogeochemical processes (Sorenson et al., 2011; Noah et al., 2014; Kwak, 2015) and fine root growth and their dynamics (Lazorko and Van Rees, 2012; Jung et al., 2014) in reclaimed oil sands is a key to successful reclamation, as they are related to both belowground ecosystem functions and to aboveground productivity.

1.2.1 Soil biogeochemical processes

The soil microbial community, a key indicator for the assessment of reclamation success (Bentham et al., 1992; Hahn and Quideau, 2013), is involved in nutrient cycling processes and OM accumulation which supports plant growth (Mummey et al., 2002a) and ecosystem establishment (Archibald, 2014). The soil microbial community in reclaimed land is affected by abiotic factors such as soil pH and water content (Will et al., 2010), vegetation composition (Schaaf et al., 2011; Hahn and Quideau, 2013), year of reclamation (Hahn and Quideau, 2013; Zahraei, 2015) and type of OM used in reclamation (Béasse et al., 2015).

Soil enzymes are proteins in nature, produced by microorganisms (bacteria and fungi), plant roots, residues and dead soil animals (Dick, 1994). Soil enzymes mainly exist in viable cells (intracellular) which help in the evaluation of the activity of biological life in soil. Some enzymes, such as extracellular, remain in soil solution and form complexes with the soil matrix; the evaluation of these enzymes may reflect soil management practices effects on soil biology (Dick, 1988). Soil enzymes catalyze key biochemical reactions involved in OM decomposition (Sinsabaugh et al., 1991), nutrient cycling processes and stabilization of soil structure (Dick, 1988). They are often regarded as sensitive indicators of soil quality because they help in the measurement of soil microbial reactions occurring in soil, they may immediately respond to environmental changes caused by natural and anthropogenic factors and their measurement can be done easily (Gianfreda and Bollag, 199).

Soil enzymes are also known as highly sensitive indicators of environmental changes and may respond even before any other soil quality indicators during land reclamation (Pascual et al.,

2000; Baldrian et al., 2008; Dimitriu et al., 2010; Burns et al., 2013). Soil enzymes are typically regulated by substrate quality and quantity (Degens, 1998; Hernandez and Hobbie, 2010), vegetation composition (Zak et al., 2003) and types of reclamation materials (Dimitriu et al., 2010). Other factors are substrate availability (Will et al., 2010; Jamro et al., 2014), mineral composition (Shindo and Huang, 1985; Marx et al., 2005) and the presence of mycorrhizal fungi (Smith and Read, 2008; Burke et al., 2011). Soil enzymes may be affected by environmental factors such as soil water content, temperature, oxygen (O₂) concentration and pH (Eilers et al., 2012). Among these factors, pH is particularly influential for soil enzyme activity, as each enzyme has different optima that may either inhibit or accelerate its activity (Baldrian et al., 2008; Burns et al., 2013). Location of enzymes in the soil matrix, either free in soil solution or adsorbed on the soil surface (Turner, 2010), may indicate their degree of stability (Allison, 2006; Totsche et al., 2010).

Understanding nutrient cycling processes, especially N cycles, is important for successful land reclamation, as these cycles are linked to aboveground and belowground productivity (Yan et al., 2012; Duan et al., 2015). Nitrogen mineralization and nitrification rates are mainly affected by environmental changes, such as disturbance, OM quality differences (Mummey et al., 2002a; McMillan et al., 2007; Jamro et al., 2014), carbon to nitrogen (C to N) ratio (Mohanty et al., 2013) and soil pH (Myrold, 2005).

1.2.2 Fine root dynamics

Fine root dynamics is another key component of nutrient cycles. Fine roots are involved in capturing resources from soils (Brassard et al., 2009) and alter soil biogeochemistry by increasing substrate availability in the form of root detritus and exudates (Hutsch et al., 2002; Schaaf et al., 2011). It is well known that fine root processes, including production and decomposition, contribute more to the soil nutrient pool than aboveground litter fall (Aerts et al., 1992). These processes are affected by soil properties such as salinity (Lazorko and Van Rees, 2012) and compaction (Kozlowski, 1999; Jamro et al., 2015) and environmental factors (Espeleta and Donovan, 2002; Brassard et al., 2009). Each tree species has a unique root system to support its plant structure and to access, store and transport resources such as water and nutrients from the soil (Lazorko and Van Rees, 2012), resources that are required for the establishment of trees in reclaimed oil sands (Duan et al., 2015). Most tree species in the boreal

forest have mycorrhizae (Smith and Read, 2008) which may help to improve biogeochemical processes (Rillig, 2004; Burke et al., 2011). Knowledge of fine root dynamics is essential to build a sustainable ecosystem in oil sands reclamation (Bradshaw, 1984).

1.3 Literature review

1.3.1 Effects of capping materials on enzyme activity and N availability

The PMM and LFH-MS are two commonly used organic capping materials in oil sands reclamation (Naeth et al., 2013). These materials have contrasting biological properties and nutrient availabilities, including differences in C to N ratio, pH, microbial community composition (Table 1-2 and 1-3) and vegetation cover (Brown and Naeth, 2014), mainly due to their different sources. Peat is salvaged from wetlands, while LFH is collected from upland boreal forests. Various studies have shown (Table 1-2) that PMM contained more total carbon (TC) and total nitrogen (TN) than LFH-MS (McMillan et al., 2007; Béasse et al., 2015; Kwak et al., 2015a). Stockpiling of reclamation materials (Béasse et al., 2015) and application depth of capping materials (Mackenzie and Naeth, 2010) both affect the TC and TN concentrations.

Some studies found LFH-MS contains more decomposed OM than PMM, corresponding to a lower C to N ratio in LFH-MS than in PMM (Kong et al., 1980; McMillan et al., 2007; Mackenzie and Naeth, 2010; Jamro et al., 2014) due to differences in vegetation types (Forch, 2014). However, other studies showed a lower C to N ratio in PMM than in LFH-MS (MacKenzie and Quideau, 2012; Quideau et al., 2013; Forsch, 2014; Kwak et al., 2015a). The difference is likely associated with the peat source, which is either fens or bogs (Hemstock et al., 2010; Alberta Environment and Water, 2012), whether the material was fresh or stockpiled (Béasse et al., 2015), and the time after reclamation (Brown and Naeth, 2014; Forsch, 2014). Some researchers found that PMM had a higher pH than LFH-MS (MacKenzie and Quideau, 2012; Hahn and Quideau, 2013; Quideau et al., 2013; Brown and Naeth, 2014; Kwak et al., 2015b) due to the alkaline nature of the salvaged mineral material (Fung and Macyk, 2000) and the fen sourced peat material (Forsch, 2014). This is likely due to the fen type peatlands being fed by the mineral rich surface waters having neutral or alkaline pH (Charlton and Hilts, 1989).

The quality of organic capping materials plays a key role in various biogeochemical processes (Table 1-3) such as microbial community changes (Hahn and Quideau, 2013; Béasse et al., 2015; Kwak et al., 2015a), microbial biomass carbon (MBC) and nitrogen (MBN) (McMillan

et al., 2007; Jamro et al., 2014; Zahraei, 2015), enzyme activity (Dimitriu et al., 2010; Quideau et al., 2013; Jamro et al., 2014; Zahraei, 2015), N cycle processes and availability (McMillan et al. 2007; MacKenzie and Quideau, 2010; Jamro et al., 2014; Kwak et al., 2015b) and CO₂ emission (Zahraei, 2015; Kwak et al., 2016). The greater MBC and MBN observed in LFH-MS than in PMM was found to correspond to the higher level of decomposed OM in LFH-MS (McMillan et al., 2007; Jamro et al., 2014). As a result, LFH-MS also had greater enzyme activity than PMM (Quideau et al., 2013; Jamro et al., 2014). Enzyme activity in oil sands reclaimed soils was also found to depend on the type of OM (Kwak et al., 2015a) and the substrate type below the capping materials, such as TS or OB (Dimitriu et al., 2010). Greater enzyme activity in LFH-MS was attributed to the presence of more decomposed OM (Jamro et al., 2014), higher vegetation cover (Forsch, 2014) and greater mycorrhizal biomass (Brown and Naeth, 2014). Lower activity in PMM was due to the higher pH of PMM (Dimitriu et al., 2010; Jamro et al., 2014) since each enzyme has a different pH optima (Baldrian et al., 2008) and low levels of decomposed OM (Jamro et al., 2014; Kwak et al., 2015a), resulting in less substrate availability for the enzymes. In addition, soil enzyme activity itself is an indicator of decomposition of OM as shown in previous studies that the greater β - glucosidase and phenol oxidase activities in PMM than in LFH-MS (Quideau et al., 2013) suggest that PMM has less decomposed OM.

Researchers found that the greater N availability in LFH-MS than in PMM was mainly due to the former's greater mineralization rates (McMillan et al., 2007; MacKenzie and Quideau, 2012; Yan et al., 2012) and lower C to N ratio (Mackenzie and Naeth, 2010; Jamro et al., 2014; Kwak et al., 2015a). The greater N availability in LFH-MS can also be attributed to the greater abundance of genes linked to N transformation processes in LFH than in PMM (Zahraei, 2015) and with positive relationships with enzyme activity (Jamro et al., 2014). The availability of N decreased with depth of the capping materials with greater N availability found at 0-10 cm than 10-20 cm due to an increase in C to N ratio and microbial biomass (Jamro et al., 2014). Researchers found that most available N was in the form of nitrate rather than ammonium, as N availability in oil sands reclamation was controlled by nitrification (McMillan et al., 2007; Hemstock et al., 2010). Although several studies have tested N availability and enzyme activity in the soil of reclaimed oil sands, no field scale comparisons have been conducted on both LFH-MS and PMM for N availability and associated enzyme activity in oil sands reclamation (Naeth et al., 2013).

1.3.2 Organic substrate type and diversity effects on microbial processes

Microorganisms play an important role in nutrient cycling processes (Schulz et al., 2013) and architecture of the ecosystem (Mummey et al., 2002b; Rajendhran and Gunasekaran, 2008). Microbial activities are typically affected by substrate availability (Baldrian et al., 2008; Jamro et al., 2014) and composition (Orwin et al., 2006). Plants add diverse materials to soils in the form of leaf litter and root biomass and exudates (Orwin et al., 2006), providing organic substrates for various chemical and biological processes (Schutter and Dick, 2001) such as decomposition of OM (Kuzyakov et al., 2000) and enzyme activities (Hernandez and Hobbie, 2010).

Microbial community composition is associated with OM inputs (Noah et al., 2014; Béasse et al., 2015) and stand type; for example, aspen dominated and spruce dominated forests have distinct microbial communities (Hannam et al., 2004). Thus, plant species composition can be a proxy for altering substrate availability (Jamro et al., 2014) and quality and quantity of substrate inputs as litter fall and root exudates (Orwin et al., 2006; Hernandez and Hobbie, 2010) and reestablishment of plant-soil relationships (Sorenson et al., 2011). In earlier oil sands reclamation studies, LFH-MS supported a more diverse microbial community and greater microbial biomass than PMM (Hahn and Quideau, 2013; Béasse et al., 2015; Kwak et al., 2015a), as it contained more decomposed OM and a greater diversity of plant species and vegetation cover (Naeth et al., 2013; Brown and Naeth, 2014). Other studies found greater plant species diversity and vegetation cover in LFH-MS increased the priming effect on enzyme activity, N availability (Jamro et al., 2014; Kwak et al., 2015b), functional gene abundance (Zahraei, 2015), soil respiration (Kwak et al., 2016) and fungi to bacteria ratio (MacKenzie and Quideau, 2010). Understanding the effects of organic substrate type and diversity on microbial processes is essential to improve current reclamation strategies; as such research has not been conducted in oil sands reclamation.

1.3.3 Effect of organic to mineral soil mixing ratio on biogeochemical processes

The soil consists of different inorganic and organic components that form a complex network, a biogeochemical interface (Huang et al., 2005). Transformative processes such as decomposition of OM, nutrient cycles and soil enzymes activity (Allison, 2006; Totsche et al., 2010) are regulated and stabilized through organo-mineral interactions (Kögel-Knabner et al., 2008). However, the regulation of biogeochemical processes by organo-mineral interaction

varies with the catalytic potential of clay minerals and oxide minerals (Shindo and Huang, 1985; Marx et al., 2005). Oil sands reclamation currently involves materials with many different ratios of OM to MS (Naeth et al., 2013) such as peat to MS ratios (vol:vol) which vary widely, from 1:3 (Moskal et al., 2001) to 1:1 (Fung and Macyk, 2000; Hemstock et al., 2010) to 3:1 (Moskal et al., 2001). The LFH to MS ratio (vol:vol) ranges from 1:1 to 1:2 for shallow salvage and from 1:3 to 1:5 for deeper salvage (Alberta Environment and Water, 2012). Mixing ratio also varies with the type of MS, such as 1:3 for fine textured MS and 1:5 for coarse textured MS (Alberta Environment and Water, 2012).

The quality of OM is discussed in previous sections; however, the effects of organic to MS ratios on the biogeochemical processes in soil have been less studied. The amount of mineral soil mixed into organic capping materials may affect soil biogeochemistry through changes in pH, cation exchange capacity (CEC), surface area and charge, sodium adsorption ratio (SAR) and nutrient retention (Fisher and Binkley, 2000; Haider and Schäffer, 2009). In the AOSR, mineral soils are of two categories: fine textured (clay) soils and coarse textured (sandy) soils; in some places loam type soils are also found (Hahn and Quideau, 2013). Fine textured soils have greater CEC and OM content than coarse textured soils (Bauhus et al., 1998; Alberta Environment and Water, 2012). However, coarse textured mineral soils are predominantly mixed with both types of organic capping material used in the AOSR (Moskal et al., 2001; Naeth et al., 2013). Mixing mineral soils with different horizons and textures along with organic materials may change the soil properties, such as pH (Fung and Macyk, 2000, Mackenzie and Quideau, 2012), enzyme activities (Quideau et al., 2013), TC concentration (Hahn and Quideau, 2013) and CO₂ emission (Norris et al., 2013) in the AOSR. Mixing mineral soils of either kaolinite or loamy sand with litter material could decrease OM decomposition (Skene et al., 1996) and consequently decrease soil enzyme activity (Allison, 2006) and nutrient availability (Silver et al., 2000). However, recent studies indicated that clay particles either did not affect or increased decomposition of OM (Fissore et al., 2008) due to increased microbial biomass carbon (MBC) (Wei et al., 2004). Soil pH also plays a key role in the biogeochemical processes that shift microbial community composition in sandy soils, which could ultimately affect other soil processes. Fungi are found in sandy soils in much greater abundance than in clayey soils. Thus it is necessary to understand how changes in the organic to mineral soil ratio can affect soil biogeochemical processes in reclaimed oil sands soils.

1.3.4 Reclamation practice effects on fine root dynamics

Placing PMM over TS or OB substrates is a common prescription for oil sands reclamation. The inherent properties of these substrates include high soluble salt concentration, poor drainage and heavy compaction (Jung et al., 2014; Duan et al., 2015; Jamro et al., 2015), which can reduce tree growth and stand productivity (Jung et al., 2014; Duan et al., 2015) and consequently fine root performance (Strand et al., 2008). Jung et al. (2014) indicated that TS and OB may differ in soil texture and pore size, with TS having more macropores and OB having more micropores. The differences in pore size may affect nutrient leaching and infiltration and drainage of water, which could affect fine root growth and associated processes. Other researchers noted that lack of micropores in TS prevented capillary rise of water to the capping material (Li et al., 2013) and reduced water holding capacity (Khasa et al., 2005), limiting fine root growth of lodgepole pine (Jamro et al., 2015). Fine root production and turnover rates were also associated with water and nutrient limitations in TS (Jung et al., 2014). Soil salinity of substrate materials altered the morphology of fine roots (Lazorko and Van Rees, 2012) and reduced fine root biomass (Jung et al., 2014). Soil salinity also reduced the turnover and decomposition rates of fine roots (Zhang et al., 2009). Compaction caused by heavy equipment can increase bulk density of OB, causing a reduction in fine root growth of white spruce (Jung et al., 2014; Jamro et al., 2015). This compaction also reduces aeration and microbial activity (Lazorko and Van Rees, 2012) and slows decomposition of white spruce fine roots (Jamro et al., 2015). The high temperature of TS, meanwhile, may speed decomposition of fine roots of lodgepole pine (Naeth et al., 2011)

A few studies have examined the growth and distribution of fine roots of boreal forest species in oil sands reclamation (Lazorko and Van Rees, 2012; Jung et al., 2014). To date, however, no study has reported whether fine root dynamics is related to stand productivity in oil sands reclamation.

2. Thesis Structure

The overall objective of this research is to evaluate soil biogeochemical and fine root processes affected by current reclamation practices of oil sands. The findings of this study will help to improve the current reclamation practices used in oil sands reclamation. Two field and two laboratory incubation experiments were conducted to test the following specific hypotheses.

- The LFH-MS will have greater N availability and greater soil enzyme activities than PMM due to more decomposed OM, microbial biomass and vegetation cover in LFH than in PMM.
- Increased organic substrates diversity through addition of litter fall and root exudates in reclaimed soils may create new niches for microbial growth which may support a more diverse microbial community. Thus, microbial processes would be affected by the type and diversity of organic substrates due to changes in the microbial community in materials used in oil sands reclamation.
- The effect of the type and diversity of organic substrates on microbial processes depends on the type of organic matter used for oil sands reclamation due to differences in biotic origin, vegetation input and C to N ratios.
- Changes in the organic to mineral soil ratio would alter the biogeochemical processes in oil sands reclamation due to changes in OM content and organo-mineral interaction. Thus, greater enzyme activities and N availability will be expected with a greater organic to mineral soil ratio regardless of organic capping material type used.
- Fine root growth would have a positive relationship with aboveground tree growth along forest productivity gradients of different tree species planted in reclaimed oil sands sites. The different fine root dynamics would likely be associated to inherited characteristics of tailings sand and overburden materials used in oil sands reclamation.

This thesis consists of six chapters. Figure 1-2 provides a synthesis of the studies. Each of chapters 2 to 5 constitutes a manuscript that is currently published or will be submitted for publication shortly.

- Chapter 1 provides background information and a review of reclamation practices on biogeochemistry and fine root dynamics.
- Chapter 2 focuses on organic capping type effects on nitrogen availability and associated enzyme activities in reconstructed oil sands soils in Alberta, Canada. A manuscript entitled Organic capping type affected nitrogen availability and associated enzyme activities in reconstructed oil sands soils in Alberta, Canada was published in Ecological Engineering 73, 92-101 (2014).
- Chapter 3 focuses on effects of substrate type and diversity on microbial processes in materials used in oil sands reclamation.

- Chapter 4 focuses on effects of organic to mineral soil ratios on biochemical processes of organic capping materials used in oil sands reclamation.
- Chapter 5 focuses on fine root dynamics in lodgepole pine and white spruce stands along
 productivity gradients in reclaimed oil sands sites. A manuscript entitled Fine root dynamics
 in lodgepole pine and white spruce stands along productivity gradients in reclaimed oil sands
 sites is published in Ecology and Evolution 5, 4655-4670 (2015).
- Chapter 6 provides a summary of research findings and suggested future research.



Figure 1-1 Important processes for oil sands reclamation adopted from Macdonald et al., 2012.



Figure 1-2 Flow chart showing the synthesis of research studies

*Abbreviations: LFH-MS= LFH-mineral soil, PMM= peat mineral soil mix, OB= overburden, TS= tailings sand, OM= organic matter

Amendment type	Physico-chemical properties			
Peat mineral soil mix LFH mineral soil mix	2% - 17% organic C, near neutral pH Combination of LFH overlying mineral horizon (Naeth et al., 2013). Organic horizon containing > 17% organic C, developed primarily from accumulation of leaves, twigs and woody materials and is normally associated with upland forested soils			
Overburden	Fine or coarse textured, slightly alkaline (Ph 8.0+), low to no organic C			
Subsoil	Non-saline, pH 5.0 - 8.0, low organic C (<2%), may be mixed with peat or LFH during salvage operation			
Lean oil sand	< 6% bitumen by weight , pH 5.5 – 6.0			
Clearwater shales	Fine textured, saline-sodic; $EC = 10-20 \text{ dS m}^{-1}$, sodium adsorption ratio (SAR) > 20, pH 8.0+			
Coarse woody debris	Includes dead trees, logs, branches, twigs, dead coarse roots (Pyle and Brown, 1998), used as supplemental amendment over capping materials for developing microsites and consequently have affected soil properties (Brown and Naeth, 2014; Kwak et al., 2015a)			

 Table 1-1 Organic capping materials and their properties used in oil sands reclamation.

Source: Adapted from Rowland, 2008

Soil property^a Unit PMM LFH Reference Comments for consideration TOC McMillan et al., 2007 g kg⁻¹ 92.2 50.5 PMM had 25 to 50 % (by volume) mineral soil g kg⁻¹ $164^{1}-428^{2}$ $101^{1}-243^{2}$ Fresh material² had greater than aged¹ material TOC Beasse et al., 2015 TOC $g kg^{-1}$ Affected by coarse woody debris (CWD) and was Kwak et al., 2015a 68.4-72.2 39.7-40.8 greater in PMM than LFH-MS Lower in surface (10 cm) than sub surface (20 cm) 8.9-9.2 Mackenzie and Naeth, 2007 TOC % 3.3-5.5 7.39-6.35 Brown and Naeth, 2014 Slightly increased during measurement year TOC % 5.52-5.93 TOC Forsch, 2014 % 6.62 7.34 $g kg^{-1}$ TON 4.5 2.4 McMillan et al., 2007 Slightly greater in PMM than FFM $5.5^{1}-9.3^{2}$ $9.3^2 - 9.2^1$ g kg⁻¹ Fresh¹ material has greater than aged² material Beasse et al., 2015 TON TON % 0.16-0.29 0.33 Mackenzie and Naeth, 2007 Lower in surface (10 cm) than sub surface (20 cm) TON 0.24 Forsch, 2014 % 0.23 $20-25^2$ ¹Kong et al., 1980, ²Mackenzie, 2006 C to N $20-80^{1}$ 21.3 McMillan et al., 2007 C to N 21.5 C to N 19.6-24.4 28.9-29.7 Mackenzie and Naeth, 2007 Lower in surface (10 cm) than surface (20 cm) Organic and mineral soil material 1:1 (by volume) C to N 21.9 28.5 MacKenzie and Ouideau, 2012 C to N 25 31 Quideau et al., 2013 Forsch, 2014 C to N 313 331 Fresh² material greater than stockpiled¹ material Beasse et al., 2015 C to N 18-78 23-24 30.1-32.8 Kwak et al., 2015a Affected by CWD and greater in PMM than LFH C to N 28.6-31.3 3.7-6.6¹ $5.5-6.1^2$ pН Kong et al., 1980, Mackenzie, 2006 6.2-6.4 6.4-6.8 Mackenzie and Naeth, 2007 Variable with capping depth pН Significantly lower in PMM than FFM McMillan et al., 2007 pН 5.51 5.95 MacKenzie and Quideau, 2012 Organic and mineral soil material 1:1 (by volume) pН 6.3 5.3 Hahn and Quideau, 2013 pН 5.9-6.2 5.0-5.4 Materials were different in soil textures pН Quideau et al., 2013 7.1 6.6 pН 6.4 7.4 Forsch, 2014 Higher in PMM than in LFH-MS pН 3.6 5.9 Beasse et al., 2015 pН 7.1-7.2 5.9-6.1 Kwak et al., 2015a Greater in PMM than in LFH-MS

Table 1-2 Chemical properties of peat mineral soil mix (PMM) and LFH mineral soil mix (LFH-MS) organic capping materials used in oil sands reclamation

^aAbbreviations: TOC: total organic carbon, TON: total organic nitrogen, C to N: carbon to nitrogen ratio

Soil process ^a	Unit	PMM	LFH	Reference	Comment for consideration
Respiration Respiration MBC MBC MBC	$\begin{array}{c} nmol CO_2 \text{ g}^{-1} \text{ hr}^{-1} \\ mg CO_2 \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ hr}^{-1} \\ mg \text{ kg}^{-1} \\ mg \text{ kg}^{-1} \\ mg \text{ kg}^{-1} \end{array}$	49.16 293 - 677 11.1 302 0.28	54.59 461 - 1148 47.1 413.8 0.445	Zahraei, 2015 Kwak et al., 2016 Brown and Naeth, 2014 McMillan et al., 2007 Zahraei, 2015	CWD affected by time of sampling Differences greater in September than June
MBN MBN	mg kg ⁻¹ mg kg ⁻¹	11.1 0.023	24.7 0.036	McMillan et al., 2007 Zahraei, 2015	Differences greater in September than June
DOC DON BGlu BGlu	mg kg ⁻¹ mg kg ⁻¹ μmol g ⁻¹ hr ⁻¹ μmol g ⁻¹ hr ⁻¹	717 9.3 5.0-9.4 0.068	569.4 8.6 0.118	McMillan et al., 2007 McMillan et al., 2007 Dimitriu et al., 2010 Zahraei, 2015	Mineral soil vs organic layer affected by depth Greater in LFH than PMM increased with time
NAGase NAGase	μmol g ⁻¹ hr ⁻¹ μmol g ⁻¹ hr ⁻¹	1.6-4.2 0.055	NA 0.078	Dimitriu et al., 2010 Zahraei, 2015	Mineral soil vs organic layer affected by depth Greater in LFH than PMM increased with time greater in September than June
POX POX	μ mol g ⁻¹ hr ⁻¹ μ mol g ⁻¹ hr ⁻¹	6.5-8.5 194	NA 139	Dimitriu et al., 2010 Quideau et al., 2013	Mineral soil vs organic layer affected by depth PMM had greater than FFM
URE	μ g NH ₄ ⁺ -N g ⁻¹ hr ⁻¹	0.5-2.4 mg	NA	Dimitriu et al., 2010	Mineral soil vs organic layer affected by depth
Nitrate N Nitrate N Ammonium N	mg kg ⁻¹ mg kg ⁻¹ mg kg ⁻¹ mg kg ⁻¹	6.1 3.34-3.79 <0.3 4.26.5.50	4.5 3.89-4.20 1 4.80 5.47	Brown and Naeth, 2014 Mackenzie and Naeth, 2007 Brown and Naeth, 2014 Mackenzie and Naeth, 2007	Decreased with time Depth of caps 10 vs 20 cm
Root gluco Fungi:bacteria ^a Abbreviations: 1	mg g ⁻¹	1.4 0.24	47.1 0.27 MBN: microbi	Brown and Naeth, 2014 Quideau et al., 2013 al biomass nitrogen, DOC: diss	Slightly greater in FFM than in PMM
Abbreviations. MBC. microbial biomass carbon, MBN. microbial biomass microgen, DOC. dissolved organic carbon, DON: dissolved organic					

Table 1-3 Biogeochemical differences in peat mineral soil mix (PMM) and LFH mineral soil mix (LFH-MS) in oil sands reclamation

^aAbbreviations: MBC: microbial biomass carbon, MBN: microbial biomass nitrogen, DOC: dissolved organic carbon, DON: dissolved organic nitrogen, Bglu: beta glucosidase, NAGase: N-acetyl-B-D- glucosaminidase, POX: phenol oxidase, URE: urease, Root gluco : root glucosamine, NA: not analyzed

CHAPTER 2 ORGANIC CAPPING TYPE AFFECTED NITROGEN AVAILABILITY AND ASSOCIATED ENZYME ACTIVITIES IN RECONSTRUCTED OIL SANDS SOILSIN ALBERTA, CANADA

1. Introduction

Mining of oil sands in the Athabasca oil sands region in northern Alberta is one of the largest anthropogenic disturbances of terrestrial ecosystems in the world (Alberta Government, 2010). Surface mining activities in this region have greatly impacted approximately 767 km² of land, representing 0.2% of the boreal forest (Alberta Government, 2013). Surface oil sands mining involves the removal of several ecological layers including the vegetation, soil and geological material (Giesy et al., 2010). Current reclamation regulations require that oil sands companies reclaim disturbed areas to equivalent land capability after cessation of surface mining operations (Cumulative Environmental Management Association, 2006), but given the magnitude of the disturbance, much research is needed to help restore disturbed ecosystems to pre-disturbance conditions.

Successful reclamation of disturbed oil sands areas requires a broad understanding of nutrient cycling and ecosystem development. Nitrogen (N) is often a limiting nutrient in boreal forest soils in the oil sands region (Cheng et al., 2011), particularly in newly reconstructed ecosystems in the oil sands, where native N inputs are often lacking (Bradshaw, 1987). Availability of N in reclaimed ecosystems is strongly regulated by organic matter (OM) decomposition, which is greatly influenced by soil enzyme activities (Sinsabaugh et al., 1991). Soil enzymes associated with N cycling include β -1, 4-N-acetylglucosaminidase (NAGase), which is involved in the degradation of chitin, a component of fungal cell walls (Ueno et al., 1991), protease, which catalyses protein hydrolysis to peptides and amino acids and may also supply a large part of the bioavailable N (Ladd and Butler, 1972), and arylamidase, which is involved in hydrolysis of N-terminal amino acid from peptides and amides in soils (Acosta-Martinez and Tabatabai, 2000). In contrast to that, urease plays a major role in the hydrolytic reaction of urea to form ammonium and carbon dioxide in the soil. The soil enzymes are highly sensitive to environmental changes and can therefore be used as indicators of functional processes related to vegetation establishment and soil quality. Thus, the measurement of the soil enzyme activities may provide an estimate of N cycling intensity (Dick et al., 1988).

A critical component of oil sands reclamation involves re-building the soil organic layer and accelerating soil profile development, often by large scale applications of organic matter. Two types of OM commonly used as organic capping materials include peat mineral soil mix (PMM) and LFH mineral soil mix (LFH-MS), with the LFH including identifiable litter (L), fragmented and partially decomposed litter (F), and highly decomposed humus (H) material (MacKenzie and Naeth, 2007). The PMM is generally salvaged from lowlands within the mining footprint. The LFH-MS is salvaged from upland boreal forest sites and typically includes Ae horizons from Luvisolic soils (Soil Classification Working Group, 1998) and fine roots and tree stumps (MacKenzie and Naeth, 2007). The organic capping materials have differing nutrient availabilities. The PMM has a high total N and low available N due to more recalcitrant organic carbon (C) which mineralizes slowly and results in high C to N ratios (Hemstock et al., 2010), a widely accepted indicator of N release and organic substrate availability (Mohanty et al., 2013). The LFH-MS has a lower C to N ratio and provides a rich source of labile C and nutrients (MacKenzie and Naeth, 2010). Despite high nutrient availability in LFH-MS and potential use of LFH-MS as a reclamation material, its role in oil sands reclamation has not been thoroughly investigated. Despite past research in the oil sands region, more is needed to help understand how PMM and LFH-MS will perform as organic capping materials in reclamation. Although some small scale preliminary studies have been conducted on N cycling and enzyme activities on PMM and LFH-MS materials (McMillan et al., 2007; Dimitriu et al., 2010; Mackenzie and Quideau, 2012), no rigorous large scale, field based investigations comparing LFH-MS and PMM as organic capping material for oil sands reclamation have been conducted (Naeth et al., 2013). Due to contrasting biological properties and nutrient availabilities with more decomposed OM in LFH-MS, we hypothesized that N availability and associated enzyme activities will be greater in LFH-MS than PMM in reconstructed sites. Findings from this study will help determine reclamation materials for soil quality improvement in large scale reclamation.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Research site

The research was conducted on Suncor Energy Inc., Lease 86/17, located 24 km north of Fort McMurray, Alberta (56°39′ N,111° 390′ W) in the central mixedwood natural subregion of

the boreal forest region (Fung and Macyk, 2000). The area is characterized by long cold winters and short warm summers with a mean annual temperature of 0.7 °C from 1971 to 2000. Mean annual precipitation is 455 mm, which mostly 342 mm falls as rain during summer (Environment Canada, 2003). Dominant tree species in natural forests in the region are trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides* L.) and white spruce (*Picea glauca* L.) that exist in pure or mixed wood stands (Fung and Macyk, 2000). The majority of the soils have developed on glacial and glacial fluvial deposits. Gray Luvisolic soils (based on the Canadian system of soil classification, same below) are associated with till and lacustrine deposits, while Dystric Brunisols are associated with glaciofluvial outwash and eolian sands (Turchenek and Lindsay, 1982).

Air temperature and total precipitation data for the study period indicated that 2012 was slightly warmer and wetter than 2011. The mean average temperature was 14.6 °C in 2011 and 15.2 °C in 2012 during the sampling period (data not shown). The study site received 101 mm of precipitation in 2011 and 324 mm in 2012 during the sampling period (June - October) (Figure 2-1) (O'Kane Consultants Inc.)

2.2 Experimental design and plot establishment

Research plots were established at Southeast Dump (56° 58' N 111° 220' W) at Suncor Energy Inc., between November 2007 and February 2008 (Brown and Naeth, 2014). Two rows of plots were arranged along a slightly east-facing slope in a completely randomized block design. The plot size was 10 m × 30 m. The plots were separated by a 5 m buffer. Half of the plots received freshly salvaged LFH-MS and the other half received PMM following standard reclamation prescriptions. The LFH-MS was applied at a depth of 20 cm, over 30 cm of mixed B and C horizon subsoil and 100 cm of clean overburden. The PMM was applied at a depth of 30 cm over 100 cm of clean overburden. The LFH-MS plots had a greater vegetation cover (65%) of plant groups including forbs, grasses, sedges and woody species than the PMM plots (33%) in the second growing seasons in 2009 (Brown and Naeth, 2014). During the third (2010) and fourth (2011) growing seasons the density of woody species in LFH-MS was 2.9 and 12.1 plants m⁻² and in PMM was 1.3 and 7.8 plants m⁻², respectively. In LFH-MS, total vegetation cover (%) for the third and fourth growing seasons were 62.7 and 64.7, respectively. Whereas, in PMM it was 69.7 and 48.8, respectively (Forsch and Naeth, unpublished; Naeth et al., 2013; Archibald, 2014). This study was carried out in 2011-2012 on three-year old established plots from another
research program using a 2×2 (two organic capping types and two sampling depth intervals of each organic capping type) completely randomized factorial design with six replications. Four 1 m \times 1 m quadrats were randomly established in each plot of organic capping (LFH or PMM) for monthly soil sampling from two depths (0-10 and 10-20 cm) that represent a major part of the main rooting zone.

2.3 Soil sample collection and analyses

Soils were sampled monthly from the 0 - 10 and 10- 20 cm layers from June to August (summer) and September to October (fall) in 2011 and 2012 from each organic capping type. Four soil samples were randomly collected from each quadrat and bulked to form a composite sample of each organic material for each layer, with a total of 24 samples collected at each sampling. Soil samples were transported to the laboratory in cooler containing ice packs. Fresh soil samples were homogenized then sieved (2 mm) and stored at 4°C until the analyses were complete in 7 days. A sub-sample of each sample was used for analysis of enzyme activities, microbial biomass C (MBC) and N (MBN) and available N (NH_4^+ -N and NO_3^- - N). The remainder of each sample was air-dried at room temperature, ground, and used for measuring pH and electrical conductivity (EC). A portion of the air-dried soil sample was ground with a ball mill (Mixer Mill MM 200, Thomas Scientific, Swedesboro NJ) for 30 s and used for measurement of total C (TC) and total N (TN) as described below.

2.4 Analyses of soil physical and chemical properties

Gravimetric water content in the fresh soil samples was determined by drying the soil in an oven at 105 °C for a 24 h period (Kalra and Maynard, 1991). The soil pH was measured in a 1:2 (m:v) soil:0.01 mol L⁻¹ CaCl₂ solution using a pH meter (Kalra and Maynard, 1991). Electrical conductivity was measured using an electrical conductivity meter following a 1:5 soil:water extraction (m:v) (Kalra and Maynard, 1991). For the NH₄⁺-N and NO₃⁻ - N analyses, soil samples were extracted using 2 mol L⁻¹ KCl (Mulvaney, 1996). The extract was analyzed colorimetrically by the indophenol blue method for NH₄⁺-N (Keeny and Nelson, 1982) and by the vanadium oxidation method for NO₃⁻ - N (Miranda et al., 2001). The TC and TN were analyzed by the dry combustion method using an automated elemental analyser (NA-1500 series, Carlo Erba, Milan, Italy).

2.5 Soil microbial biomass measurement

Soil MBC and MBN were measured using the chloroform fumigation-extraction method (Vance et al., 1987). All extractions were done within a week of sample collection. Fresh soil samples were fumigated with ethanol free chloroform for 24 h in an evacuated desiccator. A 0.5 mol $L^{-1}K_2SO_4$ solution was used to extract C and N from fumigated and unfumigated samples at 1:5 (m:v) soil to solution ratio. After shaking for one hour on a shaker (Eberbach Corp., Michigan, U.S.A), extracts were filtered using Fisher Q2 filter papers. Extractable C and N were analyzed using a TOC-VCSN analyzer (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan). The MBC and MBN were calculated by dividing the difference in extractable C or N between fumigated and unfumigated samples by a conversion factor of 0.45 for MBC and 0.54 for MBN (Joergensen, 1996).

2.6 Soil enzyme assays

Four extracellular enzymes involved in N cycling were measured, including N-acetyl- β -Dglucosaminidase (Enzyme classification number (ECN), ECN 3.2.1.14), urease (ECN 3.5.1.5), protease (ECN 3.4) and arylamidase (ECN 3.4.11.2). For NAGase activity, soil sample suspensions were prepared by placing one gram of fresh soil in a 125 mL nalgene bottle. A 125 mL of sodium acetate buffer (50 mol L^{-1} , pH 5) was added to the bottle, and the suspension was homogenized using a magnetic stir plate until suspensions were transferred into black 96 well plates for determining NAGase activity (Sinsabaugh et al., 2003). A 200 mL soil suspension, and 50 mL of 200 mol L⁻¹ of substrate were pipetted onto the plate. Reference standards and quench controls were then added to each plate. The plates were placed in an incubator for three hours at 20°C in the dark. A 20 mL of 0.5 mol L⁻¹ NaOH was added to the plates using an auto dispenser to stop the enzymatic reaction. Fluorescence was measured at 360 nm excitation and 460 nm emissions using a Synergy HT multi-detection microplate reader (Bio-Tek Instruments, Winooski, VT) and NAGase activity (nmol of substrate $g^{-1} h^{-1}$) was calculated on an oven-dry mass basis. Urease (amidohydrolase) activity was measured in clear 96 well plates (Sinsabaugh et al., 2000). Soil assay wells received 200 mL of soil suspension and 10 mL of 400 mmol L^{-1} urea substrate. A 200 mL of soil suspension and 10 mL of Milli-Q (Millipore, Bedford, MA) deionized water were pipetted into the negative control wells. Substrate control wells contained 200 mL of acetate buffer and 10 mL of urea substrate. Microplates were incubated for 18 h at 20 °C. After incubation, ammonium concentration was quantified using colorimetric reagent packets including salicylate and cyanuarate from Hach (Loveland, CO 80,539, U.S.A). Urease activity was calculated as nmol of ammonium released per gram of soil per hour (nmol NH₄ g⁻¹ h⁻¹). Protease activity was measured using a modified method of Ladd and Butler (1972). One gram of fresh soil was mixed with 2.5 mL of sodium caseinate (10 g mL⁻¹) in 0.1 mol L⁻¹ of tris– sodium borate buffer at pH 8.1. The mixture was incubated at 37°C for 1 h. The reaction was stopped with 2 mL of 17.5% tricloracetic acid (TCA) and centrifuged. After centrifugation, 2 mL of the supernatant was mixed with 3 mL of 1.4 mol L⁻ Na₂CO₃ and 1 mL of Folin-Ciocalteu reagent. Absorbance was recorded at 700 nm using a UV-spectrophotometer (Genesys 10-S, Rochester, NY). Arylamidase activity was assayed according to Acosta-Martinez and Tabatabai (2000). One gram of fresh soil was incubated with 3 mL of 0.1 m mol L⁻¹ tris (hydroxyl methyl) amino methane (THAM) buffer (pH 8.0) and 1 mL of 8.0 m mol L⁻¹ l-leucine β -naphthylamide hydrochloride at 37 °C for 1 h. The supernants were converted to an azo-compound by reacting with p-dimethylaminocinnamaldehyde. The absorbance was measured colorimetrically at 540 nm UV-spectrophotometer (Genesys 10-S, Rochester, NY).

2.7 In-situ N availability measurement using plant root simulator probes

Plant root simulator (PRSTM, Western Ag Innovations Inc., Saskatoon, SK, Canada) probes were used to measure soil N supply rates. PRSTM probes have an ion exchange membrane encapsulated in a plastic casing. The membrane captures cations and anions from soil solution and integrates the temperature and water effects on nutrient fluxes during incubation. Each probe has 10 cm² area of membrane with an adsorbing surface area of 17. 5 cm² (both sides). Four pairs of probes (cation and anion) were inserted in established quadrats of each amendment four times from June 2011 to July 2013 (June to September 2011, October 2011 to May 2012, June 2012 to October 2012, October 2012 to July 2013). At each sampling, probes were retrieved, washed with deionized water and sent to Western Ag Innovations Inc. Elution was conducted with 0.5 mol L⁻¹ HCl solution and NO₃⁻-Nand NH₄⁺-N were analyzed colorimetrically using an automated flow injection analysis (FIA) system (PRSTM -Probe Operations Manual, 2009).

2.8 Soil temperature and soil water content measurement

HOBO micro station data loggers (Model H21-002; Onset Computer Corporation, Bourne, MA, U.S.A) connected with volumetric smart soil water sensors (Decagon Devices Inc.,

Pullman, WA, U.S.A.) and 12-bit smart temperature sensors (Onset Computer Corporation) were installed. Two sensors were installed at 5 cm depth in both amendment plots on relatively level ground in the bottom row of plots of each amendment (Brown and Naeth, 2014). The mean of sampling day data of soil temperature for each month of the sampling period of 2011 and 2012 were used for correlation analysis with N availability and soil enzyme activities.

2.9 Statistical analyses

A repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to assess capping material type and sampling depth effects over time on N availability, soil enzyme activities and MBC and MBN using the PROC MIXED model. The month of each sampling was considered the repeated measured variable for determining seasonal variation in 2011 and 2012. In this analysis, the output statistics passed tests for compound symmetry. Tukey's HSD test was used to determine if there were significant differences between the capping treatments, depths, month of sampling and their interactions. A repeated measures ANOVA was also used to assess the capping type effects on N supply rate at different times of incubation of PRSTM probes. One- way ANOVA was used to determine the differences in the basic characteristics of caps. Correlation analysis was conducted to determine the relationship between N availability, soil enzyme activities, MBC, MBN, soil pH, soil temperature and soil water in each capping material separately. Linear regression was used to determine which enzyme activity had a strong relationship with N availability in each of the caps. All statistical analyses were performed using the SAS 9.2 (SAS Institute Inc., USA) software.

3. Results

3.1 Basic characteristics of capping materials

There were strong differences in soil properties between the capping material types. The TC was approximately two-fold greater in PMM than in LFH-MS (Table 2-1). The TN ranged from 3.0 to 3.7 g kg⁻¹ in LFH-MS and from 2.8 to 3.4 g kg⁻¹ in PMM, with no significant differences between the two capping materials. The C to N ratio of LFH-MS and PMM organic caps did not differ significantly due to large variability in the dataset. The pH was higher in PMM than in LFH-MS and higher in the 0-10 than in the 10-20 cm layer (Table 2-1). The EC was generally low in both LFH-MS and PMM, indicating the non-saline nature of the LFH-MS

and PMM (Table 2-1). Between 2011 and 2012, soil water content (SWC) was similar in PMM and LFH-MS. The SWC was greater in the PMM than in the LFH-MS plots and ranged from 16.2 to 23.4% in the LFH-MS and 28.8 to 29.5% in the PMM plots when the 0-10 and 10-20 cm layers were considered together (data not shown).

3.2 Microbial biomass C and N

Soil MBC was consistently the greatest in the 0–10 cm layer in LFH-MS and the lowest in the 10-20 cm layer in PMM (Table 2-2). Soil MBC was significantly affected by capping material type, sampling depth and time, and their interactions (Table 2-3); the effect of time of sampling was greater in 2012 than in 2011 (Table 2-2). The MBC was consistently greater in the 0-10 cm than in the 10-20 cm layer. Soil MBN response to the treatments was similar to that of MBC, but did not show as much variation among sampling months. The greatest MBN was found in the 0-10 cm layer in LFH-MS in 2011 and 2012 (4.4 mg N kg⁻¹, on average, same below), followed by the 10-20 cm layer in LFH-MS (2.9 mg N kg⁻¹) and 0-10 cm layer in PMM (2.7 mg N kg⁻¹), and was consistently lowest in the 10-20 cm layer in PMM (2.2 mg N kg⁻¹).

3.3 Available N

Available N (NH₄⁺-N and NO₃⁻-N) was significantly influenced by the organic capping material type, and the sampling depth and time (Tables 2-2 and 2-3). Concentrations of NH₄⁺-N and NO₃⁻-N were generally the highest in the 0-10 cm layer of LFH-MS and the lowest in the 10-20 cm layer of PMM (Table 2-2). Mean NH₄⁺-N availability was 4.2 mg N kg⁻¹ in 2011 and 4.8 mg N kg⁻¹ in 2012. Mean NO₃⁻-N increased from 3.6 in 2011 to 6.3 mg N kg⁻¹ in 2012. Changes in NO₃⁻-N of each organic capping material from 2011 to 2012 followed a pattern similar to that of the NH₄⁺-N. The magnitude of these changes, however, was greater for the NO₃⁻-N than for the NH₄⁺-N (Table 2-2). Both of the NH₄⁺-N and NO₃⁻-N concentrations were greater in the fall than in the summer.

The N supply measured using the PRS probes was approximately 50% greater in LFH-MS than in PMM over the entire study (Table 2-4). The dominant form of N supply was NO_3^- -N in both capping materials. During incubation from September 2011 to May 2012, the greatest NO_3^- -N supply occurred in LFH-MS. However, NH_4^+ -N supply was below detection limit during incubation from September 2011 to May 2012.

3.4 Soil enzyme activities

Interactions between organic capping material types, sampling depths and sampling times significantly affected activities of NAGase, arylamidase, protease and urease in both 2011 and 2012 (Table 2-3). The NAGase activity was significantly greater in the 0-10 cm layer of LFH-MS than in the other treatments. However, in most sampling times, differences between the 10-20 cm layer of LFH-MS and both layers of PMM were non-significant. NAGase activity varied from 2011 to 2012 by 46, 29, 9 and 8% for LFH-MS 0-10, LFH-MS 10-20, PMM 0-10 and PMM 10-20 cm, respectively (Figure 2-2a). Arylamidase and protease activities followed a similar trend to that of NAGase activity (Figure 2-2b and c). Both arylamidase and protease activities from summer to fall in 2012 was twice as high in LFH-MS as that in PMM. Urease activity declined from 2011 to 2012, with the greatest reduction in the 10-20 cm layer of LFH-MS (17.8%) and 0-10 cm layer of PMM (16.3%) (Figure 2-2d).

3.5 Linkages among soil properties

Many of the strong correlations were observed among SWC, pH, NH₄⁺-N, NO₃⁻-N, activities of NAGase, protease, arylamidase and urease, MBC, and MBN (Table 2-5). The SWC, pH and the soil enzyme activities in LFH-MS were significantly correlated with response variables representing N availability. Similarly, NH₄⁺-N and NO₃⁻-N were significantly correlated with soil enzyme activities in PMM. The NH₄⁺-N and NO₃⁻-N were significantly correlated with SWC in LFH-MS, but not in PMM. Regression analysis indicated that available N was positively related with NAGase, arylamidase, protease and urease activities in both organic capping materials (Figure 2-3).

4. Discussion

A key finding of our study is that four and five years after incorporation the two most common organic capping materials used for oil sands reclamation in northern Alberta had contrasting soil properties (e.g., MBC, MBN, activities of NAGase, arylamidase, protease and urease, and N availability), consistent with previous findings in reclaimed soils in the area (McMillan et al., 2007; MacKenzie and Quideau, 2010). The differences in soil properties affected N availability and as such could influence early ecosystem development. The two capping materials differed in total C, MBC and MBN and, therefore, likely had different decomposition potentials. The narrower C to N ratio in LFH-MS indicated more decomposed OM and a greater potential of N availability through OM mineralization relative to PMM. Greater microbial activity would result in greater OM decomposition and the lower organic matter C to N ratio in LFH-MS supported higher MBC and MBN in LFH-MS as compared with PMM (Hahn and Quideau, 2013).

Soil enzyme activities are considered soil quality indicators in the reclamation of disturbed ecosystems in the oil sands region (Dimitriu et al., 2010). The greater NAGase, arylamidase and protease activities in LFH-MS than in PMM in the 0–10 cm layer in our study is consistent with the greater N availability in LFH-MS than in PMM. The lower enzyme activities, and MBC and MBN in the 10–20 cm than in the 0–10 cm layer in both organic capping materials may be explained by the changes in nutrient levels, soil pH, SWC and O₂ concentrations with depth (Ekenler and Tabatabai, 2004; Eilers et al., 2012). Among them, soil pH likely was the most influential factor (Table 2-1). Soil pH strongly affects abiotic and biotic factors such as C and nutrient cycling processes (Kemmit et al., 2006) and microbial population composition (Will et al., 2010). Acidic soil pH favours fungal growth, whereas neutral or alkaline soil pH promotes bacterial growth (Will et al., 2010). Hence, changes in microbial population composition caused by soil pH may also influence soil enzyme activities since many enzymes exhibit pH optima (Baldrian et al., 2008). Thus, soil enzyme activities are affected by pH and composition of the soil microbial community (e.g., enzymes originating from different organisms have different pH optima) and location of the enzyme in the soil matrix (e.g., intracellular, free in solution, or adsorbed on solid surfaces) (Turner, 2010). Thus, soil enzyme activities in our study were different between 0-10 and 10-20 cm soil layers. However, it is difficult to pinpoint whether these changes were associated with soil pH alone or other confounding factors since we have not determined the partition in fungal and bacterial biomass in this study (Rousk et al., 2009). Different soil enzyme activities between 0 and 10 and 10 and 20 cm layers in this study might also be related to the higher aeration (Ellis and Atherton, 2003) and the greater amount of soluble C compounds added by plant roots in surface than in deeper soil layers (Will et al., 2010).

Another important indicator for potential reclamation success in the oil sands region is N availability. We observed greater available N (NH_4^+ -N and NO_3^- -N) in LFH-MS than in PMM.

The greater N availability indicates greater N mineralization in LFH-MS than in PMM that was linked with the narrower C to N ratio in LFH-MS (Brown and Naeth, 2014; Yan et al., 2012). The greater NO_3 -N than NH_4^+ -N in both LFH-MS and PMM indicated that in those highly disturbed reclaimed soils nitrification activities were high (McMillan et al., 2007). This is in contrast with the low nitrification activities in natural forest soils in the vicinity of the study site (Yan et al., 2012). The low nitrification activities and the resultant low soil NO₃⁻N concentrations in natural forests are typically affected by the low soil pH (Fisher and Binkley, 2000). For example, in the 21 stands studied in Yan et al. (2012), with the exception of two stands that had pH of 5.94 and 6.02, the other 19 stands had pH ranging between 3.67 and 4.95 (Chang et al., unpublished data). Because the LFH-MS and PMM were mixed with mineral soil and the mixing with mineral soils increased the pH of those reclamation material (pH ranged from 5.70 to 7.50, Table 2-1), those higher pH and the physical disturbance likely encouraged soil nitrification activities (Kaur et al., 2010). Between the two organic capping types, NO₃⁻N was more predominant in PMM than in LFH-MS, again likely attributable to the higher pH in PMM than in LFH-MS. The higher pH in PMM than in LFH-MS is consistent with earlier studies on reclaimed oil sands soils (Mackenzie and Naeth, 2010; MacKenzie and Quideau, 2012). The nitrification process is known to be more pH dependent than the ammonification process and nitrification activity can be inhibited at low pH (Myrold, 2005). The strong positive correlations among soil enzyme activities, NH4⁺⁻N, NO3⁻-N, SWC, pH, MBC, and MBN suggest that enzyme activities and N availability are affected by both biotic and abiotic factors (Tan et al., 2008). The stronger relationships between N availability, NAGase, arylamidase and protease in LFH-MS than in PMM were similar to previous studies where it was shown that activities of NAGase (Andersson et al., 2004), arylamidase (Muruganandam et al., 2009) and protease (Lucas and Casper, 2008) have been associated with soil fungal biomass. Hence, we suggest that enzyme activities in this study may be dependent on mycorrhizal (part of the total fungal community) biomass, as indicated in Brown and Naeth (2014).

Mycorrhizae fungi often dominate the microbial biomass in forest soils and litter and LFH material and many mycorrhizal fungi produce extracellular enzymes that catalyze C, N and phosphorus mineralization from OM and litter material (Smith and Read, 2008). Mycorrhizae fungi are also capable of utilizing some organic forms of N such as amino acids (Burke et al., 2011). The very low urease activity in our study is similar to the oil sands study of Dimitriu et al.

(2010) and this might have been linked to the low availability of urease specific substrate in the studied soils. Different soil chemical properties such as soil pH of organic capping material may have influenced soil enzyme activities (Table 2-5). The lower enzyme activity in PMM than in LFH might be linked to the pH of PMM. Seasonal changes in soil temperature, water content and pH typically affect organic substrate availability and soil microbial activities and processes (Baldrian et al., 2008). The seasonal changes may facilitate production of organic substrates for microbes, which in turn affect microbial processes. Thus, seasonality may affect microbial activity and decomposition of OM (Corre et al., 2002).

Fresh litter input to soils that mainly occur in the fall provides an important substrate and energy source for soil microorganisms that enhance microbial activities and SOM decomposition, in the form of positive priming effects (Kuzyakov et al., 2000). The higher MBC, MBN, soil enzyme activities and available N in the fall in this study were likely a result of the addition of labile C from fresh litter input, because soil temperature had no relationship with (and were thus not limiting) those studied parameters. Similarly, Baldrian et al. (2008) found that peak soil enzyme activities and MBC in October was associated with input of fresh litter in their study. The activities of NAGase (Burke et al., 2011), protease (Werdin-Pfisterer et al., 2012), arylamidase (Acosta-Martinez and Tabatabai, 2000) and urease (Cochran et al., 1989) can increase due to fresh litter input. Burke et al. (2011) found that decomposition of litter on the soil surface in late summer could have liberated and transported organic and inorganic compounds from litter into the soil which altered ectomycorrhizal and microbial activities, increasing N availability. The vegetation cover and soil water content in our study also changed from summer to fall and contributed to a greater change in organic substrate availability in LFH-MS than in PMM. Changes in the composition of vegetation and SWC between the study periods and sites with different organic capping materials could change the priming effect (Criquet et al., 2002; Schaaf et al., 2011). For example, in a study conducted on our site (Brown and Naeth, 2014) vegetation cover and plant species richness were greater in LFH-MS than in PMM plots.

Therefore, greater vegetation cover in LFH-MS than in PMM would mean greater priming effect in the former than in the latter. Greater cover and species richness would contribute to greater and diverse litterfall that might have caused the greater effect in LFH-MS than in PMM plots. However, it is not possible to directly quantify effects of litter fall on N availability and

associated enzyme activities in this study, since we have not measured litter fall during the study period. In general, annually litter fall from herbaceous plants can comprise as much as 16% of forest litter fall (Gilliam, 2007). Waldrop and Firestone (2006) indicated that both seasonal soil water and C substrate differences were caused by differences in aboveground vegetation.

Soil pH and EC in both organic capping treatments were within the acceptable range according to Alberta Tier 1 guidelines (Alberta Environmental Protection, 1994) for the oil sands region. The higher pH and EC in PMM may be due to the alkaline nature of salvaged mineral material in the oil sands region (Fung and Macyk, 2000). In general, we considered LFH-MS as a better soil material than PMM because most of the studied soil properties for LFH-MS were better suited (such as having higher N availabilities) for vegetation development than those of PMM. The LFH-MS material may also provide more native seeds and propagules for revegetation than PMM (Mackenzie and Naeth, 2007) that can help to expedite ecosystem development in oil sands reclamation (Naeth et al., 2013). However, the availability of LFH-MS for reclamation is generally more limited (Naeth et al., 2013). In addition, the long-term effect of LFH-MS and PMM application for land reclamation is not very well understood and should be further studied in the future.

5. Conclusions

The two organic capping materials commonly used for land reclamation in the oil sands region had contrasting properties. The LFH-MS was a capping material that had a better quality than the PMM for land reclamation in the oil sands region in Alberta, based on its greater N availability and its ability to support greater enzyme activities. The N availability and enzyme activities were highly related and greater N availability in the capping material will reduce the risk of N deficiencies and minimize the need for N fertilization in developing ecosystems after land reclamation. This calls for reclamation policies that promote careful planning for salvaging LFH-MS materials and using them for land reclamation in the oil sands region, to take advantage of the existence of LFH-MS materials that are considered superior than peat materials.

Organic capping pH		EC ^a	TC ^b	TN ^c	C to M ^d
type and depth (cm)		$(dS m^{-1})$	$(g kg^{-1})$	$(g kg^{-1})$	C to N
LFH-MS 0- 10	6.55b [†]	0.02a	56.8b	3.7a	17.0a
LFH-MS 10-20	5.70c	0.03a	54.2b	3.0a	21.5a
PMM 0-10	7.50a	0.06a	102.0a	2.8a	37.7a
PMM 10-20	6.60b	0.04a	107.0a	3.4a	46.5a
Two-way ANOVA					
Organic capping	***	ns	**	ns	ns
Depth	***	ns	ns	ns	ns
capping* depth	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns

Table 2-1 Selected properties as determined 4 years after oil sands reclamation of LFH mineral soil mix (LFH-MS) and peat mineral soil mix (PMM) organic capping materials.

[†]Means with different lowercase letters indicate significant difference between organic capping and their depths in each column p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; ***, p < 0.001; and ns, not significant Abbreviations: ^aEC = electrical conductivity, ^bTC = total C, ^cTN = total N, and ^dC to N = C to N ratio

Soil	Capping type	2011						2012					
process "	and depth (cm)	Jun.	Jul.	Aug.	Sept.	Oct.		Jun.	Jul.	Aug.	Sept.	Oct.	
MBC	LFH-MS 0-10	19.7a [†]	15.8a	20.0a	12.5a	18.3a		33.7a	24.3a	9.6a	31.1a	35.2a	
$(mg C kg^{-1})$	LFH-MS 10-20	8.4b	6.3b	10.3b	7.9ab	8.7b		9.9b	16.2b	6.2bc	18.6b	20.2b	
	PMM 0-10	7.7b	8.6b	9.6b	6.7ab	11.9ab		27.0a	13.6bc	9.0ab	15.3b	17.1b	
	PMM 10-20	5.5b	4.3b	4.1b	4.1b	4.0b		6.1b	6.3c	4.3c	7.1c	7.9c	
MBN	LFH-MS 0-10	4.6a	4.0a	4.9a	3.1a	4.3a		5.7a	4.5a	1.9a	5.0a	4.5a	
$(mg N kg^{-1})$	LFH-MS 10-20	2.7ab	2.3b	3.8ab	2.4ab	2.2b		3.0ab	3.2a	1.2ab	3.8ab	3.8ab	
	PMM 0-10	3.0ab	2.6b	3.0b	2.3ab	3.9a		4.2ab	3.7a	1.5ab	3.1ab	1.5b	
	PMM 10-20	2.4b	1.9b	2.7b	1.3b	2.8ab		2.2b	3.0a	1.0ab	2.2b	2.0ab	
NH4 ⁺ -N	LFH-MS 0-10	2.6a	3.9a	7.5a	3.6a	7.6a		4.3a	6.1a	6.5a	6.6a	7.6a	
$(mg N kg^{-1})$	LFH-MS 10-20	1.9b	2.5b	6.4b	2.8b	5.7ab		2.4ab	5.4a	6.4a	6.5a	6.4ab	
	PMM 0-10	2.4ab	3.2b	7.3ab	2.6b	6.4a		2.8ab	4.1a	5.4ab	5.2ab	5.9ab	
	PMM 10-20	1.9b	2.6b	5.0c	3.1a	4.2b		1.7b	2.6b	2.8b	3.9b	4.0b	
NO ₃ -N	LFH-MS 0-10	3.0a	4.9a	5.4a	6.2a	8.0a		5.5a	6.4a	6.7ab	9.8ab	10.8ab	
$(mg N kg^{-1})$	LFH-MS 10-20	1.3c	1.6c	3.4b	3.5b	4.8bc		2.8b	3.4b	4.8b	5.7b	6.0b	
	PMM 0-10	2.1b	2.9b	3.6b	3.8b	6.5ab		4.9a	7.5a	8.8a	10.5a	11.2a	
	PMM 10-20	1.2c	1.7c	1.9c	2.5c	4.4c		2.2b	3.7b	5.1b	5.6b	5.6b	

Table 2-2 Effects of organic capping types on selected soil properties in organic caps used for oil sands reclamation.

[†]Means with different lowercase letters indicate significant difference between organic capping and their depths in each column ^a soil property: MBC: microbial biomass C, MBN: microbial biomass N, NH_4^+ -N: 2 mol L^{-1} KCl extracted ammonium, NO_3^- -N: 2 mol L^{-1} KCl extracted nitrate

Soil	Саррі	ng type	De	pth	Capping	g type ×	Time		Capping	g type ×	Depth	× Time	Capping	g type ×
		0 91			De	pth			Ti	me			Depth	× Time
processes	F value	<i>p</i> value												
							2011							
MBC	83.4	< 0.001	104.8	< 0.001	32.8	< 0.001	23.4	< 0.001	7.8	< 0.001	1.6	0.188	1.4	0.238
MBN	28.4	< 0.001	66.8	< 0.001	7.0	< 0.015	15.2	< 0.001	3.6	0.002	8.7	< 0.001	1.3	0.290
NH ₄ -N	18.8	< 0.001	32.5	< 0.001	0.1	0.739	74.1	< 0.001	2.1	0.019	1.4	0.249	2.4	0.057
NO ₃ -N	84.8	< 0.001	169.2	< 0.001	12.9	0.001	82.1	< 0.001	1.9	0.044	2.3	0.068	1.1	0.382
NAGase	60.8	< 0.001	28.8	< 0.001	14.3	0.001	18.4	< 0.001	3.7	< 0.001	0.7	0.594	0.5	0.715
UR	31.7	< 0.001	66.4	< 0.001	2.7	0.110	114.5	< 0.001	2.3	0.013	4.6	0.002	0.3	0.881
PRT	165.0	< 0.001	125	< 0.001	2.9	0.104	21.3	< 0.001	7.1	< 0.001	9.0	< 0.001	4.4	0.003
ARA	345.7	< 0.001	296.3	< 0.001	14.3	0.001	53.9	< 0.001	6.8	< 0.001	18.9	< 0.001	0.3	0.877
							2012							
MBC	107.7	< 0.001	118.7	< 0.001	1.5	0.241	32.8	< 0.001	8.4	< 0.001	17.1	< 0.001	0.7	0.583
MBN	16.4	< 0.001	12.8	0.001	0.9	0.362	14.2	< 0.001	1.8	0.055	3.3	0.014	0.3	0.850
NH ₄ -N	13.6	< 0.001	21.2	0.002	0.8	0.371	21.3	< 0.001	0.6	0.799	0.5	0.741	0.3	0.860
NO ₃ -N	39.6	< 0.001	60.6	< 0.001	2.4	0.139	32.3	< 0.001	2.0	0.028	5.3	0.001	0.2	0.913
NAGase	121.1	< 0.001	38.1	< 0.001	25.6	< 0.001	36.9	< 0.001	10.0	< 0.001	6.6	0.001	3.6	0.061
UR	140.4	< 0.001	231.9	< 0.001	16.7	0.006	185.7	< 0.001	10.0	< 0.001	24.4	< 0.001	9.7	0.081
PRT	112.0	< 0.001	89.7	< 0.001	9.3	0.01	16.6	< 0.001	4.1	< 0.001	8.5	< 0.001	1.9	0.125
ARA	394.1	< 0.001	346.5	< 0.001	19.1	< 0.001	126.6	< 0.001	27.1	< 0.001	46.9	< 0.001	9.4	0.058

Table 2-3	Effects of	organic	capping type	denth	time and	their interact	tions on soil	processes in	n oil sands	reclamation
	Liters of	orguine	cupping type,	uopun,	time una	mon mitoruo			ii oli sullus	roorannation.

^a Soil property: MBC = microbial biomass C, MBN = microbial biomass N, NAGase = β -1, 4-N-acetylglucosaminidase, UR = Urease, PRT = Protease, ARA = Arylamidase

Incubation	NO ₃ ⁻ N		NH_4^+ -N		Mineral N	
period	LFH-MS	PMM	LFH-MS	PMM	LFH-MS	PMM
Jun. to Sept.	4.4b	0.6b	1.7bc	0.4c	6.1abc	1.0c
2011						
Sept. 2011 to	10.9a	3.9b	ND	ND	11.0a	4.0bc
May 2012						
May to Oct.	2.9b	2.4b	1.4bc	1.1bc	4.3bc	3.4bc
2012						
Oct. 2012 to	3.7b	4.2b	3.4a	2.1b	7.0ab	6.2abc
Jul. 2013						
Total	22.1a	11.1b	6.4a	3.5b	28.5a	14.6a
Repeated Measur	es ANOVA					
Capping type	**	:	*>	k	**	
Time	**	:	**	k	**	
Capping type*	*			-	*	
Time			n	5		

Table 2-4 Soil N supply (µg N per 10 cm²), measured using Plant Root Simulator (PRS TM) probes, in LFH-MS and PMM organic capping materials used for oil sands reclamation.

p < 0.05; ******, *p* < 0.01; *******, and ns; not significant

[†]Means with different lowercase letters indicate significant difference between organic capping materials ^a Abbreviations: ND = not detected

Variable ^a	SWC	MBC N	MBN	$\mathrm{NH_4}^+$	NO ₃ ⁻	AN	NAGase	UR	PRT	ARA	Stemp	pН
	LFH-MS											
MBC	0.48**											
MBN	0.35**	0.52**										
NH_4^+N	0.31**	0.49** (0.15									
NO ₃ ⁻ -N	0.31**	0.58** (0.21*	0.72**								
AN	0.33**	0.57** (0.19*	0.94**	0.91**							
NAGase	0.50**	0.45** (0.21*	0.58^{**}	0.71**	0.69**						
UR	0.34**	0.23** (0.07	0.52**	0.63**	0.61**	0.71**					
PRT	0.45**	0.59** (0.26**	0.63**	0.75**	0.74^{**}	0.75**	0.73**				
ARA	0.49**	0.61** (0.27**	0.75**	0.84**	0.86**	0.81**	0.71**	0.88^{**}			
Stemp	-0.29	-0.13 (0.05	-0.43	-0.39	-0.45	-0.52	-0.46	-0.35	-0.39		
pН	0.25**	0.51** (0.40**	0.24**	0.43**	0.35**	0.39**	0.44^{**}	0.60^{**}	0.48^{**}	0.02	
EC	-0.07	-0.06 -	-0.01	-0.01	0.10	-0.01	0.04	0.02	-0.02	0.05	-0.01	-0.08
	PMM											
MBC	0.19*											
MBN	0.05	0.41**										
NH4 ⁺ .N	0.10	0.35 (0.01									
NO ₃ ⁻ -N	0.09	0.46** (0.02	0.60^{**}								
AN	0.11	0.46** -	-0.01	0.85^{**}	0.93**							
NAGase	0.04	0.25** (0.01	0.32**	0.42**	0.43**						
UR	0.20^{*}	0.17 (0.05	0.49**	0.53**	0.57**	0.42**					
PRT	0.16	0.49** (0.12	0.43**	0.65**	0.62**	0.38**	0.53**				
ARA	0.08	0.42** (0.08	0.51**	0.71**	0.67**	0.45**	0.63**	0.88^{**}			
Stemp	-0.36	-0.27 -	-0.04	-0.29	-0.37	-0.37	-0.36	-0.46	-0.31	-0.28		
pН	-0.02	0.47 (0.23**	0.27^{**}	0.36**	0.34**	0.17	0.28**	0.69**	0.66**	0.03	
EC	-0.21	0.07 (0.06	-0.01	0.04	0.03	0.04	0.11	0.21	0.10	-0.02	0.22

Table 2-5 Pearson correlation coefficient (r-value) and significance⁺ among soil variables in LFH and PMM organic caps used for oil sands reclamation (n=120).

^{+*}Significant at the p < 0.05 level ^{**} Significant at the p < 0.01 level

^a Variables: SWC: soil water content, MBC: microbial biomass C, MBN: microbial biomass N, NH₄⁺: ammonium, NO₃⁻: nitrate, AN: available N, NAGase: β- 1, 4-N- acetylglucosaminidase, UR: urease, PRT: protease, ARA: arylamidase, Stemp: soil temperature EC: electrical conductivity, pH



Figure 2-1 Monthly precipitation (bars) and mean monthly air temperature (line) during sampling periods.



Figure 2-2 Changes in (a) β -1, 4-N-acetylglucosaminidase, (b) arylamidase, (c) protease and (d) urease activities in LFH-MS and PMM from June to September in both 2011 and 2012 in oil sands reclamation. Error bars indicate standard errors (n=6).



Figure 2-3 Relationships between N availability and (a) β -1, 4-N-acetylglucosaminidase (b) arylamidase, (c) protease, and (d) urease activities in LFH-MS and PMM.

CHAPTER 3 ORGANIC SUBSTRATE TYPE AND DIVERSITY ALTERED MICROBIAL PROCESSES IN ORGANIC CAPPING MATERIALS USED IN OIL SANDS RECLAMATION

1. Introduction

Microorganisms are involved in various ecosystem processes such as nutrient mineralization, decomposition and removal of toxic materials (Schimel and Bennett, 2004). These processes are affected by availability (Baldrian et al., 2008; Jamro et al., 2014) and nature (Orwin et al., 2006) of the substrates supporting microbial populations. Most processes are associated with conversion of complex substrates into easily decomposable compounds that microorganisms then assimilate for growth and metabolism (Nilsson et al., 2008). In all terrestrial ecosystems, plants add diverse organic materials to the soil in various forms such as leaf litter and root exudates which may create a variety of niches to support a diverse microbial community (Zak et al., 2003). The diverse microbial community can substantially influence soil processes (Hooper and Vitousek, 1997; Dehlin et al., 2006), soil chemistry (Orwin et al., 2006), soil enzyme activities (Hernandez and Hobbie, 2010), decomposition of OM and nitrogen (N) cycling processes (Loreau, 2001).

Two of the mechanisms that may affect the microbial composition and their processes are lability of substrates that affects availability of easily accessible energy for the microorganisms (Blagodatskaya and Kuzyakov, 2008) and the diversity of substrates which may influence the microbial diversity and the microbial exploitation of their functional niches (Hamer and Marschner, 2005). Availability of diverse substrates enhances the ability of soil microorganisms to decompose complex substrates (Fontaine et al., 2003; Hamer and Marschner, 2005) and increases the soil enzyme activities since the enzymes are required for decomposition of complex organic substrates (Hamer and Marschner, 2005). Thus, the type and diversity of organic substrates could alter microbial niches, and multi-trophic interactions in disturbed and reconstructed ecosystems (Zhang et al., 2011; Saleem and Moe, 2014) such as those in the Athabasca oil sands region (AOSR), one of the largest disturbed ecosystems in the world (Alberta Government, 2015). Understanding the effect of organic substrate type and diversity on specific soil processes will help to design optimal reclamation practices using these types of capping materials.

Oil sands reclamation predominantly involves use of peat-mineral soil mix (PMM) as an organic capping material to establish ecosystems in a dramatically altered landscape due to large amounts of peat available in the mining foot print (Fung and Macyk, 2000). However, wider carbon to nitrogen ratio (C to N) (Jamro et al., 2014), inactive microbial community (Beasse et al., 2015) and nutrient limitation (Duan et al., 2015) are considered key factors affecting microbial processes and raised concern for sustainability of ecosystem re-establishment in oil the sands region. Another commonly used source of organic capping material, LFH (litter (L), fragmented and partially decomposed litter (F) and highly decomposed humus (H) material) mineral soil mix (LFH-MS) (Mackenzie and Naeth, 2007), is considered a better reclamation material to expedite re-establishment of a functioning ecosystem (Naeth et al., 2013; Brown and Naeth, 2014) due to its narrower C to N ratio, higher soil enzyme activities, nitrogen (N) availability (Jamro et al., 2015; Kwak et al., 2015a) and more diverse microbial community composition (Beasse et al., 2015) than PMM.

Studies on organic substrate diversity effects on microbial processes have used plant species composition and their diversity as a proxy for changes in organic substrate inputs (Orwin et al., 2006; Hernandez and Hobbie, 2010) in natural ecosystems. Few have studied organic substrate diversity effects on microbial processes in reclaimed ecosystems such as in the AOSR, where microbial processes and function largely depend on exogenous organic input (Noah et al., 2014) or organic capping type (Kwak et al., 2016) and the type of vegetation that re-establishes on the disturbed sites (Dimitriu et al., 2010). The LFH-MS supports a more diverse microbial processes (Jamro et al., 2014) than PMM due to the greater vegetation diversity and cover on sites with LFH-MS as an organic capping material (Brown and Naeth, 2014).

Increasing organic substrate diversity could be a potential strategy to establish a diverse soil microbial community for enhancing early establishment of a new ecosystem in oil sands reclamation. We hypothesized that 1) microbial processes would be affected by type and diversity of organic substrates available in the soil; and 2) the effect of type and diversity of organic substrates on microbial processes depends on the organic capping material used for oil sands reclamation due to differences in quality (Jamro et al., 2014) and botanical origin (Turcotte et al., 2009). This study will provide a better mechanistic understanding of the impact of organic substrate and organic capping type on ecosystem functioning and aid in oil sands reclamation.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Site description

A detailed description of the research site used for collecting the LFH-MS and PMM capping materials is provided in a previous study by Brown and Naeth (2014). The research site is located on an oil sands lease about 24 km north of Fort McMurray in the AOSR, Alberta, Canada. The area is characterized by a continental boreal climate where winters are long and cold and summers are short and warm with a mean annual temperature of 1.0 °C from 1981 to 2010 (Environment Canada, 2015). Mean annual precipitation is 419 mm, which mostly falls as rain (316. mm) during the summer (Environment Canada, 2015).

A total of 36 randomly located $10 \times 30 \text{ m}^2$ plots were established between November 2007 and February 2008. Half of the 120 plots were covered with LFH-MS and the other half with PMM. The LFH-MS was salvaged from the LFH-MS of a mesic aspen white spruce mixed forest and applied to a depth of 20 cm, over 30 cm of mixed B and C horizon subsoil. The PMM was applied to a depth of 30 cm over 100 cm clean overburden. In the first year of plot establishment, the LFH-MS plots were covered with 65% of diverse plant species including forbs, grasses, sedges and woody species, while PMM plots were covered with 33% of vegetation cover mainly with grasses (Brown and Naeth, 2014). The vegetation cover was increased from the first year to fifth year after reclamation (Forsch, 2014). The litter cover was increased from 7.3 to 82.8 % in LFH-MS and from 4.2 to 58.4 % in PMM over three years after reclamation (Forsch, 2014).

2.2 Experimental design, sampling and processing of soil

The study involves two organic capping materials, LFH-MS and PMM, and three organic substrates, one each of glucose, alanine and acetic acid, representing three main groups of organic compounds such as carbohydrates, amino and carboxylic acids. These compounds are commonly available in litter fall and root exudates and differ in their chemical composition (Lynch and Whipps, 1990). Glucose is the most common example of labile carbon and simple carbohydrate which initiates the microbial activity immediately after the addition in soil (Van Hees et al., 2005). Alanine is a simple amino acid containing very low N as compared to other amino acids (Hernández and Hobbie, 2010) and contributed 9-15% of total amino acid

composition of litterfall and root exudates from boreal forest (Werdin-Pfisterer et al., 2012). Acetic acid is a simple organic acid and aliphatic hydrocarbon compound with low complexing capacity with mineral soil (Keiluweit et al., 2015). The substrate treatments (number of treatments in brackets) comprised one treatment of each substrate (3), a pair of each substrate (3), mixture of all three substrates (1) and the control (no substrate applied and only water added), with each treatment replicated three times for each capping material. The LFH-MS and PMM samples were collected at 0-10 cm depth from the established quadrats using a soil auger (Jamro et al., 2014). The LFH-MS and PMM samples were transported to the laboratory in a cooler containing ice packs. Plant roots and other plant debris were carefully removed by hand followed by soil homogenization by passing the soil through a 2 mm sieve. The soil was stored at 4 °C in a refrigerator until used for the laboratory incubation experiment.

2.3 Incubation experiment procedures

Two sets (glass jars for microbial properties measurement and conical flask for CO₂ measurement) of each treatment were prepared and covered with aluminum foil with three tiny holes to allow air exchange. Twenty five grams (oven dry basis) of fresh soil was placed in a 250 mL conical flask; 250 g of soil was placed in 500 mL jars. The water content was adjusted to 60% water holding capacity (WHC) by weighing the jar or flask once every 5 days and adding deionized water when necessary. This WHC is considered within the optimum range of 50-70% for laboratory incubation of soils (Paul et al., 2001). The jars and flasks were placed in an incubator at 25 °C in the dark for one month prior to starting the experiment for maximizing the response of microbial processes to substrate addition, allowing most of the native labile C to respire (Orwin et al., 2006; Hernandez and Hobbie, 2010) and allowing the microorganisms to acclimatize to the laboratory incubation condition (Zeng et al., 2010).

Each substrate, with an equivalent application rate of 6 mg carbon (C) g^{-1} soil, was applied to each jar and flask and dissolved in 1 mL Milli-Q (Millipore, Bedford, MA) deionized water. The respective amount of each substrate treatment was repeatedly applied every six days until the end of experiment using a 10 mL syringe with a needle tip on the basis of stable microbial activity measured by carbon dioxide (CO₂) emission, where no further decline in microbial activity was observed in a preliminary study (data not shown). Only Milli-Q deionized water was added to the control treatment. Care was taken to ensure even distribution of substrate or

deionized water without saturating the soil, which could restrict CO_2 evolution from the sample. For soil property measurement, 50 g of soil sample was taken from each jar. Half of the soil was kept at 4 °C until analyses of soil enzymes, dissolved organic carbon (DOC), dissolved organic nitrogen (DON), soil community level physiological profiles (CLPPs), available nitrogen (N) (ammonium (NH₄⁺-N) and available nitrate (NO₃⁻-N). The other half was air dried and used for the measurement of total C, total N and pH as described below.

2.4 Laboratory measurement

2.4.1 Soil properties

Total C and total N concentrations were determined at initiation (0 day of incubation) and termination (after 60 days of incubation) of the experiment by dry combustion method using an automated elemental analyzer (NA-1500 series, Carlo Erba, Milan, Italy). The pH was measured using a digital DMP-2 mV/pH meter (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA) in a 1:2 (m:v) soil:0.01 mol L⁻¹ CaCl₂ (Kalra and Maynard, 1991). Fresh soil samples were extracted with 2 mol L⁻¹ KCl for NH_4^+ -N and NO_3^- -N analyses (Mulvaney, 1996). The extract was analyzed calorimetrically by the indophenol blue method for NH_4^+ -N (Keeny and Nelson 1982) and NO_3^- -N by the vanadium oxidation method (Miranda et al., 2001). The NH_4^+ -N, NO_3^- -N and pH were measured at 0, 1, 15, 30 and 60 days of incubation.

The fresh soil samples were extracted with a 0.5 mol L^{-1} K₂SO₄ solution at 1:10 (w:v) soil to solution ratio for DOC and DON concentrations. After shaking for one hour on a shaker (Eberbach Corp., Michigan, U.S.A), the extracts were filtered using Fisher Q2 filter papers. The C and N concentrations in the extractant were measured using a TOC-V_{CSN} analyzer (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan).

2.4.2 CO₂ emission rate

The CO₂ emission was measured at 0, 1, 3, 7, 10, 30 and 60 days after incubation. For each sampling time, flasks were capped to collect gas samples. Gas samples were taken at time 0 and 1 h after capping at each sampling time using a 20 mL gas tight syringe (BD Luer-LokTM Tip) and were injected into evacuated 10 mL glass vials (Isomass Exetainers) equipped with a septa. The gas samples were analyzed using a gas chromatograph (Varian GC-3800, Mississauga,

Canada) equipped with a thermal conductivity detector. The rate of CO₂ emission (mg CO₂-C g^{-1} soil hr^{-1}) was calculated from the changes in concentration between time 0 and 1 h samplings.

2.4.3 Soil enzyme activities

The activities of five extracellular enzymes involved in C and N cycling, including Nacetyl- β -D-glucosaminidase (Enzyme classificationnumber (ECN), ECN 3.2.1.14), β glucosidase (ECN 3.2.1.21), esterase (ECN 3.1.1.1), phenol oxidase (ECN 1.10.3.2) and alanyl aminopeptidase (AlaAP) (EC 3.4.11.2) were measured at 0, 10, 30 and 60 days of incubation.

For NAGase, β -glucosidase, esterase, phenol oxidase and AlaAP measurement, soil sample suspensions were prepared by placing one gram of fresh soil in a 250 mL nalgene bottle. A 125 mL of sodium acetate buffer (50 mmol L⁻¹, pH 5) was added to the bottle, and the suspension was homogenized using a magnetic stir plate until suspensions were transferred into black 96 well plates for determining NAGase, β -glucosidase, and esterase activities (Sinsabaugh et al., 2003). A 200 µL soil suspension and 50 µL 200 µmol L⁻¹ substrate were pipetted onto each plate. Soil background wells, quench controls and reference standards were then added to each plate. The plates were placed in an incubator for three hours at 20 °C in the dark. A 20 µL of 0.5 mol L⁻¹ NaOH was added to each plate using an auto dispenser to stop the enzymatic reaction. After the incubation, fluorescence was measured at 360 nm excitation and 460 nm emissions using a multi-detection microplate reader (Bio-Tek Instruments, Synergy HT, Winooski, VT).

Phenol oxidase and AlaAP activities were measured using the colorimetric method (Stursova et al., 2006). Phenol oxidase was measured in clear microplates containing 50 μ L of 25 mM L⁻¹ dihydroxyphenylalanine (L- DOPA); color development was measured at 460 nm after incubation at 20 °C for 24 hours. For AlaAP activity 7-amino-4-methylcourmarin-linked substrate was used and incubation was done at 20 °C in the dark for 24 hours. After incubation, absorbance was measured at 460 nm using the multi-detection microplate reader. All enzyme activities (nmol of substrate g⁻¹ h⁻¹) were calculated on soil mass on an oven dry mass basis.

2.4.4 Soil microbial community level physiological profile

Soil bacterial CLPPs were determined at termination of the laboratory incubation experiment using Biolog Ecoplate (Biolog Inc., California, USA) containing 31 C substrates. Five grams of each soil sample were placed into a sterile test tube with 45 mL of 0.87% sterilized sodium chloride (NaCl) solution. The soil suspension was shaken for 30 min and diluted for 1×10^4 times. A 125 µL aliquot from each suspension was inoculated into each well of an Ecoplate. Each Ecoplate was incubated at 25 °C in the dark. Optical density of each well was read at 750 nm every 24 h for a total of 168 h using a microplate reader (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, California). The final color development in each well was calculated as optical density by subtracting the values at 420 nm.

Two sets of CLPP data average well color development (AWCD) and area under the curve (*A*), were assessed with optical density values. The AWCD data were calculated as follows from the equation (Garland and Mills, 1991): AWCD = Σ (C-R)/n, where *C* is color production within each well, *R* is the absorbance value of the control well and *n* represents the number of C sources used in an Ecoplate.

2.5 Statistical analyses

The effect of substrate type and diversity on OM quality measured as total C, total N, C to N ratio and pH was analyzed using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) for each capping material. A principal component analysis (PCA) was used to determine the effect of different substrate treatments on CLPPs. A repeated measures ANOVA was used to assess the effect of substrate diversity and identity and sampling time on soil enzyme activities, N availability, DOC, DON and CO₂ emission rate. Time of sampling during incubation was used as the repeated measures variable. Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) test was used to determine the significance of the effect of substrate diversity on microbial processes in each capping material. The data were checked for normality and homogeneity of variance using a Shapiro-Wilk test and Bartlett test, respectively, before performing the ANOVA. To confirm the effects of mixture of substrates on microbial processes, expected values were calculated on the basis of values obtained when the substrate was applied singly and in combination in each substrate, and subtracted from values in the mixture. The difference of each parameter was assessed for significance using a paired t test. Pearson correlation analysis was conducted to determine the relationship between microbial processes and soil properties. An α value of 0.05 was used to indicate significant differences in all analyses. All analyses were performed using the Statistix 8.1 (Analytical software, Tallahassee, FL) software except the PCA which was performed using the Vegan Package in the R software.

3. Results

3.1 Characteristics of the organic capping materials

Initial properties of the organic capping materials prior to the substrate treatments application were significantly different between LFH-MS and PMM (Table 3-1). Total C, total N and pH were significantly higher in PMM than in LFH-MS, while C to N ratio did not differ between the two (p>0.05). Type and diversity of the organic substrate employed significantly altered total C, total N, C to N ratio and pH for both LFH-MS and the PMM (Table 3-1). In LFH-MS, lowest total C was in the acetic acid treatment (8.7 g kg⁻¹) and highest was in the alanine treatment (47.5 g kg⁻¹) (Table 3-1).

On average (data not shown), when organic substrates were applied singly, the greatest decrease in total C was in the acetic acid treatment (approximately -78%) relative to the control, followed by the glucose treatment (-60%); the alanine treatment increased (26%) total C. High organic substrate diversity markedly decreased total C relative to the control for LFH-MS and PMM. The decrease (% not shown) in total C was -48% (mixture of all substrates) to -12%(acetic acid + alanine) in LFH-MS and -92% (glucose + acetic acid) to -34% (glucose) relative to the control in PMM. Application of alanine increased total N in LFH-MS when applied either singly or in a mixture of organic substrates (glucose + acetic acid), while application of glucose and acetic acid significantly decreased total N relative to the control (Table 3-1). In PMM, total N significantly decreased following all organic substrate treatments relative to the control. Total N was 0.80 g kg⁻¹ (mixture of all organic substrates) to 1.67 g kg⁻¹ (glucose), while that of the control (2.05 g kg⁻¹) was highest in PMM. The C to N ratio was 9.2 (acetic acid) to 31.1 (control). In general, applying a mixture of two or three substrates resulted in lower C to N ratios relative to the control in LFH-MS. In PMM, the C to N ratio was 9.1 (glucose+acetic acid) to 38.2 (alanine). Application of glucose and acetic acid decreased the C to N ratio in most cases relative to the control and alanine (Table 3-1).

The pH was more affected by substrate type than by organic substrate diversity in LFH-MS and PMM capping materials. Acetic acid application consistently reduced the pH, whereas glucose and alanine applications increased it relative to the control regardless of capping material. In LFH-MS, the pH was 4.68 (acetic acid + alanine) to 6.79 (glucose), while in PMM, it was 5.72 (acetic acid) to 7.21 (glucose).

3.2 Community-level physiological profiles (CLPPs)

The CLPPs were significantly altered by organic substrate type and diversity (Figure 3-1A and B). Analysis of co-variance (data not shown) showed mean CLPPs were separated into three groups in LFH-MS and two groups in PMM along substrate treatments, although these groups did not differ statistically (Figure 3-1A). The PCA revealed that organic substrate type and diversity contributed 24.6% (PC1) and 19.1% (PC2) of the variations in LFH-MS (Figure 3-1C), and 28.5% (PC1) and 19.9% (PC2) of the variations in CLPPs in PMM (Figure 3-1D). In LFH-MS, CLPPs in most organic substrate treatments were distinctly different from the control; treatments with high organic substrate diversity and acetic acid + alanine addition showed similar trends (Figure 3-1C). Treatments with glucose and alanine had different trends than the mixture of organic substrates and acetic acid treatments and were plotted in a separate quadrant (Figure 3-1C). The CLPPs in glucose and alanine were separated from the control in PMM (Figure 3-1D). The CLPPs in glucose and alanine were separated from the mixture of substrates. Mixtures of organic substrates, glucose + acetic acid were located in similar quadrants. Similarly, glucose and alanine occupied the same quadrant (Figure 3-1D).

3.3 Effects of organic substrate diversity on microbial processes

Most measured parameters were significantly affected by organic substrate addition and time of measurement, with CO₂ emissions, DOC and DON affected by interactions of organic substrate and time in LFH-MS and PMM (Table 3-2). For both capping materials, CO₂ emissions (mg CO₂-C g^{-1} hr⁻¹) were significantly increased from 0 to 60 days after incubation, with the highest rates at the first day of incubation, and higher rates with organic substrate treatments compared to control in most sampling dates (Figure 3-2A and B). The CO₂ emission rate differences in organic substrate types and their diversity (data not shown) were 16 (control) to 35 (glucose + alanine) in LFH-MS (Figure 3-2A). In PMM, CO₂ emissions were 15 (control) to 88 CO₂-C (mg CO₂-C g^{-1} hr⁻¹) in the mixture of all organic substrate treatment (Figure 3-2B).

The DOC concentration (mg C kg⁻¹) increased from day 0 to 60, from 192 (control) to 329 (mixture of all substrates) and from 469 (control) to 593 (glucose + alanine) in LFH-MS and PMM at day 60, respectively (Figure 3-2C and D). The DOC concentrations changed more dramatically on day 1 than day 0 for all treatments (Figure 3-2C and D). Application of alanine significantly increased DON concentration in both capping materials relative to other organic

substrate treatments (Figure 3-2E and F). This is clear for DON changes from 0 to 60 days; alanine either singly or in mixture increased DON concentrations with greater increases (92 vs 395 mg N kg⁻¹ in alanine treatment) in LFH-MS (Figure 3-2E). In PMM most organic substrate treatments increased DON from day 0 to 60 with greater increases when alanine was applied singly (Figure 3-2F).

The β-glucosidase activity was not affected by substrate diversity in LFH-MS (Figure 3-3A) or PMM (Figure 3-4A). It significantly increased from day 0 to day 60 (5.5 to 13.6 nmol of substrate g⁻¹ hr⁻¹) in LFH-MS (Figure 3-3B) and did not differ between day 0 to day 60 in PMM (Figure 3-4B). The esterase activity was significantly affected by organic substrate addition in LFH-MS and PMM (Table 3-2) with greater increases in the mixture of all treatments in LFH-MS (Figure 3-3C) and PMM (Figure 3-4C). Esterase activity was suppressed in LFH-MS (Figure 3-3D) and increased in PMM (Figure 3-4D) after organic substrate addition. The difference in the amount of organic substrate (nmol of substrate $g^{-1} hr^{-1}$) from day 0 to day 60 (values not shown) were -0.32 (control) to 3.4 (mixture of all organic substrates) and from 7.32 (glucose) to 12.7 (alanine) for LFH-MS (Figure 3-3D) and PMM (Figure 3-4D), respectively. The phenol oxidase activity was significantly reduced in LFH-MS following most organic substrate treatments (Figure 3-3E) and increased over time during incubation (Figure 3-3F), with the exception of LFH-MS exposed to a mixture of all treatments. In PMM, phenol oxidase activity increased by organic substrate treatments (Figure 3-4E) from day 0 to 60 (Figure 3-4F). The AlaAP activity followed an inconsistent trend after organic substrate addition throughout the experiments for LFH-MS (Figure 3-3G and H) and PMM (Figure 3-4G and H). The greatest activity was in the mixture of all the substrates in LFH-MS, and in alanine in the PMM. The NAGase activity consistently increased from day 0 to 60 in the LFH-MS (Figure 3-3I and J) and PMM (Figure 3-4I and J), with the largest increase generally linked to treatment with high diverse organic substrates.

The NH₄⁺-N and NO₃⁻-N concentrations showed no consistent pattern from day 0 to 60 in LFH-MS (Figure 3-5A, B, E and F) and PMM (Figure 3-5C, D, G and H); although increased concentrations were linked to higher organic substrate diversity. Overall, a greater response was shown by highly diverse organic substrates on day 1 (Figure 3-5) for NH₄⁺-N than for NO₃⁻-N. The differences in NH₄⁺-N concentration (mg N kg⁻¹) between days 0 and 60 were 1.88 (acetic acid) to 5.04 (mixture of all organic substrates) and 0.77 (acetic acid) to 6.38 (mixture of all

organic substrates) in LFH-MS and PMM, respectively. In general, acetic acid suppressed the amount of available N, whereas alanine increased N availability for both capping materials.

Paired *t* test data (Table 3-3) indicated that observed values of CO₂ emission for the capping materials did not alter (p>0.05) in most mixture treatments in LFH-MS and PMM, except application of all organic substrate mixtures generally resulted in significantly higher CO₂ (Table 3-3). In most cases, differences between observed and expected activities of β -glucosidase, esterase and AlaAP were not significant in response to application of organic substrate mixtures in LFH-MS and PMM (Table 3-3). The NAGase activity was significantly greater in observed than expected values in response to the mixture of all organic substrate treatments (high organic substrate diversity) in LFH-MS and PMM. Phenol oxidase activity was not affected in LFH-MS, but was suppressed in PMM by high diversity. Concentrations of NH₄⁺-N and NO₃⁻-N were significantly different for observed and expected values in response to high organic substrate diversity in LFH-MS and PMM (Table 3-3).

3.4 Linkages among soil properties

In LFH-MS, the CLPPs were significantly correlated with pH, DOC and AlaAP activity (Table 3-4). The NAGase and AlaAP activities were positively correlated with NH_4^+ -N and DOC. The phenol oxidase activity was negatively correlated with DOC to DON ratio and positively correlated with NH_4^+ -N and NO_3^- -N. The NO_3^- -N was negatively correlated with DOC to DON ratio and pH, and positively correlated with CO_2 emissions. In PMM, the CLPPs were positively correlated with NAGase and esterase activities, NH_4^+ -N , NO_3^- -N, CO_2 emission and DOC (Table 3-4). The NAGase, esterase activities were positively correlated with CO_2 emission and the DOC. The AlaAP activity was positively correlated with DON, NH_4^+ -N and NO_3^- .N (Table 3-4).

4. Discussion

This study suggests that microbial processes were affected by the type and diversity of substrate in the capping soils. Other studies have shown that microbial activity is directly associated with the chemical property of the organic substrates added to the soil (Orwin et al., 2006; Hernandez and Hobbie, 2010), quality of the reclamation material (Quideau et al., 2013; Kwak et al., 2015b) and indirectly affected by changes in microbial community composition (Zak

et al. 2003) and vegetation (Hahn and Quideau, 2013). The increase in DOC, DON and CO_2 emissions by single substrates in this study suggests that labile organic substrates are crucial to decomposition of organic matter (Orwin et al., 2006). There are two important mechanisms involved: labile nutrients have a patchy distribution in the soil and can develop large concentration gradients at the µm to mm scale (Jones et al., 2009); and bacteria and archaea possess limited capability to capitalize on a new non-labile resource pool (Resat et al., 2012). Consequently, microorganisms react rapidly to availability of labile nutrients (Farrell et al., 2014), decomposing them faster than less labile substrates. The greater CO_2 emissions in LFH-MS and PMM after addition of acetic acid likely result from mineralization of organic acids that took place rapidly, with half-lives from 1 to 5 hours in organic top soil and 5 to 12 hours in subsoils (Jones et al., 2003).

The higher rates of CO₂ emissions in response to addition of alanine in LFH-MS suggest the CO₂ emissions were not likely associated with change in CLPPs (Wild et al., 2014) directly as indicated in this study. In N limited systems such as oil sands reclamation (Duan et al. 2015), N addition can provide extra energy to fungi, producing greater enzymes (Allison et al., 2009) and altering the C to N ratio which affected CO₂ emission in LFH-MS and PMM. This is likely associated with change in fungal population from NAGase activity change from day 0 to day 60 in this study, since NAGase activity is typical with fungal population (Burk et al., 2011). The greater change in CLPPs induced by acetic acid in LFH-MS and PMM suggests potential changes in the fungal population (Graaff et al., 2010). Under high C substrate availability, microbial demand for N would increase and subsequently reduce N mineralization or create incomplete mineralization, as shown by the DON increase with addition of a single organic substrate (glucose, acetic acid or alanine) by 72, 88 and 76%, respectively, in LFH-MS and 85, 89 and 90%, respectively, in PMM, relative to the control. Since soil enzymes remained unaffected by a single organic substrate addition, most of these enzymes likely require complex organic substrates for their activities (Hernandez and Hobbie, 2010). Thus there is a greater microbial demand for N and microorganisms may efficiently use amino acids (Orwin et al., 2006; Hernandez and Hobbie, 2010).

Substrate diversity affected CLPPs and decreased C to N ratio in LFH-MS and PMM. The greater CLPPs change observed in PMM was likely associated with a shift in composition of the fungal population (Graaff et al., 2010) as the quality of peat changed (Artz, 2009). Since CLPPs

in LFH-MS were less affected by the organic substrate diversity they were likely associated with the increase in DOC, which provided substrate for microbial activity (Jackson et al. 2002). Another driving factor was soil pH changes in PMM that likely affected the fungal population, as fungi generally grow better in acidic environments than bacteria (Will et al., 2010). The greater change in CLPPs observed with higher substrate diversity in LFH-MS and PMM would have involved a greater variety of enzymes, which may have required a more functionally diverse microbial community (Orwin et al., 2006), and CO₂ emissions may have been higher than with a single organic substrate addition. However, the lack of a direct relationship between CLPPs and CO₂ emission in LFH-MS in this study did not correspond to a shift in microbial community structure (Eilers et al., 2010). The increase in CLPPs might increase the microbial community's ability to rapidly metabolize more or less structurally complex organic substrates, which were demonstrated by higher than expected values of DOC and DON with diverse organic substrates in LFH-MS and PMM. The capacity of a microbial community to mineralize specific organic C substrates likely reflects differences in the type, abundance and bioavailability of C substrates in the in situ OM pool, through a priming effect (Hamer and Marschner, 2005) or through altered physiological demands for nutrients such as N (Orwin et al., 2006).

Thus, our first hypothesis supported by findings of this study that addition of a mixture of organic substrates changed CLPPs because the diversity of substrates allows exploitation of more functional niches and reduced the C to N ratio. However, we are unable to conclude how changes in fungi and bacteria populations were caused by substrate diversity in LFH-MS and PMM since fungi and bacteria populations were not quantified in this study. We must consider the drawbacks of CLPP measurements obtained using Biolog EcoPlate, known to exert bias towards fast growing bacteria and fungi and therefore may not represent the true diversity of the soil (Garland and Mills, 1991).

It has been proposed that addition of a mixture of organic substrates could produce a wider variety of enzymes, which in turn may enhance the ability of soil microorganisms to decompose other organic substrates in the soil (Fontaine et al., 2003; Hamer and Marschner, 2005). However, in this study, the activities of most enzymes remained unaffected by organic substrate mixtures, indicating that this mechanism does not play a part. It is clear from the correlations that enzyme activities, associated with either CLPPs or organic substrate availability (DOC, DON,

available N) and their limitations (Hernandez and Hobbie, 2010) are probably lacking in suitable organic substrates for enzyme activities in LFH-MS and PMM (Zhang et al., 2011).

The greater changes in the NH₄⁺-N and NO₃⁻-N concentrations linked with organic substrate diversity likely resulted from changes in microbial community composition, as indicated from CLPP and changes in N availability. Microbial populations can be stimulated by diverse organic substrates (Bardgett and Shine, 1999), which likely stimulate decomposition of OM. The richness of plant species correlates with a substantial increase in N mineralization (Cong et al., 2015). The greater content of NO_3^- -N than NH_4^+ -N in diverse organic substrates was also due to changes in soil pH. In diverse systems (Setala and McLean, 2004) and in those with diverse vegetation (Zak et al., 2003), pH was higher than in simple systems with less diverse vegetation. The high pH could induce microbial changes and alter N cycling processes in oil sands reclamation (Kwak et al., 2015b). This was demonstrated by the negative relationship between soil pH and NO₃-N since nitrifying bacteria are sensitive to acidity (Myrold, 2005). N availability could have been affected by DOC to DON ratio, a highly regarded indicator of OM quality (McDowell et al., 2004). A higher ratio of DOC to DON may block breakdown of phenolic compounds and inhibit enzymes involved in N mineralization (Jones and Kielland, 2012). This was confirmed by the negative relationship between phenol oxidase activity and N availability in our study.

Organic substrate diversity affected a range of microbial processes in LFH-MS and PMM capping materials. A few consistent trends showing additive effects, priming effects and, in a few cases, non-additive effects were observed for different microbial processes. This is consistent with the literature showing chemical diversity of organic substrates is positively correlated with microbial community composition and respiration rates (Hernandez and Hobbie, 2010; Meier et al., 2010); such a relationship might be associated with complementary effects of the different substrates. The effect of organic substrate diversity on microbial processes explains that plant diversity can affect bacterial to fungal ratios (Hahn and Quideau, 2013) and mycorrhizal biomass (Brown and Naeth, 2014).

The enhanced activity of esterase, NAGase, phenol oxidase and AlaAP in LFH-MS and PMM by increased organic substrate availability (Jamro et al., 2014; Kwak et al., 2015a) suggests that the resource limitation model could be applied to these activities (Hernandez and Hobbie, 2010) in the studied capping soils. Enzyme activity changes in response to organic

substrate addition are likely to be a function of the rates of enzyme production and degradation (Geisseler et al., 2011). Higher phenol oxidase activity is likely to be associated with decomposition potential of PMM rather than LFH-MS. Thus, enzyme production by soil microorganisms is regulated by demand and organic substrate availability (Burns et al., 2013; Jamro et al., 2014; Kwak et al., 2015a). Overall, our results for soil enzyme activities support the general understanding that decomposition is seldom limited by a single factor. French (1988) proposed that enzyme activity is constrained directly by a combination of organic substrate properties (e.g., quantity and quality of C), environmental conditions and physical access of the substrate to the enzyme (Vance and Chapin, 2001). The greater N availability associated with organic substrate diversity is governed by two mechanisms. The higher diversity indirectly increases decomposition rate of OM through positive effects on the microbial community (Zak et al., 2003). The greater number of plant species enhances microbial release of NH₄⁺ from OM causing greater gross N mineralization rates (Fornara et al., 2009) that, surprisingly, are not significantly associated with the presence of particular plant functional groups but might be affected by size of the soil organic matter pool (Booth et al., 2005).

Increased CO₂ emissions after addition of organic substrates (day 1 in this study) likely caused an increase in overall microbial catabolic activity and a phenomenon known as the priming effect. The mechanisms depend on soil type and involve an apparent priming effect caused by pool substitution (Wu et al., 1993), a real priming effect due to increased enzyme production (Blagodatskaya and Kuzyakov, 2008) and a real priming effect due to an increase in microbial biomass of K-strategists (Fontaine et al., 2003). The changes in CO₂ emissions induced by substrate diversity in this study were associated with alterations in CLPP and DOC concentrations in LFH-MS and PMM (Table 3-5). Previous studies found use of sugars, organic acids and amino acids to understand the priming processes in soil were either positive, negative or no priming effect (Hamer and Marschner, 2005; Blagodatskaya and Kuzyakov, 2008) depending on soil type. The priming effects in organic capping materials differed between LFH-MS and PMM (Jamro et al., 2014). The greater priming effect of a diverse organic substrate in PMM might be associated with increased CLPPs than with LFH, which enhanced decomposition rates by altering the C to N ratio. In summary, the causes and mechanisms of priming are complex (Blagodatskaya and Kuzyakov, 2008) and are closely linked to organic substrate type (Jagadamma, 2014), soil characteristics and quality (Jamro et al., 2014), and/or microbial functions (Orwin et al., 2006).

5 Conclusions

Organic substrate type and diversity affected microbial processes with greater enzyme activities and N availability in the presence of more diverse organic substrates than the single or mixture of two substrates. The greater response of the organic substrate diversity observed in PMM than in LFH-MS could be associated with differences in CLPPs and changes in OM quality. This study increases our understanding of the soil-plant feedback mechanism in oil sands reclamation. Extending the research to field conditions should be considered for the next step. Addition of organic acid and amino acid has shown different trends for decomposition of organic matter in LFH-MS and PMM and the response of the ecosystem to the addition of an organic substrate would improve our understanding of in-situ priming effects and the dynamics of rhizo deposits in the field conditions.

Organic	Substrate type*	Total carbon	Total nitrogen	Carbon to nitrogen	рН
capping		$(g kg^{-1})$	$(g kg^{-1})$	ratio	
type					
Initiation o	of experiment				
LFH-MS	-	40.7 (0.1)**	1.30 (0.09)	31.8 (2.3)	5.38 (0.03)
PMM	-	67.8 (0.6)	2.27 (0.10)	30.1 (1.8)	6.84 (0.05)
Terminatio	on of experiment				
LFH-MS	Cont	37.5 (0.1) b***	1.20 (<0.01) d	31.3 (2.0) a	5.38 (0.03) d
	Glu	14.8 (0.3) e	0.75 (0.02) ef	19.8 (0.2) c	6.79 (0.02) a
	Acet	8.7 (0.2) f	0.96 (0.01) e	9.2 (0.3) e	5.15 (0.05) e
	Ala	47.5 (1.1) a	2.09 (0.04) a	22.7 (0.5) b	6.22 (0.03) b
	Glu+Acet	21.9 (0.7) cd	0.73 (0.01) ef	30.1 (0.5) a	5.18 (0.03) e
	Glu+Ala	25.1 (0.7) c	1.72 (0.05) b	14.6 (0.3) de	6.10 (0.03) b
	Acet+Ala	33.0 (1.3) ab	1.93 (0.04) b	17.0 (1.0) c	4.68 (0.01) f
	Glu+Acet+Ala	19.3 (0.6) d	1.55 (0.02) c	12.5 (0.2) d	5.87 (0.04) c
PMM	Cont	60.8 (0.2) d	2.05 (<0.01) a	29.7 (0.7) b	6.92 (0.01) c
	Glu	40.2 (0.7) a	1.67 (0.01) b	24.1 (0.3) cd	7.21 (0.01) a
	Acet	21.4 (0.4) c	0.95 (0.01) cd	22.4 (0.6) cd	5.72 (0.02) e
	Ala	30.8 (0.7) b	0.81 (0.02) d	38.2 (0.2) a	6.76 (0.02) d
	Glu+Acet	7.8 (0.5) d	0.96 (<0.01) cd	9.1 (0.3) e	7.16 (0.02) a
	Glu+Ala	30.4 (0.4) b	1.60 (0.01) b	19.0 (0.6) d	6.94 (0.03) bc
	Acet+Ala	39.4 (0.3) a	1.03 (0.02) c	37.9 (0.3) ab	6.96 (0.04) bc
	Glu+Acet+Ala	22.0 (0.7) c	0.80 (0.02) d	27.6 (1.0) bc	6.98 (<0.01) b
	One-Way ANOVA	<u>.</u>			
LFH-MS	F value	215.4	209.8	167.4	360.4
	<i>p</i> value	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
PMM	F value	420.8	61.8	40.8	1628.5
	<i>p</i> value	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001

Table 3-1 Organic matter quality of organic capping materials used in oil sands reclamation at initiation (0 day of incubation before addition of substrate) and termination (60 days after incubation) of the experiment

*Abbreviations: Cont: control, Glu: glucose, Acet: acetic acid, Ala: alanine, Glu + Acet: glucose + acetic acid, Glu + Ala: glucose + alanine, Acet + Ala: acetic acid + alanine, Glu + Acet + Ala: glucose + acetic acid + alanine

** Values shown in brackets indicate standard errors of the mean (n=3)

***Means with different lowercase letters indicate significant difference among substrate type and diversity within each organic capping type in each column

^a Soil	LFH-MS						PMM							
processes	Substrate		Substrate		sampling time		Substrate*sampling time		Substrate		sampling time		Substrate*sampling time	
	F value	<i>p</i> value	F value	<i>p</i> value	F value	<i>p</i> value	F value	<i>p</i> value	F value	<i>p</i> value	F value	p value		
CO ₂	14.70	< 0.001	52.29	< 0.001	6.16	< 0.001	69.48	< 0.001	476.39	< 0.001	22.57	< 0.001		
DOC	66.60	< 0.001	190.61	< 0.001	31.85	< 0.001	12.69	< 0.001	140.41	< 0.001	2.17	0.006		
DON	47.97	< 0.001	29.65	< 0.001	7.09	< 0.001	125.26	< 0.001	85.58	< 0.001	17.33	< 0.001		
AlaAP	7.12	< 0.00	13.90	0.002	2.03	0.079	17.58	< 0.001	29.91	< 0.001	7.95	0.490		
BGLU	1.95	0.079	94.68	< 0.001	1.56	0.094	1.24	0.296	2.71	0.115	1.06	0.547		
EST	5.57	< 0.00	38.54	< 0.001	1.28	0.226	27.50	< 0.001	22.78	< 0.001	9.03	0.530		
NAGase	4.36	0.001	5.45	0.025	2.18	0.051	3.58	0.003	7.75	0.009	2.60	0.046		
POX	4.16	0.001	57.24	< 0.001	1.67	0.066	7.31	< 0.001	12.39	0.002	1.76	0.047		
$\mathrm{NH_4}^+\text{-}\mathrm{N}$	1.79	0.104	7.41	0.005	0.97	0.524	116.70	< 0.001	263.04	< 0.001	41.56	0.070		
NO ₃ ⁻ N	12.52	< 0.001	98.91	< 0.001	7.61	0.041	273.29	< 0.001	152.28	< 0.001	51.02	0.051		

Table 3-2 Analysis of variance (*F* and *P* values) of the effects of organic substrate type and diversity and their interaction with sampling time on soil processes used for oil sands reclamation

^a. Abreviations: CO₂: carbon dioxide emission, NAGase : N-acetyl glucosaminidase, BGlu: β -glucosidase, POX: phenoloxidase, EST: esterase, AlaAP: L-alanine amino peptidase, NH₄⁺-N: ammonium, NO₃⁻-N: nitrate, DOC: dissolved organic carbon, DON: dissolved organic nitrogen
Table 3-3 Effects of mixture of organic substrates on microbial processes as calculated by subtracting expected value from the observed value followed by conducting a paired *t* test in materials used in oil sands reclamation at termination (60 days after incubation) of experiment

0.:1*	Glu+Acet**	Gluc+Ala		Acet+Ala		Glu+ Acet+ Ala			
Soli process	Difference	p value	Difference	p value	Difference	p value	Difference	p value	
				LFH-	MS				
CO_2 emision rate (µg CO_2 -C g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	-3.7	0.261	5.1	0.042	-1.9	0.670	4.0	0.025	
$DOC (mg C kg^{-1})$	79.0	0.035	8.0	0.392	77.0	0.124	105.0	0.028	
DON (mg C kg ⁻¹)	-6.1	0.603	99.5	0.007	152.7	0.008	92.2	0.009	
BGLU (nmol of substrate $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	0.7	0.335	0.5	0.224	1.0	0.380	0.3	0.805	
Esterase (nmol of substrate g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	0.0	0.787	0.0	0.787	0.1	0.239	0.2	0.156	
POX (nmol of substrate g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	-1.1	0.939	2.2	0.048	2.1	0.087	1.1	0.231	
NAGase (nmol of substrate $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	542	0.090	275	0.024	249	0.033	1057	0.015	
AlaAP (nmol of substrate $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	0.4	0.007	0.9	0.106	-0.1	0.995	3.0	0.130	
$NH_{4}^{+}-N (mg N kg_{.}^{-1})$	1.6	0.051	2.0	0.003	1.5	0.047	2.3	0.014	
NO_3 -N (mg N kg ⁻¹)	1.1	0.069	9.8	0.004	3.7	0.033	9.3	0.004	
				PM	MM				
CO_2 emision rate (µg CO_2 -C g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	29.1	0.150	152.3	0.558	156.1	0.139	78.0	0.020	
$DOC (mg C kg^{-1})$	-3.7	0.051	5.1	0.345	-1.9	0.268	4.0	0.041	
DON (mg C kg ⁻¹)	114.7	0.004	19.7	0.004	36.4	0.013	76.1	0.031	
BGLU (nmol of substrate $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	-16.8	0.916	2.2	0.132	-19.3	0.782	-7.2	0.798	
Esterase (nmol of substrate $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	-0.2	0.789	2.9	0.016	1.3	0.124	3.6	0.033	
POX (nmol of substrate $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	2.4	0.226	1.3	0.321	-3.9	0.965	-1.8	0.958	
NAGase (nmol of substrate $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	-48	0.598	142	0.082	318	0.040	771	0.009	
AlaAP (nmol of substrate $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	0.6	0.100	1.0	0.047	-0.5	0.822	0.3	0.120	
$\rm NH_4^+$ -N (mg N kg ⁻¹)	2.9	0.002	0.8	0.068	1.8	0.003	5.1	0.006	
$NO_3^{-}-N (mg N kg^{-1})$	-2.7	0.910	8.7	0.002	7.4	< 0.001	9.5	< 0.001	

^{*}Abbreviations: CO₂: carbon dioxide, DOC: dissolved organic carbon, DON: dissolved organic nitrogen, NH_4^+ -N: ammonium, NO_3^- -N: nitrate, NAGase: β -N-acetyl glucosaminidase, BGLU: β -glucosidase, POX: phenoloxidase, AlaAP: L-alanine amino peptidase ** Cont: control, Glu: glucose, Acet: acetic acid, Ala: alanine, Glu + Acet: glucose + acetic acid, Glu + Ala: glucose + alanine, Acet + Ala: acetic acid + alanine, Glu + Acet + Ala: glucose + acetic acid + alanine

Variable*	CLPPs	NAGase	BGLU	EST	POX	AlaAP	NH4 ⁺ -N	NO ₃ ⁻ -N	CO ₂	pН	DOC	DON
	LFH-MS											
NAGase	0.20											
BGLU	-0.03	-0.02										
EST	-0.06	-0.17	0.31									
POX	-0.02	0.01	-0.16	0.21								
AlaAP	0.35*	0.18	0.14	0.33	0.17							
NH_4^+-N	-0.23	0.50*	0.19	0.08	0.11	0.44*						
NO ₃ ⁻ -N	-0.03	0.25	-0.14	0.28	0.50*	0.44*	0.48*					
CO_2	0.08	-0.05	-0.01	-0.02	-0.08	0.32	0.14	0.44*				
pH	0.62*	0.03	0.05	-0.06	-0.50*	0.11	-0.3	-0.61	-0.14			
DOC	0.43*	0.45*	0.19	0.15	-0.41	0.42*	0.29	0.43*	0.33	0.07		
DON	0.07	0.41	-0.32	0.2	0.54*	0.01	-0.03	0.66*	-0.06	-0.50*	0.28	
DOC:DON	0.05	-0.06	0.39*	-0.13	-0.53*	-0.11	0.15	-0.41*	0.12	0.40*	-0.02	-0.73*
						PMN	1					
NAGase	0.58*											
BGLU	-0.13	-0.13										
EST	0.72*	0.39	-0.11									
POX	-0.12	-0.38	0.08	-0.34								
AlaAP	-0.04	-0.28	-0.11	-0.17	0.37							
NH4 ⁺ -N	0.39*	0.06	-0.21	0.22	0.28	0.58*						
NO ₃ ⁻ -N	0.55*	-0.05	-0.04	0.57*	0.06	0.47*	0.65*					
CO_2	0.73*	0.83*	-0.2	0.51*	-0.24	-0.21	0.34*	0.21				
pH	-0.08	-0.32	0.16	0.22	-0.14	-0.1	-0.25	0.26	-0.14			
DOC	0.67*	0.45*	-0.35	0.64*	-0.09	0.05	0.49*	0.58*	0.65*	0.14		
DON	0.22	-0.17	-0.13	0.18	0.19	0.81*	0.63*	0.76*	-0.03	-0.03	0.12	0.3
DOC:DON	-0.29	0.09	0.09	-0.38	-0.02	-0.43*	-0.58*	-0.72*	0.04	-0.40*	-0.35*	-0.35*

Table 3-4 Pearson correlation coefficient (r-value) and significance⁺ among soil variables in LFH and PMM organic capping materials used for oil sands reclamation (n=54).

^{*} Abbreviations:, CLPPs: community level physiological profiles, NAGase : N-acetyl glucosaminidase, BGLU: β -glucosidase, POX: phenoloxidase, EST: esterase, AlaAP: L-alanine amino peptidase, NH₄⁺-N: ammonium, NO₃⁻-N: nitrate, CO₂: carbon dioxide, DOC: dissolved organic carbon, DON: dissolved organic nitrogen, DOC:DON: dissolved organic carbon to dissolved organic nitrogen ratio ^{+*}, *P*<0.05



Figure 3-1 Changes in average well color development (AWCD) in (A) LFH-MS and (B) PMM and community level physiological profiles (CLPPs) in (C) LFH-MS and (D) PMM affected by organic substrate type and diversity in organic capping materials used in oil sands reclamation. Abbreviations: Cont: control, Glu: glucose, Acet: acetic acid, Ala: alanine, Glu + Acet: glucose + acetic acid, Glu + Ala: glucose + alanine, Acet + Ala: acetic acid + alanine, Glu + Acet + Ala: glucose + acetic acid + alanine



Figure 3-2 Changes in CO₂ emission rates in (A) LFH-MS and (B) PMM dissolved organic carbon (DOC) in (C) LFH-MS and (D) PMM and dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) in (E) LFH-MS and (F) PMM affected by organic substrate type and diversity in organic capping materials used in oil sands reclamation. Abbreviations: Cont: control, Glu: glucose, Acet: acetic acid, Ala: alanine, Glu + Acet: glucose + acetic acid, Glu + Ala: glucose + alanine, Acet + Ala: acetic acid + alanine, Glu + Acet + Ala: glucose + acetic acid + alanine



Figure 3-3 Changes in soil enzyme activities in (A, C, E, G and I) LFH-MS affected by organic substrate type (left columns) and (B,D,F, H and J) time (right columns) of measurement in organic capping materials used in oil sands reclamation. Abbreviations: Cont: control, Glu: glucose, Acet: acetic acid, Ala: alanine, Glu + Acet: glucose + acetic acid, Glu + Ala: glucose + alanine, Acet + Ala: acetic acid + alanine, Glu + Acet + Ala: glucose + acetic acid + alanine



Figure 3-4 Changes in soil enzyme activities in (A, C, E, G and I) PMM affected by organic substrate type (left columns) and (B, D, F, H and J) time (right columns) of measurement in organic capping materials used in oil sands reclamation. Abbreviations: Cont: control, Glu: glucose, Acet: acetic acid, Ala: alanine, Glu + Acet: glucose + acetic acid, Glu + Ala: glucose + alanine, Acet + Ala: acetic acid + alanine, Glu + Acet + Ala: glucose + acetic acid + alanine



Figure 3-5 Changes in NH_4^+ -N in (A) LFH-MS and (C) PMM and NO_3^- -N in (E) LFH-MS and (G) PMM affected by organic substrate type (left columns) and (B, D, F and H) time (right columns) of measurement in materials used oil sands reclamation, Codes: Cont: control, Glu: glucose, Acet: acetic acid, Ala: alanine, Glu + Acet: glucose + acetic acid, Glu + Ala: glucose + alanine, Acet + Ala: acetic acid + alanine, Glu + Acet + Ala: glucose + acetic acid + alanine

CHAPTER 4 ORGANIC TO MINERAL SOIL RATIO OF ORGANIC CAPPING MATERIALS USED FOR OIL SANDS RECLAMATION ALTERED THE BIOGEOCHEMICAL PROCESSES

1. Introduction

Soil is the most complex biological system in global terrestrial ecosystems, composed of various minerals, organic components microorganisms, water and air (Coleman et al., 1998; Kögel-Knabner et al., 2008). The interactions among these components have strong influences on soil biogeochemical processes and functions such as decomposition of organic matter (OM), nutrient cycling and enzyme activities (Huang et al., 2005; Allison, 2006; Totsche et al., 2010) since these processes are altered by organo-mineral interactions (Huang et al., 2005; Kögel-Knabner et al., 2008; Pronk et al., 2012). The effect of organo-mineral interactions on soil biogeochemical processes is mainly regulated by the type (Jamro et al., 2014; Kwak et al., 2015a) composition (Turcotte et al., 2009) and quantity of OM (Schnecker et al., 2014) and minerals in the soil (Shindo and Huang, 1985; Marx et al., 2005; Kögel-Knabner et al., 2008) and other soil properties, particularly texture (Giardina et al., 2001), pH (Sinsabaugh et al., 2003) and the soil microenvironment (Scott et al., 1996).

The OM composition and quantity differences are potential to change in soil biogeochemistry (Sorenson et al., 2011; Noah et al., 2014) due to their involvement in organic substrate availability for biogeochemical processes (Schnecker et al., 2014). The carbon to nitrogen (C to N) ratio is a common indicator of the measurement of OM quality (Mohanty et al., 2013) which regulates N mineralization and organic substrate availability (Mohanty et al., 2013) and affects enzyme activities in the soil (Jamro et al., 2014; Kwak et al., 2015a). The inherent chemical recalcitrance (e.g., lignin) of OM also affects its decomposition (Smith et al., 2015), which may reduce enzyme activity (Sinsabaugh, 1994) and consequently affects N mineralization. Enzyme activities are also inhibited by the addition of humic substances due to complexity and dynamic nature of OM (Huang et al., 2005) In addition, OM quantity may also affect organic substrate availability for microbial activity which is either affected by the amount of OM applied (Li et al., 2011) and soil depth (Dimitriu et al., 2010; Schnecker et al., 2014) due to change in C to N ratio (Jamro et al., 2014) and other soil properties such as soil pH (Blume et al., 2002; Eilers et al., 2012; Jamro et al., 2014). Altering these soil properties may favor different microorganisms having different functional properties which could alter soil enzyme activities and decomposition of OM, consequently N availability (Waldrop and Firestone, 2006; Schnecker et al., 2014). Thus, the decomposition of OM is controlled by the amount and type of OM, microorganism efficiency in utilizing C and retaining capacity of the soil (Gadd, 2007; Cotrufo et al., 2013; Smith et al., 2015).

Minerals, such as clay minerals, provide active sites for adsorption of OM and biochemical processes (Pronk et al., 2012), help stabilize OM and decrease microbial activity via physical occlusion of compounds to OM (Huang et al., 2005; Kögel-Knabner et al., 2008). Sorption of organic compounds and enzyme substrates to molecular mineral pores also limit their accessibility to microbes and enzymes (Kaiser and Guggenberger, 2003), reducing the enzyme activities (Allison, 2006), slowing OM decomposition (Watanabe et al., 2005) and decreasing nutrient availability (Silver et al., 2000). In artificial enzyme-clay- complexes studies show that the presence of clay either reduces the enzyme activities (Gianfreda et al., 1992) or enhances the enzyme activities (Bayan and Eivazi, 1999) and affects the OM decomposition (Fissore et al., 2008). In addition, iron (Fe) or aluminum (Al) oxide mineral form complexes with enzyme substrates, limit the organic substrate availability (Allison and Jastrow, 2006) and consequently reduce N availability. Thus, variation in soil minerals composition, their assemblage and their interactions with OM can cause differential biogeochemical processes (Huang et al., 2005; Gadd, 2007; Turner et al., 2014). The biogeochemical processes of disturbed and reconstructed ecosystems, such as the Athabasca oil sands region (AOSR) in northern Alberta, Canada, is completely different from that of natural ecosystems, since it is associated with exogenous organic inputs (Noah et al., 2014) and mineral soil mixed with organic capping materials (Fung and Macyk, 2000, MacKenzie and Quideau, 2012). Thus, better comprehension of mineralorganic matter biogeochemical interactions is essential to evaluate restoration practices and the sustainability of the ecosystem (Huang et al., 2005).

The AOSR is recognized as the single largest oil reserve in the world. Approximately 813 km² of boreal forest in the region has been disturbed by surface mining as of December 2013, and government regulations state that mining companies are bound to reclaim all disturbed areas (Alberta Government, 2015). LFH (litter (L), fragmented litter (F) and humus (H)) mineral soil mix (LFH) and peat mineral soil mix (PMM) are common sources of organic capping materials for oil sands reclamation (MacKenzie and Naeth, 2007) and are applied in different ratios of OM

(LFH or peat) to mineral soil (Naeth et al., 2013). The peat to mineral soil ratios (vol: vol) varied from 1:3 (Moskal et al., 2001) to 1:1 (Fung and Macyk, 2000; Hemstock et al., 2010) with some exceptions (Moskal et al., 2001). The LFH to mineral soil ratio (vol: vol) ranged from 1:5 to 1:1 depending on the salvaging depth and the type of mineral soil in the mixture (Alberta Environment and Water, 2012). Maintaining a consistent salvaging depth for organic capping materials is not operationally possible for reclamation (Naeth et al., 2013). However, no study has evaluated how the organic to mineral soil ratio affects the biogeochemical processes of organic capping materials used in oil sands reclamation.

The objective of this study was to evaluate the effects of the ratio of organic to mineral soil of organic capping materials used for oil sands reclamation on the biogeochemical processes. We hypothesized that changes in organic to mineral soils ratio would alter the biogeochemical processes in organic capping materials used for oil sands reclamation due to changes in OM content and organo-mineral interactions. Thus, greater enzyme activities and N availability will be expected with a greater organic to mineral soil ratio in organic capping materials regardless of organic capping material type used. The results will be helpful in understanding organo-mineral biogeochemical interactions and developing an optimal ratio of materials to design the current reclamation practices and further improvement required for long term sustainability of ecosystems in the oil sands region.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Collection and processing of materials

Forest floor (including L, F and H horizons), peat and mineral soil samples were collected within the AOSR, Alberta, Canada, materials that are representatives of those used for oil sands reclamation. Forest floor was collected at 0-5 cm depth from a 60-year-old trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloids* Michx.) dominated upland forest. Mineral soil was collected after removing the forest floor at 0-10 cm depth from the same area. The soil was classified as Gray Luvisol (Soil Classification Working Group, 1998) or Cryralf (Soil Survey Staff, 1998). The soil had a sandy loam texture (Jung and Chang, 2012). Peat moss (*Sphagnum spp*.) was collected from the surface (>5 cm) at a lower slope in the landscape, close to where the forest floor and mineral soil samples were collected. The samples were transported to the laboratory in cooler containing ice

packs. In the laboratory, samples were air-dried and passed through a 4-mm sieve to remove coarse fragments and debris and homogenized properly before analyses.

2.2 Experimental design and incubation experiment set up

The study involves a factorial design with two organic materials (forest floor (LFH), peat and mineral soil (MS) and their mixtures at five ratios described in Table 4-1. The treatments were replicated three times. The materials were mixed on a volumetric basis using a100 mL cylinder and final volume was kept to 100 mL in each organic to mineral soil ratio, then material was put in 250 mL flask. The weight of materials varied from 50 to 110 g in LFH to mineral soil and 20 to 110 g in peat to mineral soil ratios (Table 4-1). The ratios of organic to minerals soils were selected based on the current practice of organic capping materials used in oil sands reclamation (Fung and Macyk, 2000; Moskal et al., 2001; Hemstock et al., 2010; Alberta Environment and Water, 2012; Naeth et al., 2013). Five experimental units of each ratio treatment were set up based on the soil sampling frequency (discussed below) for measurement of soil processes and properties. The experimental design allowed us to avoid soil disturbance caused by subsampling, which would affect microbial activity and carbon dioxide (CO₂) emission rates. Four experimental units were designed for the measurement of soil enzyme activities, dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and nitrogen (DON) and CO₂ emission rate (0, 1, 7, 15, 30 days after treatment). However, the 30 days after treatment unit was reserved for measurement of CO_2 emission rate to avoid the disturbance effect. Prior to the experiment, preincubation was done at 25 °C for 10 days to allow the microorganisms to acclimatize to the laboratory conditions. During incubation, flasks were weighed every four days to maintain 60% water holding capacity of the mixtures; water content was adjusted with deionized water.

2.3 Organic substrate preparation and application

Organic substrate solution was prepared by using synthetic substrates (Sigma-Aldrich St. Louis MO.) for enzymes involved in carbon cycling, including β -glucosidase, cellobiohydrolase and phenol oxidase; and N cycling, including β -N-acetyl glucosaminidase (NAGase) and leucine aminopeptidase (LAP). These enzymes were selected because these are commonly found in terrestrial ecosystems (Sinsbaugh, 1994; Kandeler et al., 1999; Stursova et al., 2006). D-glucose (C₆H₁₂O₆) was mixed in the organic substrate solution to provide a labile organic substrate for

microorganisms for initiation of activity, since glucose is a common component in soil organic carbon pools that initiates activities of microorganism immediately (Van Hees et al., 2005; Bradford et al., 2010).

One mg of each organic substrate/compound was used to prepare an organic substrate solution with Milli-Q deionized water at a ratio of 1:1 (m/v) to avoid any inhibiting effect of any organic substrate. Two mL of organic substrate solution was applied to each treatment using a 10 mL syringe with a needle tip considering that microorganisms utilize organic substrates in excess of demand under in-situ conditions (Van Hees et al., 2005). Addition of organic substrate in excess of demand is a common approach for assessing the potential respiration and microbial responses of organic substrate utilization in soils (Bradford et al., 2010). This was also confirmed by a preliminary study for 48 hours incubation where the highest CO₂ emissions were recorded by testing basic materials used for preparation of organic to mineral soil ratios (data not shown) at two mL of organic substrate mixture. The organic substrate mixture was applied to avoid any limitation of substrate for biogeochemical reactions in artificial soil mixtures during incubation (Allison, 2006; Pronk et al., 2012) since mineral and organic soils vary in their C to N ratios (Hemstock et al., 2010; Jung and Chang, 2012) and ultimately have different decomposition potentials. The conical flasks were sealed with gas tight lids fitted with a butyl rubber septum throughout the experiment to allow the accumulation of gas in the flasks; the flasks were kept open for one and half hours after each gas sampling to ensure adequate gas exchange between atmosphere and flasks. Gas samples were collected every day for the first three days and then every four days for ensuring gas exchange between atmosphere and flasks.

2.4 Soil properties measurement

Total carbon (C) and nitrogen (N) concentrations were evaluated at day 0 and 30 of the incubation. Soil samples collected at each sampling time (0 and 30 days) were air-dried and ground with a ball mill (Mixer Mill MM 200, Thomas Scientific, Swedesboro NJ). Total C and N were analyzed by a dry combustion using an automated elemental analyzer (NA-1500 series, Carlo Erba, Milan, Italy). Soil pH was measured in a 1:2 (m:v, soil:0.01 mol L⁻¹ CaCl₂) ratio using a digital DMP-2 mV/pH meter (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA) (Kalra and Maynard, 1991). For ammonium (NH₄⁺-N) and nitrate (NO₃⁻-N) analyses, soil samples were extracted using 2 mol L⁻¹ KCl (Mulvaney, 1996). The extract was analyzed colorimetrically by

the indophenol blue method for NH_4^+ -N (Keeney and Nelson, 1982) and by the vanadium oxidation method for NO_3^- -N (Miranda et al., 2001). The NH_4^+ -N, NO_3^- -N and soil pH were measured at 0 and 30 days of incubation. Since NO_3^- -N was detected only in a few samples the data are only presented as available N by adding NH_4^+ -N and NO_3^- -N. For DOC and DON concentrations, soil samples were extracted with 0.5 mol·L⁻¹ K₂SO₄ solution at 1:10 (w:v) soil to solution ratio. After shaking for one hour on a reciprocating shaker (Eberbach Corp., Michigan, U.S.A), the extracts were filtered using Fisher Q2 filter papers. The C and N concentrations in the extracts were measured with a TOC-VCSN (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan).

2.5 Identification of minerals

The mineralogy of the soil used in this experiment was determined by X-ray diffraction (XRD) after the removal of organic matter with H_2O_2 using a Siemens D-5000 diffractometer with a Co-K radiation source. Powder samples were analysed to characterize all minerals, and oriented deposits were analysed to specifically identify clay minerals. Samples were analysed after individual treatments of K saturation, addition of ethylene glycol, heating to 550 °C or without any of the treatments listed above.

2.6 CO₂ measurement

Separate flasks were used for measuring CO₂ and other biogeochemical processes at each sampling time to avoid disturbance effects. The CO₂ gas samples were collected at day 0, 1, 3, 7, 10 and 30 of incubation. At each sampling time, gas samples were taken at time 0, 1, 12 and 24 h initially for one week and later at 24 hr at each sampling time using a 20 mL gas-tight syringe (BD Luer-LokTM Tip) and injected into pre-evacuated exetainer vials (Isomass Exetainers) fitted with septa. The gas samples were analyzed on a gas chromatograph (Varian GC-3800). The rate of CO₂ emission (mg CO₂ h⁻¹ g⁻¹ soil) was calculated from concentration changes between the differences of each sampling time and pooled to determine CO₂ emission rate per day.

2.7 Soil enzymes assay

The β -glucosidase (Enzyme classification number ECN: 3.2.1.21), cellobiohydrolase (ECN: 3.2.1.91), phenol oxidase (ECN:1.10.3.2), N-acetyl-b-D- glucosaminidase (NAGase, ECN 3.2.1.14) and Leucine amino peptidase (LAP, ECN: 3.4.11.1) were evaluated after 0, 7, 15 and 30 days of incubation using microplate assays as described by Sinsabaugh et al. (2003). The

activities of β -glucosidase, cellobiohydrolase and NAGase were evaluated using the fluorescence method. Substrates of 200 mM of 4-methylumbelliferyl (MUB) for each enzyme namely β -Dglucosidase, β -D-cellobioside and N- acetyl- β -glucoaminide were used. One gram of fresh soil was placed in a 250 mL Nalgene bottle for preparation of soil suspensions with a 125 mL of sodium acetate buffer (50 mmol L⁻¹, pH 5). The soil suspensions were homogenized using a magnetic stirrer until suspensions were transferred into black 96 well microplates. A 200 µL soil suspension and 50 µL of 200 mmol L⁻¹ substrate of each enzyme were pipetted onto each plate. Soil background wells (200 µL soil suspension + 50 µL buffer) and quench wells [(200 µL soil suspension + 50 µL 4-MUF (4-methylumbelliferone)] were then added to each plate. The plates were placed in an incubator for three hours for measurement of β -glucosidase and NAGase, and seven hours for cellobiohydrolase at 20 °C in the dark. After incubation, enzyme reaction was stopped by adding 20 µL of 0.5 mol L⁻¹ NaOH to each plate. Fluorescence was measured at 360 nm excitation and 460 nm emissions using a Synergy HT multi-detection microplate reader (Bio-Tek Instruments, Winooski, VT).

The phenol oxidase and LAP activities were determined using the colorimetric method (Stursova et al., 2006). The phenol oxidase was determined in clear microplates containing 50 μ L of 25 mM L-dihydroxyphenylalanine (L- DOPA) incubated for 24 hours at 20 °C. The 7-amino-4-methylcourmarin linked substrate was used to evaluate LAP activity. The incubation was done at 20 °C in the dark for 24 hours. The color development was determined at 460 nm after incubation. All measured enzyme activities (nmol of substrate g⁻¹ h⁻¹) were calculated on an oven-dry (105 °C) mass basis of soil.

2.8 Statistical analyses

A repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to assess the effect of ratio of materials and sampling time on total C, total N, C to N ratio, enzyme activities, available N, DOC, DON concentrations and CO₂ emission rates. Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) test was used to determine significant effect of ratio on biogeochemical processes, time of incubation and their interactions. Pearson correlation analysis was conducted to determine the relationship between biogeochemical processes and soil properties. Assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variance were tested prior to performing ANOVA using a Shapiro-Wilk test and Bartlett test, respectively. An α value of 0.05 was used to indicate statistical significance. All analyses were performed using a SAS 9.3 software (SAS Institute Inc., USA).

3. Results

3.1 Basic properties of soil materials

The ratio of organic to mineral soils (either LFH or peat) significantly altered the total C, total N, C to N ratio and pH (Table 4-2). With an increasing amount of LFH or peat, total C, and total N were increased (p<0.05) at day 0. The mean lowest total C (14.3 g kg⁻¹) was found in mineral soil only (LFH-0 and peat-0) treatments, whereas the greatest total C was found in LFH-100 (117.7 g kg⁻¹) and in peat-100 (347.7 g kg⁻¹). Organic substrate addition increased the total C concentrations in both LFH and peat ratios, except for peat-100 from days 0 to 30 of . However, no differences existed between LFH-0 or peat-0 (mineral soil) and LFH-30 and peat-30 (Table 4-2). Total N followed a similar trend as that of total C in both LFH and peat, with the initial total N concentrations ranging from 0.6 (LFH-0) to 5.8 g kg⁻¹ (LFH-100) in LFH 0.6 g kg⁻¹ (peat-0) 15.5 g kg⁻¹ (peat-100). The total N concentrations increased approximately by 32 (LFH-70) to 67% (LFH-30) in LFH and by 64 (peat-70) to 100% (peat-50) in peat from day 0 to 30 of the incubation. On average (values not shown), the C to N ratio ranged from 19.7 (LFH-100) to 34.9 (LFH-30) in LFH and from 24.8 (peat-100) to 33.4 (peat-30) in peat, regardless of the time of measurement (Table 4-2). The C to N ratio increased in mineral soil (LFH-0 and peat-0), whereas it decreased in the rest of the treatments in both LFH and peat (Table 4-2) from day 0 to 30. The mean pH was higher in organic soils and in the mixture of mineral and organic soil treatments in both LFH and peat than in the mineral soil alone (i.e., LFH-0 or peat-0: pH=4.30). The ratio of organic to mineral soils slightly increased pH in LFH and peat from day 0 to 30 (Table 4-2). The XRD diffractograms indicated that the mineral soil predominantly contained quartz, with traces of albite and pyrite (Figure 4-1).

3.2 Dissolved organic carbon and nitrogen

The DOC concentrations were significantly affected by the organic to mineral soil ratios for LFH and peat, regardless of the time of measurement (Table 4-3). The DOC concentrations were the lowest in mineral soil (LFH-0 or peat-0) and the greatest in both organic soils (LFH-100 and peat-100); other treatments were not changed by the organic to mineral soils (Figure 4-2A

and C). The DOC concentrations were not affected by the time of measurement (Table 4-3; Figure 4-2B and D). The DON concentrations were significantly affected by the ratio of materials and time of measurement in both LFH and peat (Table 4-3). The mean DON concentrations ranged from 33 mg N kg⁻¹ (LFH-0) to 72 mg N kg⁻¹ (LFH-100) in LFH and 33 mg N kg⁻¹ (peat-0) 78 mg N kg⁻¹ (peat-100) in peat (Figure 4-2E and G). However, in both LFH and peat, the mean DON concentrations did not change from day 0 to 30 (Figure 4-2F and H).

3.3 CO₂ emission rate

The CO₂ emission rate was significantly affected by the organic to mineral soil ratio, measurement time and the interactions of ratio and time in LFH and peat soils (Table 4-3). In LFH, the highest cumulative CO₂ emission rate (data not shown) was observed in LFH-100 (125 mg CO₂-C g^{-1} hr⁻¹) followed by LFH-70 (90 mg CO₂-C g^{-1} hr⁻¹), whereas the lowest was in LFH-0 (25 mg CO₂-C g^{-1} hr⁻¹). No significant differences were observed between LFH-70 and LFH-50 and between LFH-30 and LFH-0; other treatments were significantly different from each other. The peat consistently showed a similar trend, although the emission rate was lower than that of LFH and ranged from 25 to 98 mg CO₂-C g^{-1} hr⁻¹. The CO₂ emission rate was gradually decreased along the increasing mineral soil ratios in both LFH and peat (Figure 4-3A and B). There was a greater decline of CO₂ emission rate in both organic soils (LFH-100 or peat-100) than in the mineral soil alone (LFH-0 or peat-0) between days 0 and 30. On average, the changes in CO₂ emission rate ranged from -90 (LFH-100) to -91% (LFH-70) in LFH, whereas in peat, they decreased from -70 (peat-0) to -47% (peat-100) from days 0 to 30.

3.4 Soil enzyme activities

The organic to mineral soil ratio and the time after treatment application significantly interacted in all enzyme activities in LFH and peat (Table 4-3). The β -glucosidase activity was significantly greater in the peat-100 treatment than the rest of the treatments in LFH (Figure 4-4A) and peat (Figure 4-4B). The mean values ranged from 102 nmol of substrate g⁻¹ h⁻¹ (mineral soil only) to 949 nmol of substrate g⁻¹ h⁻¹ (LFH-100) in LFH and to 1919 nmol of substrate g⁻¹ h⁻¹ (peat-100) in peat. The β -glucosidase activity declined in LFH (Figure 4-4A) and increased in peat (Figure 4-4B) from day 0 to 30 of measurement. The cellobiohydrolase activity followed a similar trend to that of β -glucosidase in LFH and peat (Figure 4-4C and D). The

cellobiohydrolase activity approximately doubled from day 0 to 30 in LFH and peat (Figure 4-4C and D) with a marked increase in the mineral soil only treatment (LFH-0 or peat-0). The inconsistent trends of phenol oxidase were observed in LFH and peat to mineral soils ratio along measurement times (Figure 4-4E and F). However, the mean values over time followed an order of LFH-0 < LFH-30 \leq LFH-70 < LFH-50 < LFH-100 and peat-0 < peat-30 = peat-100 < peat-50 <peat-70. The phenol oxidase did not differ between day 0 and 30 (Figure 4-4E and F). The LAP activity consistently increased along the LFH to mineral soil ratio and over time (Figure 4-4G) with an inconsistent trend in peat to mineral soil ratio and over time (Figure 4-4G) with an inconsistent trend in peat to mineral soil ratio and over time (Figure 4-4H). The LAP activity ranged from 0.11 nmol of substrate g⁻¹ h⁻¹ (LFH-0) to 0.25 nmol of substrate g⁻¹ h⁻¹ (LFH-100) ¹ in LFH and from 0.09 nmol of substrate g⁻¹ h⁻¹ (peat-70) to 0.14 nmol of substrate g⁻¹ h⁻¹ (peat-30) nmol of substrate g⁻¹ h⁻¹ in peat.

The NAGase activity was not affected by the organic to mineral soil ratios (Table 4-3). The NAGase activity had some initial increasing trend but then dramatically declined from day 0 to 30 (Figure 4-4I and J) in LFH and peat. The differences between the beginning and end of the incubation were -91 in LFH-100, -44 in peat-100, and -16 nmol g⁻¹ substrate hr⁻¹ in mineral soil (LFH-0 and peat-0).

3.5 Available N

The available N was significantly affected by the ratio of organic to mineral soils in LFH and peat and by the measurement time in LFH only (Table 4-3). In LFH and peat, the available N increased with the order LFH-0 or peat-0 < 30 < 50 < 70 < 100 (Figure 4-5A and C). The available N significantly increased from day 0 (78.9 mg N kg⁻¹) to 30 (111.9 mg N kg⁻¹) in LFH (Figure 4-5B and D).

3.6 Relationships between soil properties and biogeochemical processes

In LFH, β -glucosidase, cellobiohydrolase, phenol oxidase and NAGase activities were positively correlated with soil pH, total C and total N and negatively correlated with the C to N ratio (Table 4-4). Several enzymes were correlated to one another; for example, β -glucosidase was positively correlated with phenol oxidase, LAP, cellobiohydrolase and NAGase activities. The CO₂ emission rate was positively correlated with β -glucosidase, phenol oxidase and NAGase activities. The available N concentration was positively correlated with β -glucosidase, phenol oxidase and cellobiohydrolase activities and negatively correlated with the C to N ratio.

In peat, all the measured soil enzyme activities were strongly correlated with soil pH, total C and total N. The β -glucosidase was positively correlated with phenol oxidase, cellobiohydrolase and LAP activities. The CO₂ emission rate was positively correlated with phenol oxidase and NAGase activities. Available N was positively correlated with glucosidase, phenol oxidase, and cellobiohydrolase activities, whereas LAP and NAGase activities were negatively correlated with the C to N ratio (Table 4-4).

4. Discussion

The findings of this study suggest that soil biogeochemical processes are closely linked to the ratio of organic to mineral soils. The key contributing factors were changes in total C, total N, C to N ratio and pH, which caused differences in CO₂ emission rate, soil enzyme activities and N availability along the ratios of organic to mineral soils. The increasing organic to mineral soils ratio likely increased the OM content which likely increased the microbial population, resulting in a faster turnover rate of OM. That might have affected the total C and total N concentrations and consequently it changed C to N ratio due to change in microbial demand of C and N (Jonasson et al., 1996; Khan et al., 2016). The wider C to N ratio in high mineral soil ratio treatments with organic substrate addition was likely due to either (a) applied organic C substrate was not utilized by microorganisms which increased the C to N ratio or (b) applied organic C substrate was less protected by mineral soil predominantly by the quartz mineral which lacks the reactive mineral surface area (approximately $0.1 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$) required for biochemical reactions (Jastrow et al., 2007; Harris, 2011, Pronk et al., 2012; Mulder et al., 2013). The presence of reactive mineral surface area typically determines the capability of protection of applied organic C to mineral (Baldock and Skjemstad, 2000). The C to N ratio increases with a decrease in the physical protection of soil particles due to presence of more intert C which is slow in decomposition (Hassink, 1992; Kaiser and Guggenberger, 2003) and increased the C to N ratio in high mineral soil ratio treatments in this study.

Earlier studies in oil sands reclamation suggest that the C to N ratio could contribute to a change in microbial processes because of a change in substrate availability in both LFH and PMM (Jamro et al., 2014; Kwak et al., 2015a). A change in organic to mineral soils ratio affected

the C to N ratio which affected the biogeochemical processes of LFH and peat. In turn, the organic to mineral soils ratio is expected to expedite the reclamation process, which needs to be tested in field condition.

The greater CO₂ emission rate, along with the increase in organic to mineral soils ratio in LFH and peat, indicated a greater amount of substrate associated with an increase in OM content (Jamro et al., 2014, Kwak et al., 2015b). This result is consistent with those of the DOC and DON concentrations, which increased with organic soils proportion in the ratios. The C to N ratio was decreased more in the presence of a high amount of organic soils in the ratio treatments, which likely enhanced decomposition of OM with increasing DOC and DON concentrations, than in the presence of high mineral soil, in which a high C to N ratio likely immobilized the DOC (Godde et al., 1996; Smith et al., 2015) and ultimately affected CO₂ emission. Alternatively, abiotic factors, such as the C to N ratio and pH changes, might shift the microbial community composition (Hogberg et al., 2007; Wan et al., 2015) along the change in the ratio of organic to minerals soils; such factors indirectly affected CO₂ emission because they strongly affect changes in microbial community composition in soils that are not inoculated with microorganisms, such as the soil in the current study (Pronk et al., 2012). In general, fungal biomass increases more with a decreasing pH and increasing C to N ratio than bacterial biomass does (Hogberg et al., 2007; Wan et al., 2015). Wei et al. (2014) showed that a shift in microbial community composition and structure increases respiration rates in artificial soils and consequently increases decomposition rate. However, concluding that changes in CO₂ emission rate along the ratio of organic to mineral soils is likely caused by a shift in microbial community composition has not been determined in this study.

Soil enzyme activities are mainly influenced by organic substrate availability and pH changes in oil sands reclamation (Jamro et al., 2014; Kwak et al., 2015a; Quideau et al., 2013). The DOC and DON provide energy to microorganisms and increase enzyme activity (Kandeler et al., 1999). Thus enhancement of the enzyme activities along the increase in ratio of organic to mineral soils was likely associated with the increase in DOC and DON concentrations and organic substrate availability (Jamro et al., 2014; Kwak et al., 2015a). However, different enzymes showed different relationships with DOC and DON, suggesting that enzymes are organic substrate specific (Burns, 1982; Allison, 2006). The amount of materials in each ratio treatment controls the distribution of organic microbial substrates (Scott et al., 1996) which may

change the structure and size of the biogeochemical interface (Quiquampoix et al., 2002), and in turn affect enzyme activities. The increase in soil enzyme activities at some time measurements in organic to mineral soils ratio (such as LFH-0, 30 and peat-0, 30) was likely associated with production of new enzymes by the microbial community because of organic substrate addition during incubation, with microorganisms being reallocated to enzyme production (Allison and Vitousek, 2005). Other ratios such as LFH-50, 70, 100 or in peat-50, 70, 100 did not stabilize/increase enzyme activity, as predicted, likely due to the increase in soil pH, as a result of the increased amount of organic soils in mixtures (Allison, 2006), because most enzyme activities function at the optimal pH (Baldrian et al., 2008).

The N availability is another important indicator of success in oil sands reclamation (Duan et al., 2015; Jamro et al., 2014; Kwak et al., 2015b; Pokharel and Chang, 2016). Our results showed that increasing the organic to mineral soils ratio increased the N availability, due to provision of more organic substrate for microbial activity which affected N mineralization and increased N availability. This is related to decrease C to N ratio along the organic to mineral soils ratio. These results are consistent with those of previous studies, in which N availability in oil sands reclamation was closely linked to the C to N ratio of materials (Jamro et al., 2014; Kwak et al., 2016). The greater N availability was also linked to greater enzyme activity, because of the greater mineralization rate (Jamro et al., 2014; Kwak et al., 2015a), as evident in the relationship results in this study.

Although this research was not focused on the effect of time on biogeochemical processes, two common responses of biogeochemical processes were observed: a priming effect and an additive effect. Priming effects are strong short-term changes in the turnover of soil OM (Kuzyakov et al., 2000). The addition of OM to the soil might cause an acceleration of mineralization (a positive priming effect) and a reduction or immobilization of the added C (negative priming effect; Kuzyakov et al., 2000) because of microbial community shift (De Nobili et al., 2001) and change in C to N ratio (Kwak et al., 2016). Our results indicated a preferential mineralization of applied C relative to the indigenous OM of the mineral soil; the mineralization resulted in an increase in CO₂ emission from day 0 to 1 in all organic to mineral soil ratios. Consequently, it might increase most extracellular enzymes and degrade inhibited organic compounds (Schimel and Schaeffer, 2012). The increase in activities of enzymes such as cellobiohydrolase, phenol oxidase and LAP, either continuously or in late stages, could be

associated with added substrates; these likely worked as a precursor of some enzymes because degradation of organic compounds requires production of extracellular enzymes (German et al., 2011). The reduction of NAGase from 0 to 30 days after the organic substrate addition is likely associated with increase in soil pH which might have decreased the fungal population and consequently decreased NAGase activity, since NAGase was related with the fungal population (Andersson et al., 2004). Alternatively, applied substrate was inadequate for a microbial community in the soil (Allison, 2006; Wei et al., 2014). A change in enzyme activities during incubation was related to soil pH. The increase in pH from day 0 to 30 would have released a weakly bound organic substrate (Mikutta et al., 2007) and consequently increased enzyme activities and N availability. This result is also clear from the observed strong relationships of soil enzymes with pH (Table 4-4) and related to the enzyme activities functionig at optimal pH (Baldrian et al., 2008). Thus, pH has a critical role in organic-mineral biogeochemical interactions in the studied soil. However, the minimal interactions between ratio and time, regardless of the type of organic soil suggest that either a one-month experiment was not long enough to establish the organo-mineral-biogeochemical association (Allison, 2006) or mineral soil mixed with organic soils had quartz mineral and mixture of organic and mineral soils lacked suitable minerals, such as clay, which could help in aggregation (Huang et al., 2005). Hence, it is needed to manipulate materials like clayey soil and good quality overburden material enhancing the aggregation of soil particles and stability of soil processes.

The differences in LFH and peat in measured biogeochemical processes were likely due to inherited characteristic differences in LFH and PMM (Jamro et al., 2014; MacKenzie and Naeth, 2010; MacKenzie and Quideau, 2012). In previous studies, LFH-MS had greater microbial biomass carbon (Kwak et al., 2015a), soil enzyme activities (Jamro et al., 2014), changed microbial community (Kwak et al., 2015a) and OM chemistry (Turcotte et al., 2009). Greater cellobiohydrolase and phenol oxidase activities in peat indicate slower decomposition of organic compounds, such as cellulose and phenolic compounds, than in LFH. Greater LAP activity in LFH than in peat suggests greater N mineralization in LFH, likely associated with a lower C to N ratio in LFH than in PMM. Thus, caution is required in considering the effects of organic to mineral soil ratio on functionality of reclaimed ecosystem; differences of inherited properties of LFH and peat need to be considered. Future expansion of mining will require more LFH for land reclamation, although LFH is limited (Naeth et al., 2013). Under these circumstances, reducing

the application ratio of LFH to mineral soils could help to overcome this issue. This study supports the claim that a 50:50 ratio of organic to mineral soils (LFH-50 or peat-50 i.e LFH: mineral soil 50:50 or peat: mineral soil 50:50) would be a better strategy in oil sands reclamation as the biogeochemistry of organic soils will not be changed.

5. Conclusions

The study demonstrated that the increasing ratio of organic to mineral soils improved soil functions and processes of organic capping materials used in oil sands reclamation. Changes in soil biogeochemical processes were closely associated with changes in C to N ratio and pH along with organic to mineral soils ratio. LFH-50 and peat-50 ratios were optimum and could increase if organic material was available at the reclamation site. Field evaluation for these kinds of effects will need to be conducted for improvement of current reclamation practices.

Treatment	LFH to	Weight of	LFH: MS	Treatment	Peat to	Weight of	Peat:
code	mineral soil	material	(g)	code	mineral soil	material	MS
	ratio	(g)	rati		ratio	(g)	(g)
	(Vol:Vol)				(Vol:Vol)		
LFH-0	0:100	110	110:0	Peat-0	0:100	110	100
LFH-30	30:70	87	17:70	Peat-30	30:70	90	8:82
LFH-50	50 : 50	80	25:55	Peat-50	50 : 50	72	10:62
LFH-70	70:30	68	33:45	Peat-70	70:30	45	13:32
LFH-100	100 : 0	50	50:0	Peat-100	100 : 0	20	20

 Table 4-1 Description of treatments used in this experiment

Treatments*	Total organi	c carbon (g kg ⁻¹)	Total organic	nitrogen (g kg ⁻¹)	Carbon to	nitrogen ratio	pH		
Treatments	0 DAT	30 DAT	0 DAT	30 DAT	0 DAT	30 DAT	0 DAT	30 DAT	
LFH									
LFH-0	1.43 (0.02)d	2.92 (0.06)d	0.06 (<0.01)c	0.08 (<0.01)d	25.3 (0.7)bc	36.8 (1.2)a	4.10 (<0.01)b	4.50 (0.11)b	
LFH-30	2.36 (0.02)d	3.05 (0.03)d	0.06 (<0.01)c	0.10 (<0.01)d	39.4 (0.3)a	30.5 (0.3)b	4.74 (0.01)ab	5.09 (0.17)ab	
LFH-50	4.39 (0.01)c	4.64 (0.01)c	0.15 (0.01)bc	0.22 (<0.01)c	29.4 (0.7)b	21.1 (<0.01)c	4.78 (0.15)a	5.17 (0.10)ab	
LFH-70	6.52 (0.16)b	6.55 (<0.01)b	0.25 (0.01)b	0.33 (<0.01)b	26.1 (0.2)bc	20.1 (0.1)c	4.90 (0.12)a	5.31 (0.03)ab	
LFH-100	11.72 (0.29)a	15.97 (<0.01)a	0.58 (0.02)a	0.87 (0.02)a	20.6 (0.9)c	18.7 (0.2)c	5.01 (0.02)a	5.51 (0.14)a	
Peat									
Peat-0	1.43 (0.02)d	2.92 (0.05)d	0.06 (<0.01)d	0.08 (0.03)c	25.3 (0.7)b	36.8 (1.3)a	4.10 (<0.01)b	4.50 (0.11)b	
Peat-30	3.33 (0.12)c	4.06 (0.02)cd	0.09 (0.02)cd	0.14 (0.02)c	37.1 (0.6)a	29.7 (0.5)b	4.56 (0.02)a	4.59 (0.04)b	
Peat-50	4.37 (<0.01)c	6.94 (0.47)bc	0.14 (<0.01)c	0.28 (0.01)b	31.2 (0.1)ab	24.7 (0.4)bc	4.56 (0.01)a	4.70 (0.04)b	
Peat-70	23.61 (0.31)b	8.97 (0.48)b	0.87 (0.06)b	0.31 (0.01)b	26.2 (1.0)ab	28.5 (0.2)bc	4.68 (0.06)a	5.16 (0.09)ab	
Peat-100	34.75 (0.01)a	27.99 (0.31)a	1.55 (0.02)a	1.23 (0.02)a	26.8 (2.1)ab	22.7 (0.1)c	4.78 (0.07)a	5.68 (0.08)a	
Repeated Mea	sures ANOVA								
LFH	F value	P value	F value	P value	F value	P value	F value	P value	
Ratio	1208.37	< 0.001	442.21	< 0.001	56.56	< 0.001	11.26	< 0.001	
Time	121.58	< 0.001	78.94	< 0.001	14.62	0.002	17.55	0.002	
Ratio*time	39.99	< 0.001	18.75	< 0.001	25.85	< 0.001	0.06	0.99	
Peat									
Ratio	1267.83	< 0.001	1393.3	< 0.001	7.27	0.001	22.85	< 0.001	
Time	116.69	< 0.001	101.24	< 0.001	0.52	0.481	34.94	< 0.001	
Ratio*time	113.37	< 0.001	98.43	< 0.001	9.94	0.002	5.2	0.060	

Table 4-2 Basic properties	of materials	used in this	experiment
----------------------------	--------------	--------------	------------

*LFH-0= LFH:MS 0:100, LFH-30= LFH:MS 30:70, LFH-50= LFH:MS 50:50, LFH-70= LFH:MS 70:30, LFH-100= LFH:MS 100:0

Peat-0= Peat:MS 0:100, Peat-30= Peat:MS 30:70, Peat-50= Peat:MS 50:50, Peat-70= Peat:MS 70:30, Peat-100= Peat:MS 100:0,

DAT: days after treatment

	LFH							Peat						
Soil process ^a	Ratio of materials		Sampling time		Ratio*sampling time		Ratio of materials		Sampling time		Ratio*sampling time			
	F value	<i>p</i> value	F value	<i>p</i> value	F value	<i>p</i> value	F value	<i>p</i> value	F value	<i>p</i> value	F value	<i>p</i> value		
CO_2	46.47	< 0.001	44.59	< 0.001	5.55	< 0.001	57.3	< 0.001	18.95	< 0.001	2.4	0.002		
DOC	2.72	0.042	3.02	0.055	1.84	0.087	7.06	< 0.001	1.04	0.083	2.03	0.506		
DON	6.71	0.003	5.70	0.004	2.06	0.054	8.54	< 0.001	8.92	< 0.001	7.19	0.051		
BGLU	217.72	< 0.001	13.30	< 0.001	12.37	< 0.001	21.23	< 0.001	20.96	< 0.001	1.87	0.040		
CBH	8.35	0.001	55.15	< 0.001	12.18	< 0.001	7.49	< 0.001	27.41	< 0.001	1.45	0.087		
LAP	27.73	< 0.001	79.58	< 0.001	4.67	< 0.001	9.51	< 0.001	35.84	< 0.001	14.25	< 0.001		
NAGase	1.12	0.062	141.85	< 0.001	16.73	< 0.001	5.05	0.041	107.11	< 0.001	5.67	< 0.001		
POX	20.03	< 0.001	3.59	0.022	1.04	0.047	81.04	< 0.001	38.59	< 0.001	8.42	< 0.001		
Avail. N	28.24	< 0.001	16.70	< 0.001	0.85	0.511	10.36	< 0.001	2.95	0.103	0.37	0.835		

Table 4-3 Analysis of variance (*F* and *P* values) of the effects of organic to mineral soils ratio on selected soil processes for oil sands reclamation and their interaction with sampling time

^a.Abreviations: LFH: litter humifed and fermented material, CO₂: carbon dioxide, NAGase : N-acetyl glucosaminidase, BGLU: β-glucosidase,

CBH: cellobiohydrolase, POX: phenoloxidase, LAP: L-leucine amino peptidase, avail. N: available nitrogen, DOC: dissolved organic carbon,

DON: dissolved organic nitrogen

Soil variable*	CO ₂	DOC	DON	BGLU	СВН	POX	LAP	NAGase	ТС	TN	C to N ratio	Avail. N
LFH												
DOC	0.11											
DON	0.22	0.65**										
BGLU	0.64**	0.11	0.39*									
CBH	-0.24	0.13	0.28	0.40*								
POX	0.40*	0.06	0.35	0.76**	0.39*							
LAP	-0.05	0.46*	0.43*	0.10	0.31	0.34*						
NAGase	0.94**	0.01	0.03	0.44*	-0.45*	0.27	-0.21					
ТС	0.31	-0.04	0.21	0.80**	0.67**	0.74**	0.09	0.13				
TN	0.21	-0.03	0.23	0.75**	0.69**	0.72**	0.05	0.04	0.98**			
C/N ratio	-0.13	-0.01	-0.27	-0.62*	-0.42*	-0.55*	0.09	0.06	-0.65	-0.7		
Avail.N	0.08	-0.08	0.25	0.64**	0.47**	0.55**	0.55*	-0.07	0.67*	0.65*	-0.57*	
pН	-0.03	0.08	0.30	0.51**	0.49**	0.46**	0.26	0.18*	0.55**	0.57**	-0.44*	0.73**
Peat												
DOC	0.14											
DON	0.16	-0.02										
BGLU	0.11	0.29										
CBH	0.21	0.44*	-0.02	0.62**								
POX	0.66**	0.13	0.37*	0.39*	0.37*							
LAP	0.07	0.32	-0.04	0.75**	0.77**	0.35*						
NAGase	0.40*	-0.11	0.29	-0.55	-0.62**	0.13	-0.67**					
TC	0.69**	0.50**	0.16	0.31*	0.29	0.63**	0.28	0.32				
TN	0.71**	0.51**	0.14	0.32*	0.30	0.60**	0.29	0.31	0.99**			
CN ratio	-0.25	-0.21	0.06	-0.47	-0.17	-0.42*	-0.30	-0.08	-0.46	-0.47		
Avail. N	0.34*	-0.02	-0.02	0.58*	0.50**	0.51**	0.09*	-0.07	0.67**	0.68**	-0.37*	
pН	0.47*	-0.11	0.73**	0.73**	0.67**	0.37*	0.71**	-0.33	0.54*	0.54*	-0.37	0.66**

Table 4-4 Pearson correlation coefficient (r-value) and significance⁺ among soil variables in LFH and peat materials used for oil sands reclamation (n=30).

^a.Abreviations: CO₂: carbon dioxide, NAGase : N-acetyl glucosaminidase, BGlu: β-glucosidase, CBH: cellobiohydrolase, POX: phenoloxidase, LAP: L-leucine amino peptidase, avail. N: available nitrogen, DOC: dissolved organic carbon, DON: dissolved organic nitrogen, TC: total carbon, TN: total nitrogen, C to N ratio: carbon to nitrogen ratio



Figure 4-1 X- ray diffraction spectrum showing the minerology of the mineral soil used in the experiment



Figure 4-2 Changes in dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and nitrogen (DON) concentrations as affected by the ratios of materials and days after treatment in LFH (A, B, E, F) and in peat (C, D, G, H) materials used in the experiment

Treatments: LFH-0= LFH:MS 0:100, LFH-30= LFH:MS 30:70, LFH-50= LFH:MS 50:50, LFH-70= LFH:MS 70:30, LFH-100= LFH:MS 100:0

Peat-0= Peat:MS 0:100, Peat-30= Peat:MS 30:70, Peat-50= Peat:MS 50:50, Peat-70= Peat:MS 70:30, Peat-100= Peat:MS 100:0



Figure 4-3 The CO₂ emission rate in LFH (A) and peat (B) affected by ratios of materials used in the experiment

Treatments: LFH-0= LFH:MS 0:100, LFH-30= LFH:MS 30:70, LFH-50= LFH:MS 50:50, LFH-70= LFH:MS 70:30, LFH-100= LFH:MS 100:0

Peat-0= Peat:MS 0:100, Peat-30= Peat:MS 30:70, Peat-50= Peat:MS 50:50, Peat-70= Peat:MS 70:30, Peat-100= Peat:MS 100:0



Figure 4-4 Changes in soil enzymes activities in LFH (A, C, E, G, I) and peat (B, D, F, H, J) as affected by organic to mineral soils ratio used in the experiment

Abbreviations: BGLU: β -glucosidase, CBH: cellobiohydrolase, POX: phenol oxidase, LAP:

leucine aminopeptidase, NAGase: N- Acetyl glucoaminidase

Treatments: LFH-0= LFH:MS 0:100, LFH-30= LFH:MS 30:70, LFH-50= LFH:MS 50:50, LFH-

70= LFH:MS 70:30, LFH-100= LFH:MS 100:0

Peat-0= Peat:MS 0:100, Peat-30= Peat:MS 30:70, Peat-50= Peat:MS 50:50, Peat-70= Peat:MS 70:30, Peat-100= Peat:MS 100:0





CHAPTER 5 FINE ROOT DYNAMICS IN LODGEPOLE PINE AND WHITE SPRUCE STANDS ALONG PRODUCTIVITY GRADIENTS IN RECLAIMED OIL SANDS SITES

1. Introduction

Fine roots as part of the tree root system play an important role in resource (e.g., water and nutrients) capture (West et al., 2004). It is widely accepted that fine root production, turnover, and decomposition make a greater contribution to available soil nutrient pools than inputs from aboveground litter to the soil (Aerts et al., 1992). Fine root length density and root surface area are key root morphological features and have an important role to play in soil resource exploitation (Gilroy and Jones, 2000; Metcalfe et al., 2008). Fine root length density can be used to estimate the ability of roots to proliferate and to sequester nutrients, whereas root surface area can be used to estimate the stand absorptive potential for resources (Eissenstat et al., 2000). Thus, enhanced fine root growth can assist in nutrient retention and scavenging and mining resource for acquisition from the soil (Hinsinger et al., 2005; Lambers et al., 2008), and it would be particularly important in reclaimed ecosystems where availabilities of resources such as water and nutrients are often limiting (Jung et al., 2014; Boldt-Burisch et al., 2015; Duan et al., 2015). Alterations in fine root growth and architectural traits may reflect the availability of soil resources (Rosenvald et al., 2011) and stand characteristics (Jung and Chang, 2013). Thus, the proliferation of fine roots within a stand may serve as a useful indicator for assessing stand productivity in reclaimed ecosystems (Gilroy and Jones, 2000).

Surface-mining activities in the Athabasca oil sands region (AOSR) have disturbed about 750 km² of land, which accounts for about 0.2% of the mixed wood boreal forest ecosystem (Government of Alberta, 2014). Oil sands companies are legally bound to reclaim the disturbed land according to the Alberta Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act (Powter et al., 2012). Current oil sands reclamation practices predominantly involve the use of peat mineral soil mix (PMM) as an organic capping material over tailings sand or overburden substrates (Rowland et al. 2009). Inherent properties of these materials, such as the slow decomposition rate of PMM, means that it releases nutrients (e.g., nitrogen) slowly due to a wide carbon to nitrogen ratio (Jamro et al., 2014; Kwak et al., 2015b). The substrates below the capping materials may have high soluble salt concentrations, poor drainage, and heavy compaction, which could limit the growth of trees (Jung et al., 2014; Duan et al., 2015) and fine roots (Strand et al., 2008).

Processes associated with fine root dynamics such as fine root production and turnover are thought to be some of the main drivers of biogeochemical nutrient cycling and overall stand productivity in terrestrial ecosystems (Yuan and Chen, 2013; Gundale et al., 2014; Tripathi et al., 2014). These processes are responsive to soil environmental changes (Jagodzinski and Kałucka, 2010; Yuan and Chen, 2013) and reclamation practices (Lazorko and Van Rees, 2012; Jung et al., 2014). However, how reclamation practices influence fine root dynamics and their relationship with stand productivity is poorly understood in oil sands reclamation. In a recent study, Jung et al. (2014) reported that tailings sand and overburden substrates differ in pore size distribution, with tailings sand having more macropores with low water- and nutrient holding capacity and the overburden material having more micropores. These differences in pore structure in the soil may influence the distribution of resources through enhanced leaching of nutrients in tailings sand and decreased drainage in overburden material that may induce an anaerobic environment and limit nutrient transformation rates and their availability (Brady and Weil, 2008), affecting fine root growth. The overburden material can be severely compacted, which could lead to increased bulk density and decreased root growth (Jung et al., 2014). Overburden material can be saline sodic, containing sodium, sulfate, and chloride ions (Lazorko and Van Rees, 2012), which can cause imbalances in water and nutrient availabilities (Munns and Tester, 2008). Soil salinity could alter the morphology of fine roots (Lazorko and Van Rees, 2012) and reduce fine root biomass (Jung et al., 2014). Therefore, the life span (Self et al., 1995), turnover rate and decomposition of fine roots may be affected (Zhang et al., 2009).

The inherent soil properties of these substrates such as high salinity, compaction, nutrient, and water limitations are of concern regarding the sustainability of current oil sands reclamation practices because these soil factors affect the productivity of trees grown on reclaimed soils (Lilles et al., 2012; Duan et al., 2015; Pinno and Hawkes, 2015). In a recent study, Duan et al. (2015) found that the differences in stand productivity in oil sands reclamation were associated with differences in soil electrical conductivity (EC) and bulk density in overburden sites and volumetric water content in tailings sand sites. Electrical conductivity and bulk density were greater in low than in medium and high productivity sites planted to white spruce (*Picea glauca* (Moench.) Voss) on an overburden substrate, while volumetric water content was greater in high and medium than in low productivity sites planted to lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta* Dougl) on a tailings sand substrate. Thus, fine root growth and their dynamics would likely be greater in high

than in medium and low productivity sites. Although a few studies on fine root distribution of boreal forest species in oil sands reclamation have been conducted (Lazorko and Van Rees, 2012; Jung et al., 2014), no one has assessed whether fine root dynamics might be related to stand productivity in oil sands reclamation.

Understanding fine root dynamics is important for improving current reclamation practices for establishing functional forest ecosystems in the oil sands (Yan et al., 2012; Jung and Chang, 2013; Jung et al., 2014). The objective of this study was to evaluate the relationship between fine root dynamics, including processes such as biomass production, turnover, decomposition, and morphological characteristics such as fine root surface area, root length density, and stand productivity in reclaimed oil sands soils. We hypothesized that fine root growth would have a positive relationship with aboveground tree growth along productivity gradients of different tree species planted in reclaimed oil sands sites. It was assumed that the differences in fine root dynamics would reflect the differences in inherited characteristics of tailings sand and overburden materials used for oil sands reclamation.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Site description and research plots

This study was conducted on an oil sands lease area reclaimed after open-pit mining, located approximately 24 km north of Fort McMurray in the AOSR. The area has a continental boreal climate where winters are long and cold and summers are short and warm. The long term mean annual temperature was 1.0 °C from 1981 to 2010 with a daily average temperature from 17.4 °C in January to 17.1 °C in July. Mean annual precipitation was 418.6 mm, which mostly falls as rain (316.3 mm) during summer (Environment Canada, 2015). The mean temperature was 16.7 °C and 17.3 °C in 2011 and 2012 during the study. The total precipitation was 87 mm in 2011 and 280 mm in 2012 (data not shown), indicating a dry year in 2011. The study sites were reclaimed with PMM as the organic capping material over the tailings sand or the overburden substrates. These sites were reclaimed at different times between 1984 and 1996. The selected sites had PMM depth ranging from 11 to 48 cm (Table 5-1). Lodgepole pine was planted on PMM over a tailings sand substrate and white spruce was planted on PMM over overburden substrate.

The main understory plant species on lodgepole pine sites were prickly rose (*Rosa* acicularis Lindl), raspberry (Rubus idaeus L.), sweet clover (Melilotus spp.), dandelion (Taraxacum officinale L.), and slender wheat grass (Agropyron trachycaulum Link Malte). The understory vegetation in white spruce stands was dominated by willow (*Salix* spp.), green alder (Alnus crispa (Ait.) Pursh), sweet clover, dandelion, and bluejoint grass (Calamagrostis canadensis (Michx) Beau.) (Jung et al., 2014). Some key site characteristics are summarized in Table 5-1. A total of 12 sites were set up with six of each species (lodgepole pine and white spruce) encompassing three productivity levels (low, medium, and high). Initially, stands representing different productivity levels were identified based on visual inspection of tree performance and productivity of each stand was confirmed by tree height (height pole) and diameter at breast height (diameter tape) measurements that were used to calculate mean annual growth over time (Duan et al., 2015). Each productivity level was replicated twice for each species (Table 5-1) due to less availability of sites. For this study, 10×10 m plots were set up randomly at each site in June 2011. Tree age, stand density, and the degree of soil penetration were different at each site (Table 5-1). Tree age was 15-20 years on lodgepole pine sites and 15-29 years on white spruce sites. The stand density was 1500-2700 and 1900-3100 stems per hectare in pine and spruce sites, respectively. Soil compaction p as measured by penetration resistance was 255-620 kpa in pine sites and 1517-2137 kpa in spruce sites (Table 5-1).

2.2 Field and laboratory methods

Soil penetration resistance was evaluated to a depth of 45 cm at three intervals (0-15, 15-30, and 30-45 cm) at five randomly selected locations in each plot using a soil penetrometer (Spectrum Technologies Inc., Aurora, IL) with a base tip of 1.27 cm diameter. Thermocouple temperature probes and CS616 time domain reflectometry (TDR) probes were installed at the depth of 10 cm below the soil surface in PMM and 10 cm below the PMM substrate interface, respectively, in each plot for the measurements of soil temperature and water content. These measurements were made hourly and datalogged. Soil was sampled at 0-20 cm using a soil auger in five randomly selected locations in each plot and mixed to form a composite sample. The composited samples were stored in plastic bags and transported to the laboratory for analyses. Soil samples were sieved (2 mm), then homogenized manually after discarding the coarse fragments and roots, and used for analyses. Soil gravimetric water content was measured after

oven drying a subsample at 105 °C for 24 h. Soil pH and EC were evaluated using a pH meter and an EC meter with a 1:2 (m:v) soil to water ratio (Kalra and Maynard, 1991). Ammonium and nitrate concentrations were analyzed using the indophenol blue method (Keeney and Nelson, 1982) and the vanadium oxidation method (Miranda et al., 2001), respectively, after extracting a subsample with 2 mol L^{-1} KCl solution (Mulvaney, 1996). Total carbon and total nitrogen concentrations were analyzed by dry combustion with a Carlo Erba NA 1500 automated elemental analyzer (Carlo Erba Instruments, Millan, Italy).

2.3 Fine root sampling and measurements

2.3.1 Fine root sampling

Both sequential and ingrowth core methods were used for root sampling (Vogt and Persson, 1991). For the sequential soil core method, five soil samples were collected from randomly selected locations in each plot each month from June to September in 2011 and 2012. The sampling period was selected to measure the differences of fine root parameters during the growing season. The soil cores were collected at 0–30 cm in each plot using a steel corer (6.6 cm inner diameter). Samples were placed in plastic bags and transported to the laboratory in cooler containing ice packs. For the ingrowth method, root ingrowth cores (30 cm long, 6.6 cm inner diameter) were constructed from plastic mesh (Quick Count plastic canvas, Uniek, Inc., Waunakee, WI) with an opening size of 1.5×1.5 mm. As most fine roots are located in the upper 30 cm (Yuan and Chen, 2010), our root measurement was conducted for that depth. Twelve ingrowth cores were randomly installed to the 30 cm depth in each plot in July 2011. Before installing the cores, soil cores to 30 cm were taken using a steel corer. After removing roots from soils manually by sieving, the root-free soils were placed back in the hole after an ingrowth core was inserted. Four ingrowth cores in each plot were retrieved in October 2011 and May and July 2012. Roots that penetrated through the ingrowth core and exposed were trimmed. The ingrowth core samples were placed in plastic bags and transported to the laboratory in a cooler containing ice packs.

2.3.2 Washing, sorting, and characterization of fine roots

Roots in sequential soil cores were separated from soils by washing them with tap water. Samples were soaked overnight, poured into trays, and rubbed gently. Roots floating on top the
water were collected by pouring water into a sieve (0.5 mm mesh) (Yuan and Chen, 2013). The procedure was repeated until only rocks and organic debris (which floated more readily than root fragments) were left in soils. Roots in the sieve were poured in a plastic container and dispersed in water for further manual separation of roots from the organic material and washed again. After scanning, three root samples from sequential cores and two from ingrowth cores were oven-dried at 70°C to constant weight and weighed. The sum of all root cores collected by sequential coring at each root sampling time in 2011 and 2012 was used for the measurement of total fine root biomass. Fine root biomass (kg ha⁻¹) was calculated according to McClaugherty et al. (1982) as dry mass of living roots (gram) $\times 10^{-3} \times 10^{8}$ /area of the core (area of the core: $\pi d^{2}/4$, d = 6.6 cm)

2.3.3 Fine root production

Fine root production was calculated for sequential and ingrowth core samples. Fine root production in ingrowth cores was estimated using fine root mass (sum of live and dead roots, as some roots died in the ingrowth cores in the incubation period and it was necessarily to combine them for true representation of fine root production) divided by the period of growth on a yearly basis (Vogt et al., 1998). In sequential cores, it was calculated by summing the root increments in sampling intervals in 2011 and 2012 (Fairley and Alexander, 1985).

2.3.4 Fine root decomposition and turnover rates

Fine root decomposition rate was determined by the mesh bag technique (Mcclaugherty et al., 1984). A mesh bag, 10×20 cm in size, was made of fiber glass mesh with mesh size of 0.3×0.3 mm. Root samples collected from the top 30 cm of surface soil from the established plots of each site in June 2011 were used after being washed, dried at 65°C for 48 h, and cut into 2-5 cm lengths. Twelve mesh bags with 0.5 g of root materials were placed with ingrowth cores, at a depth of 20 cm with a slit in the soil cut to 45° to ensure good contact of the litter bag with the soil. Four bags from each plot were retrieved in October 2011 and May and July 2012. Residual root materials were carefully removed from the bags, washed in a sieve by pouring water slowly to remove adhered soil particles after brushing the mesh bag outside (if there were soil particles adhering to the litter bag), dried, and weighed. The weight loss upon drying was measured in each sample. Data of sampled mesh bags at each sampling time were pooled to represent a plot average. Decomposition rate constant (*k*) for each sample at each sampling time was calculated

using the following exponential model based on the relationship between root mass remaining and incubation time of the mesh bag (Wieder and Lang, 1982): M_t/M_0 ¹/₄ e^{-kt} where M_0 is the initial dry mass, M_t is the dry mass remaining at time t, and k is the decay constant and is expressed in years. Mean residence time was calculated using the equation (Giardina and Ryan, 2000): MRT= ¹/₄ 1/k. Turnover rates of each sample were calculated using the formula (Yang et al., 2004): Turnover rate (year⁻¹) = annual fine root production (kg ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) / mean fine root biomass (kg ha⁻¹).

2.4 Statistical analyses

Repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to determine whether time of sampling and stand productivity affected total fine root length density, mean root surface area, total fine root biomass, and root decomposition rate in each tree species using the PROC MIXED model. Sampling time was used as a repeated measures variable. One-way ANOVA was performed to evaluate the effect of stand productivity level on fine root production and turnover rate separately for each method of root sampling. Only two replications of each productivity level were used due to limitations of site availability for each productivity gradient. Means were separated in both repeated measures and one-way ANOVAs using Tukey's honestly significant difference test. Pearson correlation analysis was performed to examine the relationship between measured root parameters and soil properties (soil compaction, pH, EC, available N, volumetric water content, and soil temperature) for each species separately. Linear regression was conducted to determine the relationship between fine root dynamics (total fine root productivity, total turnover rate, and total fine root length density) and tree size (height and DBH) for each species. An α value of 0.05 was used to indicate significant differences in all analyses. Assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variance were tested with a Shapiro-Wilk test and Bartlett test when performing the ANOVA. All data were normally distributed except fine root production and turnover rate measured by the ingrowth core method, and data were log-transformed to meet the assumption of normality and homogeneity. All statistical analyses were performed using version 9.2 of SAS (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC).

3. Results

3.1 Mean root surface area, total fine root length density, and total fine root biomass

Mean monthly root surface area (m² m⁻²) in 2011 ranged from 0.53 (June) to 2.63 (August) and in 2012 ranged from 0.68 (June) to 3.04 (July), respectively, in lodgepole pine stands. Further, mean monthly root surface area across white spruce productivity gradient ranged from 0.52 (September) and 2.02 (June) in 2011 and from 0.65 (September) to 2.34 (July) in 2012, respectively, in white spruce stands, across the productivity gradient (Table 5-2). It was not affected by productivity level in pine stands in 2011 (p = 0.27) and 2012 (p = 0.29) although, in spruce stands, it was significantly influenced by productivity level and time of sampling (Table 5-2, Appendix A). Mean surface area was consistently greater in medium and high than in low productivity sites in both 2011 and 2012. Mean surface area decreased from June to September in both medium (70%) and high (33%) productivity levels but not in the low productivity level in both 2011 and 2012 based on data in Table 5-2.

Fine root length density was significantly influenced by productivity level and sampling time) in pine stands (Table 5-2, Appendix A). It was higher in the high than in the low productivity sites in the first sampling in both 2011 and 2012. Fine root length density averaged over the 2 years varied by 2, 53, and 67% from low to high productivity level. It was not affected by productivity level in both 2011 (p = 0.60) and 2012 (p = 0.78) but was affected by time of sampling (p < 0.05) in spruce stands in both 2011 and 2012. In both pine and spruce stands, mean fine root length density decreased by approximately 50% from June to September regardless of the productivity level except for the low productivity pine stand (Table 5-2).

The mean fine root biomass was not affected by productivity level for both species (Table 5-2, Appendix A) in both 2011 and 2012, except in the July 2011 sampling in the white spruce stands. In general, in 2011, the lowest seasonal mean value (160 kg ha⁻¹) was found in the medium productivity level and the highest seasonal value (253 kg ha⁻¹) was found in the high productivity level in pine stands. In spruce stands, the lowest seasonal mean fine root biomass (125 kg ha⁻¹) was found in the low productivity level and the highest seasonal value (144 kg ha⁻¹) was found in the low productivity level and the highest seasonal value (144 kg ha⁻¹) was found in the high productivity level. Mean fine root biomass was greater in 2012 than in 2011 in all three productivity levels of both species, except in the high productivity pine sites. From 2011 to 2012, mean fine root biomass varied by 6, 15, and 1.3% in low, medium and high productivity levels, respectively, in pine stands, and 14, 29, and 19%, respectively, in spruce stands. Mean fine root biomass in pine trees was significantly different among sampling months (Table 5-2, Appendix A). The highest mean value was found in June (289 kg ha⁻¹), and the

lowest mean value was found in September (109 kg ha⁻¹) across the productivity gradient and years in lodgepole pine stands. There were no significant differences among sampling times along the productivity gradient in spruce.

3.2 Fine root decomposition

The fine root decomposition rate, quantified as the percent mass remaining, was not affected by productivity level but was affected by incubation time for both pine and spruce stands (Table 5-3). The average fine root mass remaining ranged from 36% to 87% in pine stands and from 41 to 86% in spruce stands across the incubation periods (data not shown). Percent total fine root mass loss was not altered by the productivity level in both pine (p = 0.33) and spruce (p = 0.30) stands. The k values were not different between species along the productivity gradient. Mean k values were in the order (as a pattern, p > 0.05) of low < medium < high in pine stands and low > medium > high in spruce stands, with the mean residence time followed an opposite trend to that of k values for both tree species (Table 5-4)

3.3 Total fine root production and turnover rates

Total fine root production measured using the sequential core method was 1004 to 2704 and 225 to 2676 kg ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ in pine and spruce stands, respectively, along the productivity gradients (Figure 5-1). It increased in pine stands with stand productivity (p < 0.05) when measured by the sequential coring method, while was not affected by stand productivity in spruce stands (Figure 5-1). Total fine root production was not different among the productivity levels in both pine (p = 0.45) and spruce stands (p = 0.37) when measured by the ingrowth core method. Turnover rate measured with the sequential core method increased (p < 0.05) with increasing stand productivity in pine stands (Figure 5-1), but not in spruce stands (p = 0.33). Turnover rate calculated using ingrowth cores did not change with stand productivity. Estimates of turnover rates in pine and spruce stands ranged from 0.04 to 0.32 and 0.02 to 0.16 year⁻¹, respectively, across the measurement methods and productivity levels (Figure 5-1). In general, the values were greater with the sequential coring than with the ingrowth core method.

3.4 Soil, fine root, and tree performance parameters

For pine stands, significant relationships were observed between available nitrogen and fine root decomposition rate, but not between available nitrogen and other fine root properties

such as fine root biomass, fine root surface area, fine root production, or turnover rates (Table 5-5). Fine root production and turnover rates were correlated with each other (Table 5-5). In spruce stands, most variables of fine root properties were negatively correlated with soil penetration resistance. Nitrogen availability was also negatively correlated with soil penetration resistance. Total fine root biomass was positively correlated with soil pH (Table -5)

3.5 Fine root dynamics and their relationship with tree performance

Linear regression analysis indicated that total fine root length density, fine root production, and turnover rates linearly increased with tree height and DBH in pine stands. In spruce stands, there was no significant relationship between total fine root length density, fine root production, and turnover rates and any of the tree performance parameters (Table 5-6).

4. Discussion

4.1 Fine root production and turnover rates

Increased fine root production and turnover rate with increased stand productivity in the pine stands (Figure 5-1) is consistent with Yuan and Chen (2013) and may be explained by changes in resource availability along the productivity gradient. According to the optimality theory (Espeleta and Donovan, 2002), trees growing in a nutrient and water-limited environment would be expected to maximize their nutrient uptake by increasing their fine root productivity and turnover rate. This has been demonstrated in previous studies that focused on water and nutrient limitations in reclaimed sites with tailings sand as a substrate (Naeth et al., 2011; Jung et al., 2014; Luna Wolter and Naeth, 2014). Fine root growth is typically influenced by available nutrients in forest ecosystems (Ingestad and Agren, 1991) and given the significant response for fine root biomass and turnover rate across the productivity gradient that is likely the case in our study. However, fine root growth in pine stands in our study was not significantly correlated with nitrogen availability (Table 5-5), suggesting there could be other factors such as water availability or salinity that affect fine root growth in PMM capping material over tailings sand (Duan et al., 2015). Duan et al. (2015) showed that water availability increased along the productivity gradient and subsequently improved tree performance. However, it is difficult to conclude the increase in fine root production and turnover rates along the productivity gradient in pine sites was associated with water availability as such relationships were not determined.

The negative relationship (p < 0.05) between fine root productivity and turnover rate and EC in pine sites (Table 5-5) indicates that higher EC reduced fine root productivity and turnover rate in some of the pine sites. Fine root production in spruce sites might also be affected by the EC of overburden material as indicated in a previous study on the same study site showing EC was also a problem for the growth of spruce trees planted on an overburden substrate (Duan et al., 2015). However, in this study, fine root productivity in spruce sites was not related to EC (Table 5-5). In general, the increase in EC may impose two stresses on plant growth (Fageria et al., 2010): (1) the increased EC may increase the osmotic potential in the rhizosphere, which may cause water stress and subsequently affect plant growth (Munns and Tester, 2008); and (2) toxic effects of high concentration of ions associated with high salinity may cause nutrient imbalance and affect plant growth (Grattan and Grieve, 1992), including root growth. Lilles et al. (2012) suggested that reduction in root growth on sites with high salinity at depth may affect long-term productivity of established forests. Khasa et al. (2002) found that lodgepole pine seedlings had lower survival at high salt concentrations. High EC levels can also reduce microbial activity and nitrogen mineralization (Pathak and Rao, 1998), which can lead to reduced turnover rate.

The lack of relationship between fine root productivity and turnover rate with available nitrogen may be linked to soil compaction in overburden substrate into which spruce was planted. Soil compaction can reduce microbial activity and nitrogen mineralization (Tan et al., 2005), which in turn can restrict fine root growth and overall tree performance (Kozlowski, 1999). Fine root production and turnover rates in this study are on the lower end of the reported range (Yuan and Chen, 2013). The sequential core method may underestimate fine root production rates relative to the ingrowth core method (Makkonen and Helmisaari, 1999; Yuan and Chen, 2013) and are affected by length of sampling interval and loss of roots between two sampling periods (Finer and Laine, 1998). The ingrowth core method takes a minimum of 12 months for roots to recolonize cores in temperate forests (Hendricks et al., 2006). It may take longer to recolonize cores in colder and more resource limited environments. More advanced methods such as the minirhizotron should be considered for root measurements in the future.

4.2 Fine root decomposition

Our species-specific differences in fine root decomposition could be due to differences in the degree of mycorrhizal colonization (Koide et al., 2011) as both pine and spruce are

mycorrhizal species (Comeau and Kimmins, 1989; Ostonen et al., 2011), chemical composition of roots (Chen et al., 2002) and differences in substrates used in oil sands reclamation. Pine is an early successional coniferous species and has a faster rate of colonization by mycorrhizae (Shishido et al., 1996). Mycorrhizal colonization can result in increased rate of root decomposition, as colonization of roots by mycorrhizae can stimulate nitrogen content of root tissues which may lead to frequent grazing by soil herbivores and result in faster fine root decomposition (Koide et al., 2011). Spruce is a late successional species and mycorrhizae have high persistence in its root system in oil sands reclamation (Onwuchekwa et al., 2014), which can lower fine root decomposition rates in spruce. The longer mean residence time in fine roots of spruce trees may be due to increased recalcitrance of carbon compounds (Lin et al., 2011), such as lignin, in root tissues. Spruce fine roots have lower water soluble extractives (3% on a dry weight basis), greater water-soluble phenols (1%), and lignin (0.3%) concentrations than pine fine roots (Chen et al., 2002) which might also lower the decomposition rate of spruce fine roots. Slower decomposition of spruce fine roots may be due to stabilization of soil aggregates by overburden compaction (Hertel et al., 2009).

Highly compacted overburden substrates lack aeration, results in reduced microbial activity and lower nutrient availability (Lazorko and Van Rees, 2012) and can therefore affect fine root decomposition. These results corroborate with the negative relationship between soil compaction and decomposition rate of fine roots of spruce (Table 5-5). High temperatures in the tailings sand substrate could increase fine root decomposition rate in pine stands (Naeth et al., 2011) as indicated by the positive relationships between soil temperature and fine root mass loss in this study (Table 5-5). The change in soil temperature may affect microbial activity and the decomposition of fine roots (Priha et al., 2001). Soil textural differences may also alter soil thermal conductivity and heat capacity (Hillel, 2005). Sandy materials have higher thermal conductivity and lower heat capacity than clayey materials (Hillel, 2005). In general, soils with low heat capacity (tailings sand) could have a higher temperature relative to soils with a high heat capacity (overburden). These differences in temperature could affect fine root decomposition in tailings sand. In a concurrent study, House (2015) showed that tailings sand had higher soil temperature than overburden during 2011 and 2012. Therefore, the greater decomposition rate of pine than spruce roots was most likely related to the higher temperature in tailings sand. In this study, we used the mesh bag technique which may underestimate the k value

(Chen et al., 2002) and might have not differed with productivity levels within pine and spruce stands. Large soil organisms such as soil vertebrates and invertebrates cannot enter the mesh bag (Mcclaugherty et al., 1984) and the disturbance of rhizosphere microorganisms such as bacteria, fungi, and their associations such as mycorrhizal colonization during root sample preparation while putting them in the mesh bag may also delay fine root decomposition as they need time to re-establish in the soil (Bradbury et al., 1998)

4.3 Total fine root length density and mean root surface area

The different patterns of total fine root length density and mean root surface area for the two tree species indicated varied resource exploitation abilities over the productivity levels (Table 5-2). The greater increase in total fine root length density among pine than spruce stands at the same productivity level suggests that pine roots may proliferate more quickly in reclaimed soils than spruce roots, although results are likely associated with the physical environment of substrates (water limitation) used in oil sands reclamation (Jung et al., 2014). Tailings sand is typically characterized by a lack of micropores that prevent capillary rise of water to the PMM capping layer (Li et al., 2013). The tailings sand typically has a low waterholding capacity (Khasa et al., 2005) and may cause reduction of fine root growth below the interface layer. The characteristically greater total fine root length density in pine stands may therefore confirm that lodgepole pine trees could grow in a water-stressed environment, in a reclaimed ecosystem (Jagodzinski and Kałucka, 2010) such as in a tailings sand substrate. This could be associated with the mycorrhizal colonization capacity of pine trees (Kranabetter et al., 2006), which is known as an efficient way to exploit the nutrient and water resources (Jagodzinski and Kałucka, 2010). Mycorrhizal colonization alters the root length and root architecture (Eissenstat et al., 200) and increases belowground absorptive surface area for coping with water limitations (Metcalfe et al., 2008). These changes in root architecture and production would have ecological implications for plant establishment, survival and productivity in water-limiting conditions (Auge, 2001). The differences in mean root surface area between species are likely associated with differences in soil compaction and salinity of the overburden material as shown with the negative relationships of root surface area and soil compaction in spruce. Highly compacted overburden materials do not facilitate root penetration and reduce the plant's capability to extract the large soil volume for resources such as was characteristic of the spruce stands below the

capping material (Jung et al., 2014). Under these conditions, resource limitations may be compensated by increasing root surface area (Rewald et al., 2011). However, such a compensating mechanism would be an inefficient way to increase resource availability in the zone where resources are depleted (Jagodzinski and Kałucka, 2010).

4.4 Total fine root biomass

Different patterns in total fine root biomass further show clear species-specific differences in fine root dynamics between pine and spruce in each productivity level, except the medium productivity pine sites. These results are associated with the fine root biomass being negatively correlated with the fertility of soils in boreal forests (Helmisaari et al., 2002; Yuan and Chen, 2010). Seasonal and interannual variations in fine root biomass in pine were likely associated with changes in soil water and temperature, consistent with the findings of Comeau and Kimmins (1989). In general, fine root biomass peaked in mid- to late summer and was lowest in the fall. This coincides with the reduced demand for resources in the late summer and the fall when leaf senescence will begin (Brassard et al., 2009). The greater fine root biomass in June than in the later months of the year suggests that there would be growth of fine roots in earlier months such as May, when the soil temperature starts to increase. In general, fine root growth of the woody species exponentially increases with the increasing soil temperature (Pregitzer et al., 2000; Steinaker et al., 2010).

The positive relationship between temperature and fine root biomass (Table 5-5) in this study suggests that most of the root growth occurred in the growing season (June-September) in the oil sands, as the soil temperature would be very low outside of that period to allow substantial fine root production. The increase in soil pH appeared to be strongly related to the increase of fine root biomass in both of the tree species due to their positive relationship (Table 5-5). Yuan and Chen (2010) found fine root biomass increased with increased soil pH but that it decreased with soil nutrient availability. This might be due to the inhibited microbial activity under low pH, while at higher pH, the microorganisms can compete with the fine roots for nitrogen (Brunner et al., 2002). Thus, the fine roots may proliferate with increasing nitrogen availability and subsequently the fine root biomass increased with pH. Hahn and Marschner (1998) found increased root growth with lime application was associated with improved nutrient supply and biological activity.

4.5 Contrasting relationships between lodgepole pine and white spruce

The stronger relationships of fine root properties with stand productivity in pine than in spruce are likely associated with interspecies differences in rooting habits, growth potentials, tolerance to environmental stresses, and site-specific differences in substrate materials (Jung et al., 2014; Duan et al., 2015). Lodgepole pine has a potential to thrive in extreme environmental conditions (Stuart et al., 1989) and site types (Pinno et al., 2012). Pine species are less sensitive to compaction (Bulmer and Simpson, 2005) and more tolerant to nutrient deficiencies (Bothwell et al., 2001; Jung et al., 2014), salinity (Khasa et al., 2005), and water limitation. This is likely associated with the pine having a taproot system with vertical sinkers on well-drained sites. Its roots can go deeper in the soil for extracting resources (Kranabetter et al., 2006) increasing root growth and tree productivity (Ostonen et al., 2011). Pine has a greater nutrient retranslocation efficiency and maintains adequate nitrogen status in resource-limited soils during maturity stages (Miller, 1995) than spruce; those might have contributed to increased tree growth in reclaimed oil sands soils and maintaining the relationship between aboveground and belowground pine tree performance in this study.

The lack of relationships between fine root properties and stand productivity in spruce is likely associated with its slow rate of growth (Khasa et al., 2002), shallow rooting habit (Burns and Honkala, 1990), sensitivity to salinity (Renault et al., 1998), compaction (Bothwell et al., 2001), and nutrient deficiency (Duan et al., 2015). Staples and Van Rees (2001) indicated that spruce growth could be affected at EC levels > 0.5 dS m⁻¹. The upward movement of salts through diffusion from capping materials such as a sodic overburden material, if the capping layer is thin (Kessler et al., 2010), would increase the EC level and affect root growth (Duan et al., 2015). This is consistent with previous findings that the reduction of height in spruce was linked to reduced spruce root growth in saline soils (Lilles et al., 2012). The morphology and structure of spruce roots varies with nitrogen availability (Krasowski and Owens, 1999) and soil chemical properties (Bredemeir et al., 1995). Site difference is also important in affecting tree growth and relationships between fine root properties and tree growth. The reader is cautioned that the differences between pine and spruce sites were confounded between species and site differences. Therefore, when interpreting differences between the stand types, both species and site differences need to be considered.

5. Conclusions

The contrasting relationships of fine root properties with stand productivity in pine and spruce stands demonstrate the need for species- and site-specific management in oil sands reclamation. The selection of tree species and substrate material could affect the success of oil sands reclamation. This study showed that most fine root parameters systematically changed along the productivity gradient in pine stands but not in spruce stands. The species-specific differences in fine root dynamics were likely due to differences in the properties of tailings sand and overburden substrates. Fine root dynamics were strongly linked to EC in lodgepole pine stands, but were more affected by soil compaction in white spruce stands. The negative relationships of EC and soil compaction with nitrogen availability indirectly influenced fine root dynamics of both stand types. Thus, the effects of EC and compaction on reduction in resource acquisition and their relationships to fine root dynamics of both species should be measured under similar conditions with either PMM over tailings sand or PMM over overburden, for selection of suitable substrate and tree species for sustainable ecosystem development after reclamation in the oil sands region.

				Year ^a Substrate ^b	Tree species	Productivity gradient	Amend- ment		Soil		Stand
Site	Location		Vear ^a					Total C	penetration	EC	density
no.	Location		i cai					$(g kg^{-1})$	resistance	$(dSm^{-1})^{c}$	(stem ha ⁻¹)
							Deptil (elli)		(kpa) ^c		
	Latitude	Longitude									
1	N 56°59'02"	W 111°27'04"	1996	Tailings sand	Lodgepole pine	Low	17	67	448	3.75	1500
2	N 56°58'38"	W 111°27"39"	1991	Tailings sand	Lodgepole pine	Low	14	65	620	0.90	2300
3	N 56°59'30"	W 111°27'15"	1996	Tailings sand	Lodgepole pine	Medium	14	50	517	0.60	1700
4	N 56°58'55"	W 111°29'58"	1992	Tailings sand	Lodgepole pine	Medium	30	79	483	0.63	2700
5	N 56°58'42"	W 111°27'51"	1991	Tailings sand	Lodgepole pine	High	18	62	276	0.39	2300
6	N 56°59'47"	W 111°28'14"	1991	Tailings sand	Lodgepole pine	High	24	160	255	0.54	2100
7	N 56°58'54"	W 111°31'04"	1992	Overburden	White spruce	Low	12	15	2137	4.71	2000
8	N 56°58'45"	W 111°27'24"	1991	Overburden	White spruce	Low	22	85	2137	5.04	2300
9	N 56°59'25"	W 111°27'04"	1996	Overburden	White spruce	Medium	30	51	1724	2.71	3100
10	N 56°59'09"	W 111°32'08"	1982	Overburden	White spruce	Medium	20	49	1792	1.01	2800
11	N 56°59'24"	W 111°32'09"	1991	Overburden	White spruce	High	11	45	1655	0.76	1900
12	N 56°59'51"	W 111°32'40"	1991	Overburden	White spruce	High	27	48	1517	0.80	2600

Table 5-1 Characteristics of studied reclaimed oil sands sites as determined in 2011 in the Athabasca oil sands region, Alberta, Canada

^a Year indicates the year the trees were planted after soil reconstruction

^b Substrate below the organic capping material

^c Average of three soil depths (0-15, 15-30 and 30-45 cm)

Table 5-2 Fine root paramters of lodgepole pine and white spruce stands along stand productivity gradients in oil sands reclamation at different time of samplings

Poot parameter	Stand productivity	Lodgepole pine				White spruce			
Koot parameter	Stand productivity	Jun.	Jul.	Aug.	Sept.	Jun.	Jul.	Aug.	Sept.
Root surface area $(m^2 m^{-3})$	Low	0.002A	0.003 A	0.007A	0.006A	0.003C	0.004C	0.003A	0.004A
	Medium	0.005A	0.009A	0.006A	0.005A	0.006A	0.007A	0.003 A	0.002BC
	High	0.007A	0.007A	0.005A	0.004A	0.005AB	0.006AB	0.002AB	0.003AB
Fine root length density (m m ⁻³)	Low	180B	224B	207B	184A	318A	362A	185B	172B
	Medium	403A	476AB	322AB	188A	397A	436A	189B	138B
	High	571A	620A	273AB	180A	360A	413A	165B	161B
Fine root biomass (Mg ha ⁻¹)	Low	94A	74A	47A	40A	26A	50A	40A	21A
	Medium	65A	62A	23A	16A	45A	53A	39A	24A
	High	78A	83A	68A	30A	80A	36A	33A	16A

*Means with different capital letters indicate significant differences between stand productivity levels for each root parameter in each column

Table 5-3 Percent mass of fine roots of lodgepole pine and white spruce remaining after each incubation period along stand productivity gradients in oil sands reclamation

	Lodgepole	pine	White spruce	White spruce		
Stand productivity level	Oct. 2011	May. 2012	Jul. 2012	Oct. 2011	May. 2012	Jul. 2012
Low	95 A*	76 A	46 A	86 A	67 A	39 A
Medium	80 A	42 A	32 A	94 A	76 A	51 A
High	87 A	46 A	32 A	79 A	79 A	32 A
Repeated measures ANOVA						
	<u>F value</u>	<u>p value</u>		<u>F value</u>	<u>p value</u>	
Stand productivity	5.32	0.103		0.43	0.686	
Time of incubation	222.7	< 0.001		71.46	< 0.001	
Stand productivity * time of incubation	5.04	0.060		0.41	0.799	

*Means with same capital letters indicate non- significant differences between stand productivity in each column

		-					
	Lodgepole pine			White spruce			
Stand productivity	Total fine root mass loss	k-value	Mean residence time	Total fine root mass loss	k-value	Mean residence time	
Low	54 A	0.190 A	5.52 A	61 A	0.241 A	4.68 A	
Medium	68 A	0.262 A	3.84 A	49 A	0.175 A	6.12 A	
High	68 A	0.265 A	3.84 A	68 A	0.165 A	6.11 A	
One-Way ANOVA							
<u>F value</u>	1.63	1.73	1.63	2.29	1.64	2.25	
<u><i>p</i> value</u>	0.331	0.320	0.331	0.304	0.379	0.308	

Table 5-4 Percent total fine root mass loss, decomposition rate (*k*-value in years) and mean residence time in years in of lodgepole pine and white spruce stands along a stand productivity gradient in oil sands reclamation

*Means with same capital letters indicate non- significant differences between stand productivity in each column

Variable ^a	Avail.N	Compaction	EC	pН	FRLD	FRP	RSA	FRB	TOR	
Lodgepole pine										
Available N										
Soil										
penetration	0.50*									
resistance										
EC	-0.27	0.72*								
pН	-0.16	0.07	-0.45*							
FRLD	0.26	-0.50*	0.43*	0.27						
FRP	0.07	0.11	-0.52*	0.33	-0.10					
RSA	0.08	-0.18	-0.22	0.46*	0.66**	-0.16				
FRB	0.34	0.19	-0.37	0.50*	-0.1	0.85*	-0.01			
TOR	-0.23	-0.32	-0.52*	-0.24	-0.07	0.51*	-0.30	-0.02		
FRdecomp.	-0.03	0.20	0.28	-0.02	0.19	-0.19	-0.10	-0.04	-0.30	
White spruce										
Available N										
Soil										
penetration	-0.66*									
resistance										
EC	0.75*	-0.56*								
pН	-0.77*	0.36	-0.83*							
FRLD	-0.08	-0.09	0.07	-0.05						
FRP	0.24	-0.05*	0.33	0.09	-0.07					
RSA	0.31	-0.45*	0.22	-0.22	0.73*	0.05				
FRB	0.04	-0.27	-0.15	0.52*	-0.17	0.82*	-0.02			
TOR	-0.37*	-0.54*	0.49*	-0.13	-0.02	0.97*	0.10	0.66*		
FR decomp.	-0.01	-0.14	-0.28	0.20	0.57*	-0.09	-0.41*	0.12	-0.14	

Table 5-5 Pearson correlation coefficient (r-value) and significance⁺ among soil variables in lodgepole pine and white spruce stands in oil sands reclamation (n=24)

+*Significant at the p < 0.05 level

^a Abbreviations: Available N: available nitrogen, EC: electrical conductivity, FRLD: fine root length density, FRP: fine root production, RSA: root surface area, FRB: fine root biomass, TOR: Turnover rates, FR decomp: fine root decomposition

Fine root dynamics	Lodgepole pine		White spruce	
processes ^a	Equation	R^2	Equation	\mathbb{R}^2
Fine root length density and diameter at breast height	y = 121.7x -467.7	0.88*	y = 9.0x + 297.3	0.12
Fine root length density and height	y = 231.4x - 637.7	0.97*	y = 11.2x + 298.2	0.13
Fine root production and height	y = 231.4x - 637.7	0.94*	y = 11.2x + 298.2	0.13
Fine root production and diameter at breast height	y = 121.7x - 467.7	0.76*	y = 0.11x + 0.50	0.04
Turnover rate and height	y = 231.4x - 637.7	0.98*	y = 0.01x + 0.06	0.04
Turnover rate and diameter at breast height	y = 121.7x - 467.7	0.89*	y = 0.01x + 0.01	0.15

Table 5-6 Regression equations for the relationships between fine root dynamics (y) and tree performance (x) in oil sands reclamation

^{+*}Significant at the p < 0.05 level



Figure 5-1 Fine root production in (A) lodgepole pine and (B) white spruce, and turnover rate in (C) lodgepole pine and (D) white spruce stands along a stand productivity gradient in oil sands reclamation measured by sequential and ingrowth core methods. Values are means SE (n = 24). Means across the productivity gradient within each method with the same uppercase letter are not significantly different at P < 0.05

CHAPTER 6 SYNTHESIS, CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH

1. Research Overview

This research contributed to developing effective reclamation practices for disturbed oil sands areas by contributing to understanding the soil biogeochemical processes and fine root dynamics of vegetation in LFH mineral soil mix (LFH-MS) and peat mineral soil mix (PMM) organic capping materials used in oil sands reclamation. Four studies, including two field experiments and two laboratory experiments, were conducted. Nitrogen (N) availability and associated enzyme activities affected by organic capping materials types were evaluated for two years from June to October in 2011 and 2012. The effects of organic substrate type (glucose, acetic acid and alanine) and their diversity on microbial processes in two organic capping materials were evaluated in laboratory incubations for two months. The effects of organic to mineral soil ratios on soil biogeochemical processes were evaluated in the laboratory. Fine root properties, such as fine root length density (FRLD), and the surface area, production, decomposition and turnover rates of fine roots along productivity gradients of stands of white spruce and lodgepole pine planted on PMM over tailings sand (TS) and PMM over overburden (OB), respectively, were assessed between 2011 and 2012. Sequential coring and ingrowth core methods were used to measure fine root production and turnover rates. The percent mass remaining from the decomposing fine roots and the decomposition constant (k-value) were calculated with the use of the mesh bag technique.

2. Summary

2.1 Organic capping type affected nitrogen availability and associated enzyme activities in reconstructed oil sands soils

Organic capping materials, sampling depth and time had significant interactions that affected microbial biomass carbon (MBC) and nitrogen (MBN) and enzyme activities, including those of N-acetyl glucosaminidase (NAGase), arylamidase, protease and urease. The greater MBC, MBN and enzyme activities in LFH-MS than in PMM were attributed to the narrower carbon to nitrogen (C to N) ratio in LFH-MS than in PMM. The greater microbial activity in LFH-MS relative to PMM was due to the higher degree of organic matter (OM) decomposition and increased N availability in LFH-MS. The greater MBC, MBN and enzyme activities in the 0–10 cm of soil depth than in the 10–20 cm were likely

due to variations in oxygen (O₂) concentration, nutrient status, water content and pH (Ekenler and Tabatabai, 2004; Eilers et al., 2012). However, pH was a key contributing factor in this study in that it was associated with differences in measured soil processes with soil depth. The greater enzyme activities and N availability in the fall than in the summer were likely due to the priming effect from fresh organic input in the form of litter fall and root exudates.

2.2 Organic substrate type and diversity altered microbial processes in organic capping materials used in oil sands reclamation

Principal component analysis indicated that segregation of community level physiological profiles (CLPPs) with substrates capped with LFH-MS and PMM relative to the control was likely associated with the type of organic substrate added (Orwin et al., 2006) and organic substrate composition (Hernandez and Hobbie, 2010), which altered the C to N ratio, pH and dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentration. Consequently, the microbial community composition changed. The effect of organic substrate diversity on CLPPs was more prominent in PMM than in LFH-MS likely because of the change in OM quality and microbial community composition in PMM. The change in LFH-MS in CLPPs was due to a change in DOC concentration. The significant increase in enzyme activities through organic substrate diversity was related to changes in CLPP and a reduction in C to N ratio in LFH-MS and PMM, which subsequently increased decomposition of OM and increased ammonium (NH₄⁺) and nitrate (NO₃⁻) N concentrations. This was evident in the greater expected values of enzyme activities and NH₄⁺-N and NO₃⁻N concentrations than the measured values in the presence of a mixture of two or three organic substrates.

2.3 Organic to mineral soil ratio altered the biogeochemical processes of organic capping materials

The organic to mineral soil ratio significantly altered carbon dioxide (CO₂) emission, DOC, dissolved organic nitrogen (DON), activities of β -glucosidase, cellobiohydrolase, phenol oxidase and leucine amino peptidase (LAP), and available N concentrations in LFH and peat. The differences in measured properties along the organic to mineral soil ratio were associated with changes in C to N ratio and pH. The CO₂ emission, and DOC, DON and available N concentrations increased with the amount of organic soil in LFH and peat. The differences in measured properties along the ratio were greater in LFH than in peat, and were likely associated with the lower C to N ratio and pH in LFH-MS than PMM (Jamro et al., 2014; Kwak et al., 2015a). The β -glucosidase, cellobiohydrolase, phenol oxidase and LAP

activities changed along the ratio in LFH and peat without a systematic pattern. In general, a greater enzyme activity was measured in LFH-100 (LFH to mineral soil ratio: 100:0) or peat-100 (peat to mineral soil ratio: 100:0) than in LFH-0 (LFH to mineral soil ratio: 0:100) or peat-0(peat to mineral soil ratio: 0:100)

2.4 Fine root dynamics in lodgepole pine and white spruce stands along productivity gradients in reclaimed oil sands sites

Fine root length density, production and turnover rates were greater in high productivity than in low productivity sites in lodgepole pine stands. However, the fine root surface area only increased from low to high productivity sites in white spruce stands. These fine root properties were positively correlated with tree height and diameter at breast height (DBH). Soil salinity and compaction limited fine root growth and dynamics of these factors in pine and spruce sites, respectively, as evident in the negative correlations with measured fine root properties. Sampling time significantly affected FRLD in pine and spruce stands and fine root biomass (FRB) in pine stands. A declining trend was observed in FRLD and FRB in pine, whereas FRLD only decreased in spruce from June to September regardless of the productivity level. These variations were likely due to differences in water content and soil temperature during the sampling months. The percent mass remaining of fine roots and k-values were not affected by productivity level in pine and spruce stands. These differences were caused by differences in root characteristics between tree species (Lazorko and Van Rees, 2012; Lilles et al., 2012, Khasa et al., 2005) and TS and OB substrate properties (Jung et al., 2014; Duan et al., 2015).

3. Synthesis

Current oil sands reclamation practices involve the use of PMM and LFH-MS as organic materials to cap the sub-soil and substrate materials such as TS and OB substrates. The PMM is predominantly used as a source of OM due to its high availability at the mining site. However, this material has been criticized in reclamation due to its inactive microbial community (Beasse et al., 2015), nutrient limitation (Duan et al., 2015) due to wider C to N ratio (Jamro et al., 2014; Kwak et al., 2015a) and it is considered less supportive to native vegetation (Brown and Naeth, 2014). The use of LFH-MS in oil sands reclamation is used as a source of OM and is also a rich source of native seed bank propagules (Mackenzie and Naeth, 2010). Availability of LFH-MS is limited at mining sites and its role in microbial

community establishment, soil enzyme activities and nutrient cycling at a wide scale in the oil sands region has not been evaluated (Naeth et al., 2013). The inherent properties of substrate materials such as high soluble salt concentrations, poor drainage, heavy compaction and nutrient limitation (Jung et al., 2014) due their direct and indirect effects on tree (Duan et al., 2014) and fine root growth (Jamro et al., 2015) have raised concern for sustainability of ecosystem re-establishment in the oil sands region. In view of the issues associated with reclamation materials, this study was conducted to compare PMM and LFH-MS effects on biogeochemical processes and fine root dynamics of pine and spruce planted on PMM over TS and OB substrates for improving and developing effective reclamation practices for disturbed oil sands areas.

The synthesis of research findings (Figure 6-1) showed that the organic capping materials had contrasting soil properties (chapter 2). The LFH-MS was a better soil quality material relative to PMM due to its greater N availability and associated enzyme activities. These differences were due to more decomposed OM and organic substrate availability in LFH-MS than in PMM due to its lower C to N ratio than PMM (Jamro et al., 2014; Kwak et al., 2015a). The positive and stronger relationships between N availability and enzyme activities in LFH-MS than PMM suggest that N fertilizer can be avoided or reduced if LFH-MS was applied as an organic capping material. Careful planning is required for salvaging LFH due to its limited availability (Naeth, et al., 2013). The greater N availability in the fall than in the summer in both materials with greater changes in LFH-MS than PMM were likely due to greater vegetation cover (Brown and Naeth, 2014) which likely added greater fresh labile C inputs through litterfall and root exudates in fall that provided greater organic substrate in LFH-MS than in PMM for greater enzyme activities and led to greater N mineralization (Kwak et al., 2015b).

Based on the findings of the first study, two lab incubation studies were conducted to address issues such as limited organic substrate availability and microbial activity in PMM and the limited availability of LFH-MS. In the first laboratory study, organic substrate type and diversity effects on microbial processes (chapter 3) indicated that the effect of organic substrates addition and their diversity was more pronounced in PMM than in LFH-MS due to greater change in OM quality measured as C to N ratio and microbial community composition as CLPPs. Whereas, the CLPPs changes in LFH-MS were due to change in DOC concentration. This supports the field study (chapter 2) results that the addition of organic substrate in the form of litterfall from vegetation could increase the organic substrate availability for microbial activities (Corre et al., 2002). As a result, they may enhance the OM

decomposition and increase N availability, which can eliminate the potential N limitation in PMM material and increase the forest stand productivity in oil sands reclamation (Duan et al., 2015). In the second laboratory study (chapter 4), increasing organic (LFH or peat) to MS ratio led to increased CO_2 emission rate, enzyme activities and available N. Therefore, it is clear from the findings that organic to MS ratio influences biogeochemical processes. Results showed that a 50:50 ratio of either LFH or peat to MS can provide enough available N for vegetation establishment which would help to maximize the future reclamation with available LFH material.

The understanding of fine root dynamics is also a key indicator for the evaluation of success oil sands reclamation (Lazorko and Van Rees, 2012; Jung et al., 2014) since they contribute largely in nutrient pool in soil than litterfall (Aerts et al., 1992) and changes in organic substrates availability for microbial activity in the form of root exudates (Corre et al., 2002). They play key roles in resource (water and nutrient) capture (West et al., 2004) and exploitation (Gilroy and Jones, 2000) from the resources limited environment and affect forest stand productivity in the oil sands region (Jung et al., 2014; Duan et al., 2015). Differences in fine root dynamics of pine and spruce along productivity levels were associated with inherited properties of TS and OB substrates (chapter 5). The EC and soil penetration resistance affected fine root dynamics in pine and spruce stands, respectively. The negative relationship of EC and soil penetration resistance with N availability indirectly reduced the fine root processes in both pine and spruce. Thus, substrate materials properties could affect the forest stand productivity (Jung et al., 2014; Duan et al., 2015) and oil sands reclamation process.

The LFH-MS is a better soil quality material than PMM due to N availability and enzyme activities; however, the availability of LFH is limited but optimizing the LFH-MS ratio such as 50:50 can help to take advantage of available LFH material. In addition, mixing LFH-MS with PMM can overcome the limitations of both materials, as indicated from substrate diversity and organic to mineral soil ratios in this research. An evaluation of the effects of substrate properties on fine root properties of vegetation can help to further understanding and improving the current oil reclamation practices.

4. Conclusions

The LFH-MS and PMM had contrasting soil properties and LFH-MS was a soil material with a better quality than PMM because of its greater N availability and enzyme

activities. The strong and positive relationships between N availability and enzyme activities suggest less dependency on N fertilization and less likelihood of N deficiency in sites reclaimed with LFH-MS material. They also indicate the need for careful planning of LFH-MS salvaging so that LFH could be utilized properly.

The study on organic substrate type and diversity effects on microbial processes showed that organic substrate addition in the form of organic inputs from vegetation could significantly affect soil processes in oil sands reclamation. The changes in microbial processes in organic materials by organic substrate addition suggest the need to extend this kind of research to field conditions. The greater change in CLPPs by organic substrate diversity in PMM than in LFH-MS indicate the need to augment PMM with LFH-MS as organic capping material to overcome potential limitations, such as slow low nutrient availabilities that affect forest stand productivity (Duan et al., 2015).

The results of this study showed that the organic to mineral soil ratio altered biogeochemical processes in materials used in oil sands reclamation. The changes in CO_2 emission, enzyme activities and available N were associated with changes in C to N ratio and pH along organic to mineral soil ratio. The findings of this study emphasize the importance of the ratios of materials for optimization, particularly of LFH, and require further evaluation under field conditions.

Fine root parameters, which were not changed in spruce stands, were changed along the productivity gradient in pine stands. The differences in fine root dynamics of the tree species were linked to inherit characteristics of TS and OB substrates. The electrical conductivity (EC) affected fine root dynamics in pine stands, whereas soil penetration resistance influenced those in spruce stands. The negative relationship of EC and soil compaction with N availability affected fine root dynamics indirectly in both species.

5. Future Research

5.1 Effects of C to N ratio on soil biogeochemistry

The C to N ratio is commonly used to measure OM decomposition rate and organic substrate availability (Mohanty et al., 2013). In this study, the differences in N availability and enzyme activity in LFH-MS and PMM were related to the lower C to N ratio in LFH-MS than in PMM. The differences in C to N ratio in LFH-MS and PMM were associated with the type of organic material added (Hemstock et al., 2010; Naeth et al., 2013) and the vegetation types materials grown (Forsch, 2014). The mineral and organic soil ratio altered the C to N

ratio because of a change in OM quality, which consequently affected biogeochemistry. Therefore, understanding how tdifferences of the C to N ratio alter biogeochemistry, which is required to improve current reclamation practices, is essential.

5.2 Role of mycorrhizae in changes in biogeochemistry

In field study, greater enzyme activities in LFH-MS than in PMM were associated with greater mycorrhizal biomass in LFH-MS than in PMM (Brown and Naeth, 2014). Mycorrhizal fungi produce several extracellular enzymes involved in OM decomposition (Smith and Read, 2008), thus mycorrhizae affect N availability (Burke et al., 2011). However, the interaction of mycorrhizae and N availability in oil sands reclamation is unknown. Differences in mycorrhizal biomass between LFH-MS and PMM were due to differences in tree species grown (Brown and Naeth, 2014) because trees are the hosts of mycorrhizal associations (Smith and Read, 2008). Evaluating the role of tree species in establishment of mycorrhizae and their subsequent effects on soil biogeochemistry would help improve oil sands reclamation practices.

5.3 The N fertilizer management in LFH-MS organic capping material

The positive relationships of N availability with enzyme activity in this study suggest the need to minimize N fertilizer application in developing ecosystems through LFH-MS material. At a small scale, fertilizer application is not recommended in ecosystems established by LFH-MS (Snively, 2014; Errington and Pinno, 2015). However, evaluating fertilizer application at a rigorous and large scale along with LFH-MS material would help utilize LFH material economically in oil sands reclamation.

5.4 Effects of LFH and PMM mixture on biogeochemistry

Peat mineral soil mix is commonly used as an organic capping material in oil sands reclamation because of its large availability at mining sites, but its current use in reclamation is criticized because of its slow decomposition (Hemstock et al., 2010)). Relative to LFH-MS, PMM fails to establish a microbial community similar to that in a natural forest. LFH-MS has proved to be a soil material with a better quality (Brown and Naeth, 2014; Jamro et al., 2014; Béasse et al., 2015; Kwak et al., 2015a) than PMM, but its availability in mining areas is limited. In this study, organic substrate addition altered the CLPPs and OM decomposition. An alternative approach, such as the mixing of LFH-MS and PMM, is therefore needed to overcome issues with future use of LFH-MS and PMM in reclamation. Effects of LFH-MS and PMM mixture on biogeochemistry will help develop a new reclamation practices.

5.5 Measurement of in-situ priming effects

The greater enzyme activities and N availability in the fall than in the summer in this study suggested that in-situ priming effects of litter fall and rhizo-deposits need to be evaluated. The amount of litter fall in reclaimed sites needs to be calculated for proper estimation of priming effects in oil sands reclamation

5.6 Establishment of the biogeochemical interface

The organic to mineral soil ratio plays an important role in establishing a biogeochemical interface, which may be used to assess interactions between soil components (Pronk et al., 2012) in land reclamation. The regulation of the OM decomposition, nutrient cycling, enzyme activities and the microbial community composition is mainly affected by the organo-mineral interactions (Kögel-Knabner et al., 2008). A field evaluation of the effects of the organic to mineral soil ratio on the biogeochemistry in reclaimed oil sands mined areas is thus recommended.

5.7 Role of C to N ratio and pH regulation in biogeochemical interactions

In a laboratory study, it indicated that, C to N ratio and pH altered the biogeochemistry with increasing organic to mineral soil ratio. Thus the role of role of C to N ratio and soil pH in regulation of organic-mineral-biogeochemical interaction in oil sands reclamation needs to evaluate for developing the guidelines for ecosystem models for future reclamation practices in oil sands reclamation

5.8 Inherent substrate properties and fine root dynamics

The inherent properties of OB and TS, such as a high pH, EC and soil penetration resistance, have raised serious concerns for their use in current oil sands reclamation practices (Jung et al., 2014). In this study, fine root properties were negatively affected by EC and soil penetration resistance in pine and spruce stands, respectively. Research focused on effects of EC and soil penetration resistance on fine root dynamics using the minirhizotron method will help improve the use of TS and OB materials below organic capping materials.



Figure 6-1 Flow chart of key findings of thesis research *Abbreviations: LFH-MS= LFH-mineral soil, PMM= peat mineral soil mix, OB= overburden, TS= tailings sand, OM= organic matter, N= nitrogen

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Acosta-Martinez, V., Tabatabai, M., 2000. Arylamidase activity of soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal 64, 215-221.
- Aerts, R., Bakker, C., Decaluwe, H., 1992. Root turnover as determinant of the cycling of C, N, and P in a dry heathland ecosystem. Biogeochemistry 15, 175-190.
- Alberta Environment and Water, 2012. Best management practices for conservation of reclamation materials in the mineable oil sands region of Alberta. Prepared by MacKenzie, D. for the Terrestrial Subgroup, Best Management Practices Task Group of the Reclamation Working Group of the Cumulative Environmental Management Association, Fort McMurray, Alberta, Canada

Alberta Environment, 2006. Alberta's oil sands. On line at: Alberta Government,

- Alberta Government, 2015. Alberta's oil sands: reclamation. On line at: http://www.oilsands.alberta.ca/reclamation.html#JM-OilSandsArea (verified 15.05.30).
- Allison, S.D., 2006. Soil minerals and humic acids alter enzyme stability: Implications for ecosystem processes. Biogeochemistry 81, 361-373.
- Allison, S.D., Jastrow, J.D., 2006. Activities of extracellular enzymes in physically isolated fractions of restored grassland soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 38, 3245-3256.
- Allison, S.D., LeBauer, D.S., Ofrecio, M.R., Reyes, R., Ta, A., Tran, T.M., 2009. Low levels of nitrogen addition stimulate decomposition by boreal forest fungi. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 41, 293-302.
- Allison, S.D., Vitousek, P.M., 2005. Responses of extracellular enzymes to simple and complex nutrient inputs. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 37, 937-944.
 and peat mineral soil mix cover soils: impacts on select soil and vegetation properties.
 M.Sc.Thesis. Department of Renewable Resources, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada
- Andersson, M., Kjoller, A., Struwe, S., 2004. Microbial enzyme activities in leaf litter, humus and mineral soil layers of European forests. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 36, 1527-1537.
- Archibald, H.A., 2014. Early ecosystem genesis using LFH and peat cover soils in Athabasca oil sands reclamation. M.Sc Thesis. Department of Renewable Resources, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada.
- Artz, R.R.E., 2009. Microbial community structure and carbon substrate use in Northern peatlands. In: A. Baird, A., Belyea, L., Comas, X., Reeve, A., Slater, L. (Eds.), Carbon

cycling in northern peatlands. American Geophysical Union, Washington, DC, pp. 111–129.

- Auge, R., 2001. Water relations, drought and vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. Mycorrhiza 11, 3-42.
- Baldock, J.A., Skjemstad, J.O., 2000. Role of the soil matrix and minerals in protecting natural organic materials against biological attack. Organic Geochemistry 31, 697-710.
- Baldrian, P., Trögl, J., Frouz, J., Šnajdr, J., Valášková, V., Merhautová, V., Cajthaml, T., Herinková, J., 2008. Enzyme activities and microbial biomass in topsoil layer during spontaneous succession in spoil heaps after brown coal mining. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 40, 2107-2115.
- Bardgett, R.D., Shine, A., 1999. Linkages between plant litter diversity, soil microbial biomass and ecosystem function in temperate grasslands. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 31, 317-321.
- Bauhus, J., Pare, D., Cote, L., 1998. Effects of tree species stand age and soil type on soil microbial biomass and its activity in a southern boreal forest. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 30, 1077-1089.
- Béasse, M., Quideau, S., Oh, S., 2015. Soil microbial communities identify organic amendments for use during oil sands reclamation. Ecological Engineering 75, 199-207.
- Bennett, J., Andrew, B., Prescott, C., 2002. Vertical fine root distributions of western redcedar, western hemlock, and salal in old-growth cedar-hemlock forests on northern Vancouver Island. Canadian Journal of Forest Research-Revue Canadienne De Recherche Forestiere 32, 1208-1216.
- Bentham, H., Harris, J.A., Birch, P., Short, K.C., 1992. Habitat classification and soil restoration assessment using analysis of soil microbiological and physicochemical characteristics. Journal of Applied Ecology 29, 711-718.
- Blagodatskaya, E., Kuzyakov, Y., 2008. Mechanisms of real and apparent priming effects and their dependence on soil microbial biomass and community structure: critical review. Biology and Fertility of Soils 45, 115-131.
- Blume, E., Bischoff, M., Reichert, J., Moorman, T., Konopka, A., Turco, R., 2002. Surface and subsurface microbial biomass, community structure and metabolic activity as a function of soil depth and season. Applied Soil Ecology 592, 1-11.
- Boldt-Burisch, K., Naeth, M.A., Schneider, B.U., Huettl, R.F., 2015. Linkage between root systems of three pioneer plant species and soil nitrogen during early reclamation of a mine site in Lusatia, Germany. Restoration Ecology 23, 357-365.

- Booth, M.S., Stark, J.M., Rastetter, E., 2005. Controls on nitrogen cycling in terrestrial ecosystems: A synthetic analysis of literature data. Ecological Monographs 75, 139-157.
- Bradbury, S., Danielson, R., Visser, S., 1998. Ectomycorrhizas of regenerating stands of lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*). Canadian Journal of Botany-Revue Canadienne De Botanique 76, 218-227.
- Bradford, M.A., Watts, B.W., Davies, C.A., 2010. Thermal adaptation of heterotrophic soil respiration in laboratory microcosms. Global Change Biology 16, 1576-1588.
- Bradshaw, A., 1984. Ecological principles and land reclamation practice. Landscape Planning 11, 35-48.
- Bradshaw, A., 1987. The reclamation of derelict land and the ecology of ecosystems. Restoration ecology: a synthetic approach to ecological research. Pp. 53-74.
- Brassard, B.W., Chen, H.Y.H., Bergeron, Y., 2009. Influence of environmental variability on root dynamics in northern forests. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences 28, 179-197.
- Brassard, B.W., Chen, H.Y.H., Bergeron, Y., Pare, D., 2011. Differences in fine root productivity between mixed- and single-species stands. Functional Ecology 25, 238-246.
- Bredemeier, M., Dohrenbusch, A., Murach, D., 1995. Response of soil water chemistry and fine-roots to clean rain in a spruce forest ecosystem at Solling, FRG. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 85, 1605-1611.
- Brown, R.L., Naeth, M.A., 2014. Woody debris amendment enhances reclamation after oil sands mining in Alberta, Canada. Restoration Ecology 22, 40-48.
- Brunner, I., Brodbeck, S., Walthert, L., 2002. Fine root chemistry, starch concentration, and 'vitality'of subalpine conifer forests in relation to soil pH. Forest Ecology and Management 165, 75-84.
- Bulmer, C., Simpson, D., 2005. Soil compaction and water content as factors affecting the growth of lodgepole pine seedlings on sandy clay loam soil. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 85, 667-679.
- Burke, D.J., Weintraub, M.N., Hewins, C.R., Kalisz, S., 2011. Relationship between soil enzyme activities, nutrient cycling and soil fungal communities in a northern hardwood forest. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 43, 795-803.
- Burns, R.G., 1982. Enzyme activity in soil: Location and a possible role in microbial ecology. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 14, 423-427.
- Burns, R.G., DeForest, J.L., Marxsen, J., Sinsabaugh, R.L., Stromberger, M.E., Wallenstein,

M.D., Weintraub, M.N., Zoppini, A., 2013. Soil enzymes in a changing environment: current knowledge and future directions. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 58, 216-234.

- Burns, R.M., Honkala, B. H., 1990. Silvics of North American trees. Agricultural Handbook654. Forest Service, US Department of Agriculture, Washington, DC. Pp. 227-280.
- Charlton, D.L., Hilts, S., 1989. Quantitative evaluation of fen ecosystems on the Bruce Peninsula, In: Bardecki, M.J., Patterson, N., Ontario Wetlands: Inertia or Momentum. Toronto, ON: Federation of Ontario Naturalists, Proceedings of conference, Ryerson Polytechnical Institute, Toronto, Oct 21–22, 1988. Pp. 339–354.
- Chen, H., Harmon, M., Sexton, J., Fasth, B., 2002. Fine-root decomposition and N dynamics in coniferous forests of the Pacific northwest, USA. Canadian Journal of Forest Research-Revue Canadienne De Recherche Forestiere 32, 320-331.
- Cheng, Y., Cai, Z., Zhang, J., Chang, S.X., 2011. Gross N transformations were little affected by 4 years of simulated N and S depositions in an aspen-white spruce dominated boreal forest in Alberta, Canada. Forest Ecology and Management 262, 571-578.
- Cochran, V., Elliott, L., Lewis, C., 1989. Soil microbial biomass and enzyme-activity in subarctic agricultural and forest soils. Biology and Fertility of Soils 7, 283-288.
- Coleman, D.C., Hendrix, P.F., Odum, E.P., Huang, P., Adriano, D., Logan, T., Checkai, R., 1998. Ecosystem health: An overview. Soil Chemistry and Ecosystem Health. Pp. 1-20.
- Comeau, P.G., Kimmins, J.P., 1989. Above- and below-ground biomass and production of lodgepole pine on sites with differing soil moisture regimes. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 19, 447-454.
- Cong, W., Hoffland, E., Li, L., Janssen, B.H., van der Werf, W., 2015. Intercropping affects the rate of decomposition of soil organic matter and root litter. Plant and Soil 391, 399-411.
- Corre, M., Schnabel, R., Stout, W., 2002. Spatial and seasonal variation of gross nitrogen transformations and microbial biomass in a northeastern US grassland. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 34, 445-457.
- Cotrufo, M. F., Wallenstein, M. D., Boot, C., Denef, K., Paul, E., 2013. The microbial efficiency- 15 matrix stabilization (MEMS) framework integrates plant litter decomposition with soil organic matter stabilization: do labile plant inputs form stable organic matter? Global Change Biology. 19, 988–995.
- Criquet, S., Tagger, S., Vogt, G., Le Petit, J., 2002. Endoglucanase and β-glycosidase activities in an evergreen oak litter: Annual variation and regulating factors. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 34, 1111-1120.

- Cumulative Environmental Management Association, 2006. Land capability classification system for forest ecosystems in the oil sands, 3rd ed. Fort McMurray, Alberta, Canada
- de Graaff, M., Classen, A.T., Castro, H.F., Schadt, C.W., 2010. Labile soil carbon inputs mediate the soil microbial community composition and plant residue decomposition rates. New Phytologist 188, 1055-1064.
- De Nobili, M., Contin, M., Mondini, C., Brookes, P., 2001. Soil microbial biomass is triggered into activity by trace amounts of substrate. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 33, 1163-1170.
- Degens, B.P., 1998. Decreases in microbial functional diversity do not result in corresponding changes in decomposition under different moisture conditions. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 30, 1989-2000.
- Dehlin, H., Nilsson, M., Wardle, D.A., 2006. Aboveground and belowground responses to quality and heterogeneity of organic inputs to the boreal forest. Oecologia 150, 108-118.
- Dick, R., 1994. Soil enzyme activity as an indicator of soil quality. In: Doran, J.W. et al., (Eds.), Defining soil quality for a sustainable environment, 35. Soil Science Society of America and American Society of Agronomy, Madison, WI. 1, 107-12.
- Dick, R., Rasmussen, P., Kerle, E., 1988. Influence of long-term residue management on soil enzyme-activities in relation to soil chemical-properties of a wheat-fallow system.
 Biology and Fertility of Soils 6, 159-164.Dimitriu, P.A., Prescott, C.E., Quideau, S.A., Grayston, S.J., 2010. Impact of reclamation of surface-mined boreal forest soils on microbial community composition and function. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 42, 2289-2297.
- Duan, M., House, J., Chang, S.X., 2015. Limiting factors for lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*) and white spruce (*Picea glauca*) growth differ in some reconstructed sites in the Athabasca oil sands region. Ecological Engineering 75, 323-331.
- Eilers, K.G., Debenport, S., Anderson, S., Fierer, N., 2012. Digging deeper to find unique microbial communities: The strong effect of depth on the structure of bacterial and archaeal communities in soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 50, 58-65.
- Eilers, K.G., Lauber, C.L., Knight, R., Fierer, N., 2010. Shifts in bacterial community structure associated with inputs of low molecular weight carbon compounds to soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 42, 896-903.
- Eissenstat, D., Wells, C., Yanai, R., Whitbeck, J., 2000. Building roots in a changing environment: Implications for root longevity. New Phytologist 147, 33-42.

- Ekenler, M., Tabatabai, M., 2004. Arylamidase and amidohydrolases in soils as affected by liming and tillage systems. Soil and Tillage Research 77, 157-168.
- Ellis, S., Atherton, J., 2003. Properties and development of soils on reclaimed alluvial sediments of the humber estuary, Eastern England. Catena 52, 129-147.
- EPEA (Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act). 2009. On line at: <u>http://www.qp.alberta. ca/570.cfm ?frm_isbn= 9780779745753 & search (verified 14.12.08).</u>
- Errington, R.C., Pinno, B.D., 2015. Early successional plant community dynamics on a reclaimed oil sands mine in comparison with natural boreal forest communities, Écoscience 22, 133-144.
- Espeleta, J.F., Donovan, L.A., 2002. Fine root demography and morphology in response to soil resources availability among xeric and mesic sandhill tree species. Functional Ecology 16, 113-121.
- Fageria, N.K., Baligar, V.C., Jones, C.A., 2010. Growth and mineral nutrition of field crops. CRC Press.
- Fairley, R. I., and I. J. Alexander. 1985. Methods of calculating fine root production in forests. Ecological interactions in soil: plants, microbes and animals. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, UK. Pp. 37–42.
- Farrell, M., Prendergast-Miller, M., Jones, D.L., Hill, P.W., Condron, L.M., 2014. Soil microbial organic nitrogen uptake is regulated by carbon availability. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 77, 261-267.
- Finer, L., Laine, J., 1998. Root dynamics at drained peatland sites of different fertility in southern Finland. Plant and Soil 201, 27-36.
- Fisher, R.F., Binkley, D., 2000. Ecology and Management of Forest Soils. xviii + 489 pp.
- Fissore, C., Giardina, C.P., Kolka, R.K., Trettin, C.C., King, G.M., Jurgensen, M.F., Barton, C.D., Mcdowell, S.D., 2008. Temperature and vegetation effects on soil organic carbon quality along a forested mean annual temperature gradient in North America. Global Change Biology 14, 193-205.
- Fontaine, S., Mariotti, A., Abbadie, L., 2003. The priming effect of organic matter: A question of microbial competition? Soil Biology and Biochemistry 35, 837-843.
- Fornara, D.A., Tilman, D., Hobbie, S.E., 2009. Linkages between plant functional composition, fine root processes and potential soil N mineralization rates. Journal of Ecology 97, 48-56.

Forsch, K.B.C., 2014. Oil sands reclamation using woody debris with LFH mineral soil mix

- French, D.D., 1988. Some effects of changing soil chemistry on decomposition of plant litters and cellulose on a Scottish moor. Oecologia 75, 608-618.
- Fung, M.Y.P., Macyk, T.M., 2000. Reclamation of oil sands mining areas, 2nd ed. In: Barnhisel, R.I., Darmody, R.G., Daniels, W.L. (Eds.), Reclamation of drastically disturbed lands, 41. American Society of Agronomy Monograph. Pp. 755–774.
- Gadd, G.M., 2007. Geomycology: biogeochemical transformations of rocks, minerals, metals and radionuclides by fungi, bioweathering and bioremediation. Mycological Research 111, 3–49.
- Garland, J.L., Mills, A.L., 1991. Classification and characterization of heterotrophic microbial communities on the basis of patterns of community-level sole-carbon-source utilization. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 57, 2351-2359.
- Geisseler, D., Horwath, W.R., Scow, K.M., 2011. Soil moisture and plant residue addition interact in their effect on extracellular enzyme activity. Pedobiologia 54, 71-78.
- German, D.P., Chacon, S.S., Allison, S.D., 2011. Substrate concentration and enzyme allocation can affect rates of microbial decomposition. Ecology 92, 1471-1480.
- Gianfreda L., Bollag M.J., 1996. Influence of natural and anthropogenic factors on enzyme activity in soil. In: Stotzky G., Bollag J.M. (Eds.): Soil Biochemistry, 9, Marcel Dekker, New York, 123–193.
- Gianfreda, L., Rao, M.A., Violante, A., 1992. Adsorption, activity and kinetic properties of urease on montmorillonite, aluminium hydroxide and Al (OH)_x- montmorillonite complexes. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 24, 51-58.
- Giardina, C.P., Ryan, M.G., 2000. Evidence that decomposition rates of organic carbon in mineral soil do not vary with temperature. Nature 404, 858-861.
- Giesy, J.P., Anderson, J.C., Wiseman, S.B., 2010. Alberta oil sands development. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107, 951-952.
- Gilliam, F.S., 2007. The ecological significance of the herbaceous layer in temperate forest ecosystems. Bioscience 57, 845-858.
- Gilroy, S., Jones, D., 2000. Through form to function: Root hair development and nutrient uptake. Trends in Plant Science 5, 56-60.
- Grattan, S., Grieve, C., 1992. Mineral element acquisition and growth-response of plants grown in saline environments. Agriculture Ecosystems and Environment 38, 275-300.
- Gundale, M.J., Kardol, P., Nilsson, M., Nilsson, U., Lucas, R.W., Wardle, D.A., 2014. Interactions with soil biota shift from negative to positive when a tree species is moved

outside its native range. New Phytologist 202, 415-421.

- Hahn, A.S., Quideau, S.A., 2013. Long-term effects of organic amendments on the recovery of plant and soil microbial communities following disturbance in the Canadian boreal forest. Plant and Soil 363, 331-344.
- Hahn, G., Marschner, H., 1998. Effect of acid irrigation and liming on root growth of Norway Spruce. Plant and Soil 199, 11-22.
- Haider, K., Schaffer, A., 2009. Soil biogeochemistry. Science Publishers, Enfield, New Hampshire, USA.
- Hamer, U., Marschner, B., 2005. Priming effects in different soil types induced by fructose, alanine, oxalic acid and catechol additions. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 37, 445-454.
- Hannam, K.D., Quideau, S.A., Oh, S.W., Kishchuk, B.E., Wasylishen, R.E., 2004. Forest floor composition in aspen- and spruce-dominated stands of the boreal mixedwood forest. Soil Science Society of America Journal 68, 1735-1743.
- Harris, W., 2011. Mineral distribution and weathering in the greater everglades: Implications for restoration. Critical Review in Environmental Sciences 4, 4-27.
- Hassink, J., 1992. Effects of soil texture and structure on C and N mineralization in grassland soils. Biology and Fertility of Soils 14, 126-134.
- Helmisaari, H., Makkonen, K., Kellomaki, S., Valtonen, E., Malkonen, E., 2002. Below- and above-ground biomass, production and nitrogen use in scots pine stands in Eastern Finland. Forest Ecology and Management 165, 317-326.
- Hemstock, S.S., Quideau, S.A., Chanasyk, D.S., 2010. Nitrogen availability from peat amendments used in boreal oil sands reclamation. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 90, 165-175.
- Hendricks, J.J., Hendrick, R.L., Wilson, C.A., Mitchell, R.J., Pecot, S.D., Guo, D., 2006. Assessing the patterns and controls of fine root dynamics: An empirical test and methodological review. Journal of Ecology 94, 40-57.
- Hernandez, D.L., Hobbie, S.E., 2010. The effects of substrate composition, quantity, and diversity on microbial activity. Plant and Soil 335, 397-411.
- Hertel, D., Harteveld, M.A., Leuschner, C., 2009. Conversion of a tropical forest into agroforest alters the fine root-related carbon flux to the soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 41, 481-490.
- Hinsinger, P., Gobran, G., Gregory, P., Wenzel, W., 2005. Rhizosphere geometry and heterogeneity arising from root-mediated physical and chemical processes. New Phytologist 168, 293-303.

- Högberg, M.N., Högberg, P., Myrold, D.D., 2007. Is microbial community composition in boreal forest soils determined by pH, C-to-N ratio, the trees, or all three? Oecologia 150, 590-601.
- Hooper, D.U., Vitousek, P.M., 1997. The effects of plant composition and diversity on ecosystem processes. Science 277, 1302-1305.
- House, J., 2015. Water availability and understory influence on tree growth in reclaimed forest ecosystems, Athabasca oil sands region, Alberta, Canada. M.Sc.Thesis.
 Department of Renewable Resources, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada

http://environment.alberta.ca/ (verified 09.02.09).

- Huang, P., Wang, M., Chiu, C., 2005. Soil mineral–organic matter–microbe interactions: Impacts on biogeochemical processes and biodiversity in soils. Pedobiologia 49, 609-635.
- Huang, P.M., Wang, M.K., Chiu, C.Y., 2005. Soil mineral-organic matter-microbe interactions: Impacts on biogeochemical processes and biodiversity in soils. Pedobiologia 49, 609-635.
- Huetsch, B.W., Augustin, J., Merbach, W., 2002. Plant rhizodeposition: An important source for carbon turnover in soils. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 165, 397-407.
- Ingestad, T., Agren, G., 1991. The influence of plant nutrition on biomass allocation. Ecological Applications 1, 168-174.
- Jackson, R.B., Banner, J.L., Jobbagy, E.G., Pockman, W.T., Wall, D.H., 2002. Ecosystem carbon loss with woody plant invasion of grasslands. Nature 418, 623-626.
- Jagadamma, S., Mayes, M.A., Steinweg, J.M., Schaeffer, S.M., 2014. Substrate quality alters the microbial mineralization of added substrate and soil organic carbon. Biogeosciences 11, 4665-4678.
- Jagodziński, A.M., Kałucka, I., 2010. Fine roots biomass and morphology in a chronosequence of young pinus sylvestris stands growing on a reclaimed lignite mine spoil heap. Dendrobiology 64, 19-30.
- Jamro, G.M., Chang, S.X., Naeth, M.A., 2014. Organic capping type affected nitrogen availability and associated enzyme activities in reconstructed oil sands soils in Alberta, Canada. Ecological Engineering 73, 92-101.
- Jamro, G.M., Chang, S.X., Naeth, M.A., Duan, M., House, J., 2015. Fine root dynamics in lodgepole pine and white spruce stands along productivity gradients in reclaimed oil sands sites. Ecology and Evolution 5, 4655-4670.
- Jastrow, J., Amonette, J., Bailey, V. 2007. Mechanisms controlling soil carbon turn- over and their potential application for enhancing carbon sequestration. Climatic Change 80, 5-23.
- Joergensen, R.G., 1996. The fumigation-extraction method to estimate soil microbial biomass: Calibration of the k_{EC} value. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 28, 25-31.
- Jonasson, S., Michelsen, A., Schmidt, I.K., Nielsen, E.V., Callaghan, T.V., 1996. Microbial biomass C, N and P in two arctic soils and responses to addition of NPK fertilizer and sugar: implications for plant nutrient uptake. Oecologia 106, 507-515.
- Jones, D.L., Dennis, P.G., Owen, A.G., van Hees, P.A.W., 2003. Organic acid behavior in soils misconceptions and knowledge gaps. Plant and Soil 248, 31-41.
- Jones, D.L., Kielland, K., 2012. Amino acid, peptide and protein mineralization dynamics in a taiga forest soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 55, 60-69.
- Jones, D.L., Kielland, K., Sinclair, F.L., Dahlgren, R.A., Newsham, K.K., Farrar, J.F., Murphy, D.V., 2009. Soil organic nitrogen mineralization across a global latitudinal gradient. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 23, GB1016.
- Jung, K., Chang, S.X., 2013. Soil and tree chemistry reflected the cumulative impact of acid deposition in pinus banksiana and populus tremuloides stands in the Athabasca oil sands region in Western Canada. Ecological Indicators 25, 35-44.
- Jung, K., Duan, M., House, J., Chang, S.X., 2014. Textural interfaces affected the distribution of roots, water, and nutrients in some reconstructed forest soils in the Athabasca oil sands region. Ecological Engineering 64, 240-249.
- Kaiser K., Guggenberger G., 2003. Mineral surfaces and soil organic matter. European Journal of Soil Science 54, 219–236.
- Kalra, Y. P., Maynard, D. C., 1991. Methods manual for forest soil and plant analysis.
 Information Report Northwest Region, Forestry Canada, no. NOR-X-319. Pp. viii + 116 pp.-viii + 116 pp.
- Kandeler, E., Tscherko, D., Spiegel, H., 1999. Long-term monitoring of microbial biomass, N mineralisation and enzyme activities of a chernozem under different tillage management. Biology and Fertility of Soils 28, 343-351.
- Kaur, A.J., Ross, D.S., Fredriksen, G., 2010. Effect of soil mixing on nitrification rates in soils of two deciduous forests of Vermont, USA. Plant and Soil 331, 289-298.
- Keeny, D.R., Nelson, D.W., 1982. Nitrogen-inorganic forms, In: Page, A.L., Miller, R.H.,Keeny, D.R. (Eds.), Methods of soil analysis, part 2, chemical and microbial methods.2nd ed. American Society of Agronomy, Inc., and Soil Science Society of America,

Inc., Madison Wisconsin, USA. Pp. 672–676.

- Keiluweit, M., Bougoure, J.J., Nico, P.S., Pett-Ridge, J., Weber, P.K., Kleber, K. 2015. Mineral protection of soil carbon counteracted by root exudates. Nature Climate Change 5, 588–595.
- Kemmitt, S.J., Wright, D., Goulding, K.W., Jones, D.L., 2006. pH regulation of carbon and nitrogen dynamics in two agricultural soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 38, 898-911.
- Kessler, S., Barbour, S.L., van Rees, K.C.J., Dobchuk, B.S., 2010. Salinization of soil over saline-sodic overburden from the oil sands in Alberta. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 90, 637-647.
- Khan, K.S., Mack, R., Castillo, X., Kaiser, M., Joergensen, R.G., 2016. Microbial biomass, fungal and bacterial residues, and their relationships to the soil organic matter C/N/P/S ratios. Geoderma 271, 115-123.
- Khasa, D.P., Fung, M., Logan, B., 2005. Early growth response of container-grown selected woody boreal seedlings in amended composite tailings and tailings sand. Bioresource Technology 96, 857-864.
- Khasa, D.P., Hambling, B., Kernaghan, G., Fung, M., Ngimbi, E., 2002. Genetic variability in salt tolerance of selected boreal woody seedlings. Forest Ecology and Management 165, 257-269.
- Koegel-Knabner, I., Guggenberger, G., Kleber, M., Kandeler, E., Kalbitz, K., Scheu, S.,
 Eusterhues, K., Leinweber, P., 2008. Organo-mineral associations in temperate soils:
 Integrating biology, mineralogy, and organic matter chemistry. Journal of Plant
 Nutrition and Soil Science-Zeitschrift Fur Pflanzenernahrung Und Bodenkunde 171, 61-82.
- Koide, R.T., Fernandez, C.W., Peoples, M.S., 2011. Can ectomycorrhizal colonization of pinus resinosa roots affect their decomposition? New Phytologist 191, 508-514.
- Kong, K., Lindsay, J.D. and McGill, W.B. 1980. Characterization of stored peat in the Alberta oil sands area. LS 5.2: 3-10. Research Council of Alberta, Soils Division and Department of Soil Science, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada
- Kozlowski, T.T., 1999. Soil compaction and growth of woody plants. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 14, 596-619.
- Kranabetter, J.M., Sanborn, P., Chapman, B.K., Dube, S., 2006. The contrasting response to soil disturbance between lodgepole pine and hybrid white spruce in subboreal forests. Soil Science Society of America Journal 70, 1591-1599.

- Krasowski, M., Owens, J., 1999. Tracheids in white spruce seedling's long lateral roots in response to nitrogen availability. Plant and Soil 217, 215-228.
- Kuzyakov, Y., Friedel, J., Stahr, K., 2000. Review of mechanisms and quantification of priming effects. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 32, 1485-1498.
- Kwak, J., Chang, S.X., Naeth, M.A., Schaaf, W., 2015a. Coarse woody debris increases microbial community functional diversity but not enzyme activities in reclaimed oil sands soils. PloS One 10, e0143857.
- Kwak, J., Chang, S.X., Naeth, M.A., Schaaf, W., 2015b. Coarse woody debris extract decreases nitrogen availability in two reclaimed oil sands soils in Canada. Ecological Engineering 84, 13-21.
- Kwak, J., Chang, S.X., Naeth, M.A., Schaaf, W., 2016. Coarse woody debris effects on greenhouse gas emission rates depend on cover soil type in oil sands reclamation. Applied Soil Ecology 100, 124-134.
- Kwak, J.H., 2015. Coarse woody debris effects on biogeochemistry in two reconstructed soils in the Athabasca oil sands region in Alberta, Canada. PhD Thesis. Faculty of Graduate and Research, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada.
- Ladd, J., Butler, J., 1972. Short-term assays of soil proteolytic enzyme activities using proteins and dipeptide derivatives as substrates. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 4, 19-30.
- Lambers, H., Raven, J.A., Shaver, G.R., Smith, S.E., 2008. Plant nutrient-acquisition strategies change with soil age. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 23, 95-103.
- Lazorko, H., Van Rees, K.C.J., 2012. Root distributions of planted boreal mixedwood species on reclaimed saline-sodic overburden. Water Air and Soil Pollution 223, 215-231.
- Li, H., Shao, H., Li, W., Bi, R., Ba, Z., 2012. Improving soil enzyme activities and related quality properties of reclaimed soil by applying weathered coal in opencast mining areas of the Chinese loess plateau. Clean Soil, Air, Water 40 (3), 233–238.
- Li, X., Chang, S.X., Salifu, K.F., 2014. Soil texture and layering effects on water and salt dynamics in the presence of a water table: A review. Environmental Reviews 22, 41-50.
- Lilles, E.B., Purdy, B.G., Macdonald, S.E., Chang, S.X., 2012. Growth of aspen and white spruce on naturally saline sites in Northern Alberta: Implications for development of boreal forest vegetation on reclaimed saline soils. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 92, 213-227.
- Lin, C., Yang, Y., Guo, J., Chen, G., Xie, J., 2011. Fine root decomposition of evergreen broadleaved and coniferous tree species in mid-subtropical China: Dynamics of dry

mass, nutrient and organic fractions. Plant and Soil 338, 311-327.

- Loreau, M., 2001. Microbial diversity, producer-decomposer interactions and ecosystem processes: A theoretical model. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 268, 303-309.
- Lucas, R.W., Casper, B.B., 2008. Ectomycorrhizal community and extracellular enzyme activity following simulated atmospheric N deposition. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 40, 1662-1669.
- Lynch, J.M., Whipps, J.M., 1990. Substrate flow in the rhizosphere. Plant Soil 129, 1-10.
- Macdonald, E., Quideau, S., Landhausser, S., 2012. Rebuilding boreal forest ecosystems after industrial disturbance. Restoration and reclamation of boreal ecosystems: attaining sustainable development 123-160.
- Mackenzie, D.D. 2006. Assisted natural recovery using a forest soil propagule bank in the Athabasca oil sands. M.Sc. Thesis. Faculty of Graduate and Research, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada.
- Mackenzie, D., Naeth, M., 2007. Assisted natural recovery using a forest soil propagule bank in the athabasca oil sands. Seeds Biology, Development and Ecology 374-382.
- Mackenzie, D.D., Naeth, M.A., 2010. The role of the forest soil propagule bank in assisted natural recovery after oil sands mining. Restoration Ecology 18, 418-427.
- MacKenzie, M., Quideau, S., 2010. Microbial community structure and nutrient availability in oil sands reclaimed boreal soils. Applied Soil Ecology 44, 32-41.
- MacKenzie, M.D., Quideau, S.A., 2012. Laboratory-based nitrogen mineralization and biogeochemistry of two soils used in oil sands reclamation. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 92, 131-142.
- Makkonen, K., Helmisaari, H., 1999. Assessing fine-root biomass and production in a scots pine stand - comparison of soil core and root ingrowth core methods. Plant and Soil 210, 43-50.
- Marx, M., Kandeler, E., Wood, M., Wermbter, N., Jarvis, S., 2005. Exploring the enzymatic landscape: Distribution and kinetics of hydrolytic enzymes in soil particle-size fractions. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 37, 35-48.
- McClaugherty, C.A., Aber, J.D., Melillo, J.M., 1982. The role of fine roots in the organic matter and nitrogen budgets of two forested ecosystems. Ecology 63, 1481-1490.
- McClaugherty, C.A., Aber, J.D., Melillo, J.M., 1984. Decomposition dynamics of fine roots in forested ecosystems. Oikos 42, 378-386.
- McDowell, W.H., Magill, A.H., Aitkenhead-Peterson, J.A., Aber, J.D., Merriam, J.L.,

Kaushal, S.S., 2004. Effects of chronic nitrogen amendment on dissolved organic matter and inorganic nitrogen in soil solution. Forest Ecology and Management 196, 29-41.

- McMillan, R., Quideau, S.A., MacKenzie, M.D., Biryukova, O., 2007. Nitrogen mineralization and microbial activity in oil sands reclaimed boreal forest soils. Journal of Environmental Quality 36, 1470-1478.
- Meier, C.L., Bowman, W.D., 2010. Chemical composition and diversity influence nonadditive effects of litter mixtures on soil carbon and nitrogen cycling: Implications for plant species loss. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 42, 1447-1454.
- Metcalfe, D.B., Meir, P., Aragao, L.E.O.C., da Costa, A.C.L., Braga, A.P., Goncalves,
 P.H.L., Silva, J.d.A., Jr., de Almeida, S.S., Dawson, L.A., Malhi, Y., Williams, M.,
 2008. The effects of water availability on root growth and morphology in an Amazon rainforest. Plant and Soil 311, 189-199.
- Mikutta, R., Mikutta, C., Kalbitz, K., Scheel, T., Kaiser, K., Jahn, R., 2007. Biodegradation of forest floor organic matter bound to minerals via different binding mechanisms. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 71, 2569-2590.
- Miller, H., 1995. The influence of stand development on nutrient demand, growth and allocation. Plant and Soil 168, 225-232.
- Miranda, K.M., Espey, M.G., Wink, D.A., 2001. A rapid, simple spectrophotometric method for simultaneous detection of nitrate and nitrite. Nitric Oxide-Biology and Chemistry 5, 62-71.
- Mohanty, M., Sinha, N.K., Reddy, K.S., Chaudhary, R., Rao, A.S., Dalal, R., Menzies, N., 2013. How important is the quality of organic amendments in relation to mineral N availability in soils? Agricultural Research 2, 99-110.
- Moskal, T.D., Leskiw, L., Naeth, M.A., Chanasyk, D.S., 2001. Effect of organic carbon (peat) on moisture retention of peat: mineral mixes. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 81, 205-211.
- Mulder, V., de Bruin, S., Weyermann, J., Kokaly, R.F., Schaepman, M., 2013. Characterizing regional soil mineral composition using spectroscopy and geostatistics. Remote Sensing of Environment 139, 415-429.
- Mulvaney, R.L., 1996. Nitrogen-inorganic forms. In: Sparks, D.L. (Ed.), Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 3, Chemical Methods, SSSA Book Series No 5. Soil Science Society of America Inc., Madison, Wisconsin, USA. Pp. 1129–1131.

Mummey, D.L., Stahl, P.D., Buyer, J.S., 2002a. Microbial biomarkers as an indicator of

ecosystem recovery following surface mine reclamation. Applied Soil Ecology 21, 251-259.

- Mummey, D.L., Stahl, P.D., Buyer, J.S., 2002b. Soil microbiological properties 20 years after surface mine reclamation: Spatial analysis of reclaimed and undisturbed sites. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 34, 1717-1725.
- Munns, R., Tester, M., 2008. Mechanisms of salinity tolerance. Annual Review in Plant Biology 59, 651-681.
- Muruganandam, S., Israel, D.W., Robarge, W.P., 2009. Activities of nitrogen-mineralization enzymes associated with soil aggregate size fractions of three tillage systems. Soil Science Society of America Journal 73, 751-759.
- Myrold, D., 2005. Transformations of nitrogen, In: Sylvia, D.M., Fuhrmann, J.J., Hartel,
 P.G., Zuberer, D.A. (Eds.), Principles and Applications of Soil Microbiolo-gy. 2nd ed.
 Pearson Education Inc., Upper Saddle River, New Jersey, USA. Pp. 333–372.
- Naeth, M.A., Chanasyk, D.S., Burgers, T.D., 2011. Vegetation and soil water interactions on a tailings sand storage facility in the Athabasca oil sands region of Alberta Canada.Physics and Chemistry of the Earth 36, 19-30.
- Naeth, M.A., Wilkinson, S.R., Mackenzie, D.D., Archibald, H.A., Powter, C.B., 2013.
 Potential of LFH mineral soil mixes for land reclamation in Alberta. Oil Sands
 Research and Information Network, University of Alberta, School of Energy and the
 Environment, Edmonton, AB. OSRIN Report No. TR-35. Pp. 64.
- Nilsson, T., Bjordal, C., Fallman, E., 2008. Culturing erosion bacteria: procedures for obtaining purer cultures and pure strains. International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation 61, 17-23.
- Noah, M., Lappe, M., Schneider, B., Vieth-Hillebrand, A., Wilkes, H., Kallmeyer, J., 2014. Tracing biogeochemical and microbial variability over a complete oil sand mining and recultivation process. Science of the Total Environment 499, 297-310.
- Norris, C.E., Quideau, S.A., Macey, D.E., 2013. Processing of ¹³C glucose in mineral soil from aspen, spruce and novel ecosystems in the Athabasca oil sands region. Applied Soil Ecology 71, 24-32.
- Onwuchekwa, N.E., Zwiazek, J.J., Quoreshi, A., Khasa, D.P., 2014. Growth of mycorrhizal jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*) and white spruce (*Picea glauca*) seedlings planted in oil sands reclaimed areas. Mycorrhiza 24, 431-441.
- Orwin, K.H., Wardle, D.A., Greenfield, L.G., 2006. Ecological consequences of carbon substrate identity and diversity in a laboratory study. Ecology 87, 580-593.

- Ostonen, I., Helmisaari, H., Borken, W., Tedersoo, L., Kukumaegi, M., Bahram, M., Lindroos, A., Nojd, P., Uri, V., Merila, P., Asi, E., Lohmus, K., 2011. Fine root foraging strategies in Norway spruce forests across a European climate gradient. Global Change Biology 17, 3620-3632.
- Pascual, J.A., Garcia, C., Hernandez, T., Moreno, J.L., Ros, M., 2000. Soil microbial activity as a biomarker of degradation and remediation processes. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 32, 1877-1883.
- Pathak, H., Rao, D., 1998. Carbon and nitrogen mineralization from added organic matter in saline and alkali soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 30, 695-702.
- Paul, E.A., Collins, H.P., Leavitt, S.W., 2001. Dynamics of resistant soil carbon of midwestern agricultural soils measured by naturally occurring C-14 abundance. Geoderma 104, 239-256.
- Pinno, B.D., Hawkes, V.C., 2015. Temporal trends of ecosystem development on different site types in reclaimed boreal forests. Forests 6, 2109-2124.
- Pokharel, P., Chang, S.X., 2016. Exponential fertilization promotes seedling growth by increasing nitrogen retranslocation in trembling aspen planted for oil sands reclamation. Forest Ecology and Management 372, 35-43.
- Powter, C., Chymko, N., Dinwoodie, G., Howat, D., Janz, A., Puhlmann, R., Richens, T., Watson, D., Sinton, H., Ball, K., Etmanski, A., Patterson, B., Brocke, L., Dyer, R., 2012. Regulatory history of Alberta's industrial land conservation and reclamation program. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 92, 39-51.
- Pregitzer, K., King, J., Burton, A., Brown, S., 2000. Responses of tree fine roots to temperature. New Phytologist 147, 105-115.
- Priha, O., Grayston, S., Hiukka, R., Pennanen, T., Smolander, A., 2001. Microbial community structure and characteristics of the organic matter in soils under *Pinus sylvestris*, *Picea abies* and *Betula pendula* at two forest sites. Biology and Fertility of Soils 33, 17-24.
- Pronk, G.J., Heister, K., Ding, G., Smalla, K., Kögel-Knabner, I., 2012. Development of biogeochemical interfaces in an artificial soil incubation experiment; aggregation and formation of organo-mineral associations. Geoderma 189–190, 585-594.
- Pyle, C., Brown, M.M., 1998. A rapid system of decay classification for hardwood logs of the eastern deciduous forest floor. Journal of the Torrey Botanical Society 125, 237-245.
- Quideau, S.A., Gupta, S.D., MacKenzie, M.D., Landhäusser, S.M., 2013. Microbial response to fertilization in contrasting soil materials used during oil sands reclamation. Soil

Science Society of America Journal 77, 145-154.

- Quiquampoix, H., Servagent-Noinville, S., Baron, M., 2002. Enzyme adsorption on soil mineral surfaces and consequences for the catalytic activity. Enzymes in the environment. Marcel Dekker, New York. Pp.285-306.
- Rajendhran, J., Gunasekaran, P., 2008. Strategies for accessing soil metagenome for desired applications. Biotechnology Advances 26, 576-590.
- Resat, H., Bailey, V., McCue, L.A., Konopka, A., 2012. Modeling microbial dynamics in heterogeneous environments: Growth on soil carbon sources. Microbial Ecology 63, 883-897.
- Rewald, B., Rachmilevitch, S., McCue, M.D., Ephrath, J.E., 2011. Influence of saline dripirrigation on fine root and sap-flow densities of two mature olive varieties. Environmental and Experimental Botany 72, 107-114.
- Rillig, M.C., 2004. Arbuscular mycorrhizae and terrestrial ecosystem processes. Ecology Letters 7, 740-754.
- Rosenvald, K., Kuznetsova, T., Ostonen, I., Truu, M., Truu, J., Uri, V., Lohmus, K., 2011. Rhizosphere effect and fine-root morphological adaptations in a chronosequence of silver birch stands on reclaimed oil shale post-mining areas. Ecological Engineering 37, 1027-1034.
- Rousk, J., Brookes, P.C., Baath, E., 2009. Contrasting soil pH effects on fungal and bacterial growth suggest functional redundancy in carbon mineralization. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 75, 1589-1596.
- Rowland, S.M., 2008. Recreating a functioning forest soil in reclaimed oil sands in Northern Alberta. M.Sc. Thesis. Faculty of Graduate Studies, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada.
- Rowland, S.M., Prescott, C.E., Grayston, S.J., Quideau, S.A., Bradfield, G.E., 2009. Recreating a functioning forest soil in reclaimed oil sands in northern Alberta: An approach for measuring success in ecological restoration. Journal of Environmental Quality 38, 1580-1590.
- Saleem, M., Moe, L.A., 2014. Multitrophic microbial interactions for eco- and agrobiotechnological processes: Theory and practice. Trends in Biotechnology 32, 529-537.
- Schaaf, W., Bens, O., Fischer, A., Gerke, H.H., Gerwin, W., Gruenewald, U., Hollaender,
 H.M., Koegel-Knabner, I., Mutz, M., Schloter, M., Schulin, R., Veste, M., Winter, S.,
 Huettl, R.F., 2011. Patterns and processes of initial terrestrial-ecosystem development.
 Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 174, 229-239.

- Schimel, J.P., Bennett, J., 2004. Nitrogen mineralization: Challenges of a changing paradigm. Ecology 85, 591-602.
- Schimel, J.P., Schaeffer, S.M., 2015. Microbial control over carbon cycling in soil. The causes and consequences of microbial community structure. Pp.155.
- Schnecker, J., Wild, B., Takriti, M., EloyAlves, R.J., Gentsch, N., Gittel, A., Hofer, A., Klaus, K., Knoltsch, A., Lashchinskiy, N., Mikutta, R., Richter, A., 2015. Microbial community composition shapes enzyme patterns in topsoil and subsoil horizons along a latitudinal transect in Western Siberia. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 83, 106-115.
- Schulz, S., Brankatschk, R., Duemig, A., Koegel-Knabner, I., Schloter, M., Zeyer, J., 2013. The role of microorganisms at different stages of ecosystem development for soil formation. Biogeosciences 10, 3983-3996.
- Schutter, M., Dick, R., 2001. Shifts in substrate utilization potential and structure of soil microbial communities in response to carbon substrates. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 33, 1481-1491.
- Scott, N.A., Cole, C.V., Elliot, E.T., Huffman, S.A., 1996. Soil textural control on decomposition and soil organic matter dynamics. Soil Science Society America Journal 60, 1102-1109.
- Self, G., Brown, T., Graves, J., Fitter, A., 1995. Longevity and respiration rates of roots of upland grassland species in relation to temperature and atmospheric CO₂ concentration. Journal of Experimental Botany 46, 25.
- Setala, H., McLean, M.A., 2004. Decomposition rate of organic substrates in relation to the species diversity of soil saprophytic fungi. Oecologia 139, 98-107.
- Shindo, H., Huang, P., 1985. The catalytic power of inorganic components in the abiotic synthesis of hydroquinone-derived humic polymers. Applied Clay Science 1, 71-81.
- Shishido, M., Massicotte, H., Chanway, C., 1996. Effect of plant growth promoting bacillus strains on pine and spruce seedling growth and mycorrhizal infection. Annals of Botany 77, 433-441.
- Silver, W.L., Neff, J., McGroddy, M., Veldkamp, E., Keller, M., Cosme, R., 2000. Effects of soil texture on belowground carbon and nutrient storage in a lowland Amazonian forest ecosystem. Ecosystems 3, 193-209.
- Sinsabaugh, R.L., 1994. Enzymic analysis of microbial pattern and process. Biology and Fertility of Soils 17, 69-74.
- Sinsabaugh, R.L., Antibus, R.K., Linkins, A.E., 1991. An enzymic approach to the analysis of microbial activity during plant litter decomposition. Agriculture, Ecosystems and

Environment 34, 43-54.

- Sinsabaugh, R.L., Saiya-Corka, K., Long, T., Osgood, M.P., Neher, D.A., Zak, D.R., Norby,
 R.J., 2003. Soil microbial activity in a liquidambar plantation unresponsive to CO₂driven increases in primary production. Applied Soil Ecology 24, 263-271.
- Skene, T., Skjemstad, J., Oades, J., Clarke, P., 1996. The influence of inorganic matrices on the decomposition of straw. Soil Research 34, 413-426.
- Smith, P., Cotrufo, M.F., Rumpel, C., Paustian, K., Kuikman, P.J., Elliot, J.A., McDowell, R., Griffiths, R.I., Asakawa, S., Bustamante, M., House, J.I., Sobocka, J., Harper, R., Pan, G., West, P.C., Gerber, J.S., Clark, M., Adhya, T., Scholes, R.J., Scholes, M.C., 2015. Biogeochemical cycles and biodiversity as key drivers of ecosystem services provided by soils. Soil 2, 537-586.
- Smith, S.E., Read, D.J., 2008. Mycorrhizal Symbiosis. Academic Press Inc., UK London.
- Snively, A.E.K., 2014. Competitive relationships in forest restoration: impact of cover crops and fertilization on tree and understory development. M.Sc.Thesis. Department of Renewable Resources, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada.
- Soil Classification Working Group. 1998. The Canadian system of soil classification. NRC Research Press, Ottawa, Canada.
- Soil Survey Staff. 1994. Keys to soil taxanomy, 6th ed, NRCS, Washington, DC, USA.
- Sorenson, P.T., Quideau, S.A., MacKenzie, M.D., Landhaeusser, S.M., Oh, S.W., 2011. Forest floor development and biochemical properties in reconstructed boreal forest soils. Applied Soil Ecology 49, 139-147.
- Staples, T., Van Rees, K., 2001. Wood/sludge ash effects on white spruce seedling growth. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 81, 85-92.
- Steinaker, D.F., Wilson, S.D., Peltzer, D.A., 2010. Asynchronicity in root and shoot phenology in grasses and woody plants. Global Change Biology 16, 2241-2251.
- Strand, A.E., Pritchard, S.G., McCormack, M.L., Davis, M.A., Oren, R., 2008. Irreconcilable differences: Fine-root life spans and soil carbon persistence. Science 319, 456-458.
- Stuart, J., Agee, J., Gara, R., 1989. Lodgepole pine regeneration in an old, self-perpetuating forest in south central Oregon. Canadian Journal of Forest Research-Revue Canadienne De Recherche Forestiere 19, 1096-1104.
- Stursova, M., Crenshaw, C.L., Sinsabaugh, R.L., 2006. Microbial responses to long-term N deposition in a semiarid grassland. Microbial Ecology 51, 90-98.
- Tan, X., Chang, S., Kabzems, R., 2005. Effects of soil compaction and forest floor removal on soil microbial properties and N transformations in a boreal forest long-term soil

productivity study. Forest Ecology and Management 217, 158-170.

- Totsche, K.U., Rennert, T., Gerzabek, M.H., Kögel-Knabner, I., Smalla, K., Spiteller, M., Vogel, H., 2010. Biogeochemical interfaces in soil: the interdisciplinary challenge for soil science. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 173, 88-99.
- Tripathi, N., Singh, R.S., Nathanail, C.P., 2014. Mine spoil acts as a sink of carbon dioxide in Indian dry tropical environment. Science of the Total Environment 468, 1162-1171.
- Turcotte, I., Quideau, S.A., Oh, S., 2009. Organic matter quality in reclaimed boreal forest soils following oil sands mining. Organic Geochemistry 40, 510-519.
- Turner, B.L., 2010. Variation in pH optima of hydrolytic enzyme activities in tropical rain forest soils. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 76, 6485-6493.
- Turner, S., Schippers, A., Meyer-Stüve, S., Guggenberger, G., Gentsch, N., Dohrmann, R., Condron, L.M., Eger, A., Almond, P.C., Peltzer, D.A., Richardson, S.J., Mikutta, R. 2014. Mineralogical impact on long-term patterns of soil nitrogen and phosphorus enzyme activities. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 68, 31–43.
- Ueno, H., Miyashita, K., Sawada, Y., Oba, Y., 1991. Assay of chitinase and Nacetylglucosaminidase activity in forest soils with 4-methylumbelliferyl derivatives. Zeitschrift für Pflanzenernährung und Bodenkunde 154, 171-175.
- van Hees, P.A., Jones, D.L., Finlay, R., Godbold, D.L., Lundström, U.S., 2005. The carbon we do not see—the impact of low molecular weight compounds on carbon dynamics and respiration in forest soils: A review. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 37, 1-13.
- Vance, E.D., Brookes, P.C., Jenkinson, D.S., 1987. Microbial biomass measurements in forest soils - the use of the chloroform fumigation incubation method in strongly acid soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 19, 697-702.
- Vance, E.D., Chapin, F.S., 2001. Substrate limitations to microbial activity in taiga forest floors. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 33, 173-188.
- Vogt, K. A., Persson, H., 1991. Measuring growth and development of goots. In J. P. Lassoie and T. M. Hinckley, eds. Techniques and approaches in forest tree ecophysiology. CRC, Boca Raton, FL.
- Waldrop, M.P., Firestone, M.K., 2004. Microbial community utilization of recalcitrant and simple carbon compounds: Impact of oak-woodland plant communities. Oecologia 138, 275-284.
- Waldrop, M.P., Firestone, M.K., 2006. Response of microbial community composition and function to soil climate change. Microbial Ecology 52, 716-724.

- Wan, X., Huang, Z., He, Z., Yu, Z., Wang, M., Davis, M.R., Yang, Y., 2015. Soil C:N ratio is the major determinant of soil microbial community structure in subtropical coniferous and broadleaf forest plantations. Plant and Soil 387, 103-116.
- Watanabe, N., Schwartz, E., Scow, K. E., Young T. M., 2005. Relating desorption and biodegradation of phenanthrene to SOM structure characterized by quantitative pyrolysis GC-MS. Environmental Science and Technology 39, 6170–6181.
- Wei, X., Shao, M., Gale, W., Li, L., 2014. Global pattern of soil carbon losses due to the conversion of forests to agricultural land. Scientific Reports 4, 1-5
- Werdin-Pfisterer, N.R., Kielland, K., Boone, R.D., 2012. Buried organic horizons represent amino acid reservoirs in boreal forest soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 55, 122-131.
- West, J., Espeleta, J., Donovan, L., 2004. Fine root production and turnover across a complex edaphic gradient of a *Pinus palustris-Aristida stricta* savanna ecosystem. Forest Ecology and Management 189, 397-406.
- Wieder, R., Lang, G., 1982. A critique of the analytical methods used in examining decomposition data obtained from litter bags. Ecology 63, 1636-1642.
- Wild, B., Schnecker, J., Alves, R.J.E., Barsukov, P., Bárta, J., Čapek, P., Gentsch, N., Gittel, A., Guggenberger, G., Lashchinskiy, N., Mikutta, R., Rusalimova, O., Šantrůčková, H., Shibistova, O., Urich, T., Watzka, M., Zrazhevskaya, G., Richter, A., 2014. Input of easily available organic C and N stimulates microbial decomposition of soil organic matter in arctic permafrost soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 75, 143-151.
- Will, C., Thurmer, A., Wollherr, A., Nacke, H., Herold, N., Schrumpf, M., Gutknecht, J., Wubet, T., Buscot, F., Daniel, R., 2010. Horizon-specific bacterial community composition of german grassland soils, as revealed by pyrosequencing-based analysis of 16S rRNA genes. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 76, 6751-6759.
- Wolter, G.L.L., Naeth, M.A., 2014. Dry mature fine tailings as oil sands reclamation substrates for three native grasses. Journal of Environmental Quality 43, 1510-1516.
- Wu, J., Brookes, P.C., Jenkinson, D.S., 1993. Formation and destruction of microbial biomass during the decomposition of glucose and ryegrass in soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 25, 1435-1441.
- Yan, E., Hu, Y., Salifu, F., Tan, X., Chen, Z.C., Chang, S.X., 2012. Effectiveness of soil N availability indices in predicting site productivity in the oil sands region of Alberta. Plant and Soil 359, 215-231.
- Yang, Y., Chen, G., Guo, H., Lin, P., 2004. Decomposition dynamic of fine roots in a mixed forest of cunninghamia lanceolata and tsoongiodendron odorum in mid-subtropics.

Annals of Forest Science 61, 65-72.

- Yuan, Z.Y., Chen, H.Y.H., 2010. Fine root biomass, production, turnover rates, and nutrient contents in boreal forest ecosystems in relation to species, climate, fertility, and stand age: Literature review and meta-analyses. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences 29, 204-221.
- Yuan, Z.Y., Chen, H.Y.H., 2013. Effects of disturbance on fine root dynamics in the boreal forests of northern Ontario, Canada. Ecosystems 16, 467-477.
- Zahraei, S., 2015. Microbial community development and function at a newly reclaimed oil sands site. M.Sc Thesis. Department of Renewable Resources, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada.
- Zak, D.R., Holmes, W.E., White, D.C., Peacock, A.D., Tilman, D., 2003. Plant diversity, soil microbial communities, and ecosystem function: Are there any links? Ecology 84, 2042-2050.
- Zeng, D., Mao, R., Chang, S.X., Li, L., Yang, D., 2010. Carbon mineralization of tree leaf litter and crop residues from poplar-based agroforestry systems in northeast China: A laboratory study. Applied Soil Ecology 44, 133-137.
- Zhang, C., Liu, W., Wang, J., Chen, T., Yuan, Q., Huang, C., Ge, Y., Chang, S.X., Chang, J., 2011. Plant functional group richness-affected microbial community structure and function in a full-scale constructed wetland. Ecological Engineering 37, 1360-1368.
- Zhang, Z. S., Li, X. R., Liu, L.C., Jia, R. L., Zhang, J. G., Wang, T., 2009. Distribution, biomass, and dynamics of roots in a revegetated sand of Caragana korshinskii in the Tengger Desert, northwestern China. Journal of Plant Research 122, 109–119.

Appendix A Repeated Measures ANOVA of fine root paramters of lodgepole pine and white spruce stands along stand productivity gradients in oil sands reclamation

Stand productivity level			Sampling month		Stand productivity levelx		
Root							
parameter ^a	F value	<i>p</i> value	F value	<i>p</i> value	F value	<i>p</i> value	
Lodgepole pine							
Root surface area	1.46	0.274	0.73	0.556	2.06	0.142	
Fine root length							
density	9.34	0.004	7.87	0.004	2.25	0.116	
Fine root biomass	1.78	0.214	4.37	0.030	0.24	0.540	
Root surface area	5.86	0.019	29.01	< 0.001	8.09	0.002	
Fine root length							
density	0.52	0.607	27.29	< 0.001	0.540	0.772	
Fine root biomass	0.21	0.813	1.90	0.188	0.91	0.521	